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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q

þ Quarterly report pursuant to section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the fiscal quarter ended April 3, 2005, or

o Transition report pursuant section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the transition period from                      to                     

Commission file number 0-49651

SUNTRON CORPORATION

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware 86-1038668

(State of Incorporation) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

2401 West Grandview Road, Phoenix, Arizona 85023

(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

(602) 789-6600

(Registrant�s telephone number, including area code)

Not Applicable

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

     Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes þ No o

     Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2). Yes o No
þ

     As of April 30, 2005, there were outstanding 27,415,221 shares of the registrant�s Common Stock, $0.01 par value.
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SUNTRON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2004 and April 3, 2005

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

2004 2005
ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and equivalents $ 14 $ 23
Trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,411 and $893,
respectively 50,435 46,929
Inventories 79,202 69,082
Equipment held for sale, net of accumulated depreciation of $5,413 � 1,613
Prepaid expenses and other 1,122 832

Total Current Assets 130,773 118,479

Property, Plant and Equipment, at cost:
Land, including land held for sale of $2,398 4,748 4,748
Leasehold improvements 6,958 7,063
Buildings and improvements 18,456 18,472
Manufacturing machinery and equipment 55,989 48,324
Furniture, computer equipment and software 34,094 34,187

Total 120,245 112,794
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (84,857) (80,613)

Net Property, Plant and Equipment 35,388 32,181

Intangible and Other Assets:
Goodwill 10,915 10,918
Debt issuance costs, net 1,932 1,904
Identifiable intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $1,780 and $1,175,
respectively 875 825
Deposits and other 226 212

Total Intangible and Other Assets 13,948 13,859

$ 180,109 $ 164,519

The Accompanying Notes Are an Integral Part of These Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SUNTRON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS, Continued

December 31, 2004 and April 3, 2005
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

2004 2005
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 35,757 $ 30,179
Outstanding checks in excess of cash balances 4,294 3,700
Borrowings under revolving credit agreement 59,128 54,861
Accrued compensation and benefits 6,667 8,395
Payable for acquisition of business 1,408 28
Accrued property taxes 1,202 432
Customer deposits and deferred profit 878 2,978
Current portion of accrued exit costs related to facility closures 537 396
Accrued interest expense 775 777
Payable to affiliates 218 221
Other accrued liabilities 2,756 2,314

Total Current Liabilities 113,620 104,281

Long-term Liabilities:
Accrued exit costs related to facility closures 130 156
Other 545 395

Total Liabilities 114,295 104,832

Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 5 and 7)

Stockholders� Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 10,000 shares, none issued
Common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 50,000 shares; issued and outstanding
27,415 shares 274 274
Additional paid-in capital 380,637 380,637
Deferred stock compensation (265) (203)
Accumulated deficit (314,832) (321,021)

Total Stockholders� Equity 65,814 59,687

$ 180,109 $ 164,519
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The Accompanying Notes Are an Integral Part of These Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SUNTRON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For The Quarters Ended March 28, 2004 And April 3, 2005

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

2004 2005
Net Sales $ 100,671 $ 82,736
Cost of Goods Sold 97,698 82,264

Gross profit 2,973 472

Operating Costs and Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses 5,609 5,618
Severance, retention, and lease exit costs 632 26
Related party expenses- management fees 188 188

Total operating costs and expenses 6,429 5,832

Operating loss (3,456) (5,360)
Other Income (Expense):
Interest expense (849) (1,090)
Gain (loss) on sale of assets (9) 241
Unrealized loss on marketable equity securities � (144)
Interest and other income 35 164

Net loss $ (4,279) $ (6,189)

Loss Per Share (Basic and Diluted): $ (0.16) $ (0.23)

Number of Shares Used for Computation:
Basic and Diluted 27,410 27,415

The Accompanying Notes Are an Integral Part of These Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SUNTRON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For The Quarters Ended March 28, 2004 And April 3, 2005

(In Thousands)

2004 2005
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net loss $ (4,279) $ (6,189)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 3,808 2,116
Amortization of debt issuance costs 238 209
Change in accrued severance, retention and lease exit costs 41 (199)
Loss (gain) on sale of assets 9 (241)
Stock-based compensation and services expense 85 62
Unrealized loss on marketable equity securities � 144
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of purchase of businesses:
Decrease (increase) in:
Trade receivables, net (16,159) 3,506
Inventories (14,595) 10,120
Prepaid expenses and other 1,714 160
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable 17,890 (5,320)
Accrued compensation and benefits (1,666) 1,812
Other accrued liabilities (413) (761)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (13,327) 5,419

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Proceeds from sale of assets 12 1,891
Payments for acquisition of businesses (2,456) (1,383)
Capital expenditures (404) (852)

Net cash used by investing activities (2,848) (344)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from borrowings under revolving credit agreement 94,148 87,484
Principal payments under debt agreements (81,424) (91,884)
Payments for debt issuance costs (183) (72)
Increase (decrease) in outstanding checks in excess of cash balances 3,628 (594)

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities 16,169 (5,066)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents (6) 9
Cash and Equivalents:
Beginning of period 26 14

End of period $ 20 $ 23
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Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for interest $ 534 $ 879

Cash paid for income taxes $ � $ �

The Accompanying Notes Are an Integral Part of These Consolidated Financial Statements .
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SUNTRON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

1. Basis of Presentation

     The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U. S.
generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information and in conformity with the instructions to
Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes
required by U. S. generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation
have been included. Operating results for the fiscal quarter ended April 3, 2005 are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2005. The unaudited consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in Suntron�s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.

2. Loss Per Share

     Basic loss per share excludes dilution for potential common shares and is computed by dividing net loss by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted loss per share reflects the potential
dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into
common stock. Basic and diluted loss per share are the same for the quarters ended March 28, 2004 and April 3, 2005,
as all potential common shares were antidilutive. For the quarter ended March 28, 2004, common stock options that
were excluded from the calculation of loss per share amounted to an aggregate of 2,107 shares at exercise prices
ranging from $0.01 to $57.24 per share. For the quarter ended April 3, 2005, common stock options that were
excluded from the calculation of earnings per share amounted to an aggregate of 2,008 shares at exercise prices
ranging from $0.01 to $57.24 per share.

3. Stock-Based Compensation

     The Company accounts for stock-based compensation issued to employees using the intrinsic value method.
Accordingly, compensation cost for stock options granted to employees is measured as the excess, if any, of the
quoted market price of the Company�s common stock at the measurement date (generally, the date of grant) over the
amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. For fixed awards of stock options with pro rata vesting, the
Company utilizes the attribution method described in FASB Interpretation No. 28.

     If compensation cost had been determined for all options granted to employees under the fair value method using
an option pricing model, the Company�s pro forma net loss and net loss per share (�EPS�) for the quarters ended
March 28, 2004 and April 3, 2005, would have been as follows:

7
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SUNTRON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Quarter Ended:
March 28, 2004 April 3, 2005
Net
Loss EPS

Net
Loss EPS

Amounts reported $ (4,279) $ (0.16) $ (6,189) $ (0.23)

Add stock-based employee compensation recorded under the
intrinsic value method 85 62
Less stock-based employee compensation recorded under the fair
value method (409) (303)

Pro forma under fair value method $ (4,603) $ (0.17) $ (6,430) $ (0.23)

4. Inventories

     Inventories at December 31, 2004 and April 3, 2005 are summarized as follows:

2004 2005
Purchased parts and completed sub-assemblies $ 53,015 $ 43,768
Work-in-process 12,895 11,221
Finished goods 13,292 14,093

Total $ 79,202 $ 69,082

     For the quarters ended March 28, 2004 and April 3, 2005, the Company recognized write-downs of excess and
obsolete inventories of $353 and $1,944, respectively.

5. Debt Financing

     At December 31, 2004 and April 3, 2005, the Company has a $75,000 revolving credit facility. The outstanding
principal balance under this credit facility amounted to $59,128 at December 31, 2004 and $54,861 as of April 3,
2005. The Company can periodically elect to use either the Base Rate or LIBOR Rate in connection with borrowings
under the revolving line of credit. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay a commitment fee of 0.5% per annum
for the unused portion of the credit facility. The credit agreement limits or prohibits the Company from paying
dividends, incurring additional debt, selling significant assets, acquiring other businesses, or merging with other
entities without the consent of the lenders. The credit agreement requires compliance with certain financial and
non-financial covenants, including quarterly and monthly requirements related to earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (�EBITDA�), as defined in the agreement.
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     On July 7, 2004, the credit agreement was amended whereby Congress Financial Corporation joined Citibank as a
party to the amended credit agreement. The maturity date was extended until July 7, 2008 and the amendment
included less stringent covenants for EBITDA for 2004. Prior to July 7, 2004, the interest rate was the prime rate plus
2.50% for �Base Rate� borrowings and the LIBOR rate plus 3.75% for �LIBOR Rate� borrowings. Under the amended
credit agreement, the interest rates were reduced from previous levels by 1.75% for �Base Rate� borrowings and 1.00%
for �LIBOR Rate� borrowings. As of December 31, 2004, the interest rate for Base Rate borrowings was 6.0% and the
effective rate for LIBOR Rate borrowings was 4.8%.
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SUNTRON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

     Due to the termination of the Company�s relationship with Applied Materials, Inc. as discussed in Note 7, the
Company�s lenders determined in January 2005 that inventories related to Applied Materials will be ineligible in future
calculations of the borrowing base. This action, along with changes in the advance rates for real estate and equipment,
contributed to the reduction in borrowing availability from $14,502 at December 31, 2004 to $9,589 as of April 3,
2005. Furthermore, due to these reductions in borrowing availability, the amended credit agreement required a more
stringent EBITDA covenant beginning in January 2005.

     The Company would have violated this more stringent EBITDA covenant by the end of the first quarter of 2005.
However, effective March 29, 2005, the lenders agreed to amend the EBITDA covenant for the remainder of the year
ending December 31, 2005. Under the March 29, 2005 amendment, the Applicable Margin for Base Rate borrowings
increased by 1.00% on March 29, 2005, with subsequent quarterly increases of 0.25% on July 1, 2005, October 1,
2005 and January 1, 2006. The Applicable Margin for LIBOR Rate borrowings increased by 0.50% on March 29,
2005, with subsequent quarterly increases of 0.25% on July 1, 2005, October 1, 2005 and January 1, 2006. As of
April 3, 2005, the interest rate for Base Rate borrowings was 7.5% and the effective rate for LIBOR Rate borrowings
was 5.4%.

     Substantially all of the Company�s assets are pledged as collateral for outstanding borrowings. Total borrowings are
subject to limitation based on a percentage of eligible accounts receivable, inventories, real estate, and equipment. As
of April 3, 2005, the borrowing base calculation permitted total borrowings of $64,538, and the Company was in
compliance with all of the covenants under the amended credit agreement. After deducting the outstanding principal
balance and an outstanding letter of credit for $88, the Company had borrowing availability of $9,589 as of April 3,
2005. For the first quarter of 2005, the Company incurred debt issuance costs of $181 related to the March 29, 2005
amendment to the credit agreement.

     The credit agreement includes a lockbox arrangement that requires the Company to direct its customers to remit
payments to restricted bank accounts, whereby all available funds are used to pay down the outstanding principal
balance under the amended credit agreement. Accordingly, the entire outstanding principal balance is classified as a
current liability in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 and April 3, 2005.

     Under the Company�s credit agreement and banking arrangements, the Company is not required to fund amounts
for outstanding checks until the checks are presented to the bank for payment. Accordingly, the Company is not
required to maintain cash balances in anticipation of funding requirements for outstanding checks. This results in a
current liability for outstanding checks in excess of cash balances. Changes in the amount of outstanding checks in
excess of cash balances are reflected as a financing activity in the accompanying statements of cash flows.

9
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SUNTRON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

6. Restructuring Activities

     The Company periodically takes actions to increase capacity utilization through the closure of facilities and the sale
of assets. The results of operations related to these activities for the quarters ended March 28, 2004 and April 3, 2005,
are summarized as follows:

2004 2005
Amounts related to manufacturing activities and included in cost of goods sold:
Severance and retention costs $ 13 $ 239
Lease exit costs 20 142
Moving and relocation costs 54 �

Total included in cost of goods sold 87 381

Amounts unrelated to manufacturing activities and included in operating costs and
expenses:
Severance and retention costs 244 7
Lease exit costs 388 12
Moving, relocation and other costs � 7

Total severance, retention and lease exit costs 632 26

Total Expense $ 719 $ 407

     Presented below is a description of the activities that resulted in the charges shown in the table above:

     In June 2003, the Company initiated actions to consolidate its Phoenix manufacturing operations and corporate
headquarters into a single facility with the objective of subleasing up to one-third of the existing leased space in
Phoenix. In the first quarter of 2004, the Company completed the move of its corporate headquarters and the
consolidation into a single building was complete. During the first quarter of 2004, the Company recognized lease exit
costs of $408 primarily related to the vacated portion of the building devoted to corporate headquarters and incurred
severance costs of $257, primarily related to the termination of executive officers of the Company.

     In the first quarter of 2005, the Company exited a warehouse in Austin, Texas. The Company entered into an
agreement with the landlord of the Austin warehouse whereby the Company paid $160 as consideration for the early
termination of the lease. In the first quarter of 2005, the Company also incurred severance costs of $246, primarily
related to reductions in the manufacturing workforce.

10
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SUNTRON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Summary of Restructuring Liabilities. Presented below is a summary of changes in liabilities for lease exit costs and
severance and retention obligations for the quarter ended April 3, 2005:

Accrued Accrued
Lease
Exit

Severance
&

Costs Retention
Balance, December 31, 2004 $ 667 $ 127

Accrued expense for restructuring activities 154 246
Cash receipts under subleases 54 �
Cash payments (327) (330)
Accretion of interest 9 �
Reclassification of non-level rent liability 4 �
Expense due to change in previous estimates (9) �

Balance, April 3, 2005 $ 552 $ 43

     Accrued lease exit costs are expected to be paid through July 2007. As shown in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet as of April 3, 2005, $396 of this obligation is included in current liabilities and $156 is included in
long-term liabilities. The obligation for accrued severance and retention is included in accrued compensation and
benefits in the Company�s consolidated balance sheets and is expected to be paid in the second quarter of 2005.

7. Legal Proceedings

     Applied Materials, Inc. (�Applied�) has been a customer of the Company and its predecessors for over ten years. The
parties have entered into multiple agreements that set forth Applied�s responsibility for inventories that are purchased
or manufactured based on orders and forecasts received from Applied, as well as other related costs that Applied is
responsible for. During 2003 and 2004, the Company intensified its efforts to enforce the contractual provisions of
these agreements to recover costs incurred for excess and obsolete inventories. In October 2004, Applied notified the
Company that it intended to transition substantially all of its business to alternative contract manufacturers and by
January 2005 the business relationship with Applied had substantially terminated.

     In December 2004, the Company initiated litigation in Fort Bend County, Texas, seeking monetary damages
against Applied for costs relating to raw materials, inventory, and capital and human resources that the Company
claims it expended in reliance upon Applied�s representations. On January 14, 2005, Applied filed a Complaint for
Declaratory Relief in the Superior Court of the State of California. This Complaint seeks to establish that the dispute
should be resolved in California. Applied seeks recovery of its attorneys� fees but is not seeking any other claim for
damages. In February 2005, the Company responded to Applied�s Complaint with a Cross-Complaint that sets forth the
Company�s claim for reimbursement of amounts that management believes Applied is contractually obligated to pay
under the agreements, including amounts due for excess and obsolete inventories of $18,300 as of January 2005, plus
punitive damages, interest and legal fees.
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SUNTRON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

     This dispute involves a potential loss contingency if the outcome of the litigation does not result in a settlement
that is adequate to recover the net carrying value of the Company�s inventories. Management believes that Applied is
responsible for the net carrying value of inventories that were purchased on behalf of Applied and the Company
intends to vigorously prosecute all of its claims against Applied. No assurances can be made as to the final timing or
outcome of this litigation.

     The Company is subject to other litigation, claims and assessments that may arise in the ordinary course of its
business activities. Such matters include contractual matters, employment-related issues and regulatory proceedings.
Although occasional adverse decisions or settlements may occur, the Company believes that the final disposition of
such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company�s financial position, results of operations or
liquidity.

12
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Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with
our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, and the other financial information included in this
report, as well as the information in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements regarding future events or our future financial and
operational performance. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding markets for our products; trends
in net sales, gross profits, and estimated expense levels; liquidity and anticipated cash needs and availability; and any
statement that contains the words �anticipate,� �believe,� �plan,� �estimate,� �expect,� �seek,� and other similar
expressions. The forward-looking statements included in this report reflect our current expectations and beliefs, and
we do not undertake publicly to update or revise these statements, even if experience or future changes make it clear
that any projected results expressed in this report, annual or quarterly reports to stockholders, press releases, or
company statements will not be realized. In addition, the inclusion of any statement in this report does not constitute
an admission by us that the events or circumstances described in such statement are material. Furthermore, we wish
to caution and advise readers that these statements are based on assumptions that may not materialize and may
involve risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, that could cause actual events or performance
to differ materially from those contained or implied in these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to, risks related to the realization of anticipated revenue, profitability, and synergies of the
recent business combinations; the ability to meet cost estimates and achieve the expected benefits associated with
recent restructuring activities; trends affecting our growth; and the business and economic risks described herein
under �Factors That May Affect Future Results.�

Overview

     During the first quarter of 2005, our net sales were 17.8% lower than the first quarter of 2004 and 28.5% lower
than the fourth quarter of 2004. Our operating loss was $5.4 million in the first quarter of 2005 compared to operating
losses of $3.5 million in the first quarter of 2004 and $0.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2004. From 2001 through
2003, we experienced a severe contraction in our business where quarterly net sales declined from $197.9 million in
the first quarter of 2001 to $78.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2003. We responded to the economic downturn by
closing five of our manufacturing facilities, which resulted in significant restructuring charges and we incurred
significant net losses during each of those three fiscal years. These plant closures combined with other restructuring
and cost containment initiatives resulted in a much lower cost structure as we entered 2004.

     For each of the fiscal quarters in 2004, we experienced significant increases in our net sales in relation to the
comparable fiscal quarters in 2003, and we were able to achieve profitable operations in the second and third fiscal
quarters of 2004. The primary driver in achieving improved financial results in 2004 was the significantly higher level
of net sales which resulted in improved utilization of plant capacity and other fixed costs. However, based on our net
loss for the first quarter of 2005 and our belief that net sales will not increase in the second quarter of 2005, we do not
expect to achieve profitable operations in 2005. We are currently evaluating our long term business prospects at each
facility to determine the timing and extent of any further actions that may improve operating results and accelerate a
return to profitability.
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     In October 2004, Applied Materials notified us that it intended to transition substantially all of its business to
alternative contract manufacturers. Applied accounted for $26.2 million of our net sales for the first quarter of 2004
and only $1.4 million for the first quarter of 2005 as the business relationship with Applied had substantially
terminated by January 2005. In December 2004 and February 2005, we filed lawsuits in Texas and California that
seek, through the enforcement of contractual provisions or based upon tort theories, to recover approximately $18.3
million of costs incurred for excess and obsolete inventories; additional charges for carrying costs, warehousing costs,
cancellation charges, and employee termination costs; plus punitive damages, interest and legal fees. We believe that
Applied is responsible for the net carrying value of these inventories and we intend to vigorously prosecute all of our
claims against Applied. No assurances can be given as to the final timing or outcome of the litigation. To the extent
we are not successful in our claims against Applied, we may incur a significant write-down related to the inventory
held for Applied.

     During the first quarter of 2005, we completed some restructuring actions to reduce costs in anticipation of
sequentially lower net sales for the first two quarters of 2005. In addition to the loss of Applied as a major customer,
we have experienced relatively flat demand in most of our other targeted market sectors for the first quarter of 2005
compared to the first quarter of 2004.

     Despite our $6.2 million net loss in the first quarter of 2005, we generated $5.4 million of operating cash flow,
primarily due to lower working capital requirements necessary to support the lower net sales in 2005. Our positive
operating cash flows enabled the net repayment of $4.4 million of debt, which resulted in outstanding borrowings
under our revolving line of credit of $54.9 million at the end of the first quarter of 2005. Even though we generated
positive operating cash flow in the fist quarter of 2005, our unused borrowing availability decreased from $14.5
million at the beginning of the first quarter to $9.6 million at the end of the first quarter. The termination of our
relationship with Applied was partially responsible for the decrease in borrowing availability since our lenders
determined that all inventories related to Applied are ineligible in future calculations of the borrowing base.

     Due to the reduction in borrowing availability, a more stringent EBITDA covenant became effective in
January 2005. The Company would have violated this more stringent EBITDA covenant by the end of the first quarter
of 2005. However, effective March 29, 2005, the lenders agreed to amend the EBITDA covenant for the remainder of
the year ending December 31, 2005. We believe that our borrowing availability will be sufficient to fund planned
operations in 2005.

14
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     Following is an overview of the information included under each section of Management�s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations:

Caption Overview
Information About Our
Business

Under this section we provide information to help understand our industry
conditions and information unique to our business and customer relationships.

Critical Accounting
Policies and Estimates

This section provides details about some of the critical estimates and accounting
policies that must be applied in the preparation of our financial statements. It is
important to understand the nature of key uncertainties and estimates that may not
be apparent solely from reading our financial statements and the related footnotes.

Overview of Statement of
Operations

This section includes a description of the types of transactions that are included in
each significant category included in our statement of operations.

Results of Operations This section includes a discussion and analysis of our operating results for the first
quarter of 2004 compared to the first quarter of 2005.

Liquidity and Capital
Resources

There are several sub-captions under this section, including a discussion of our
cash flows for the first quarter of 2005 and other liquidity measures that we
consider important to our business. Under the sub-caption for Contractual
Obligations, we discuss on- and off-balance-sheet obligations and the expected
impact on our liquidity. Under the sub-caption for Capital Resources, we have
included a discussion of our credit facility, including details about interest rates
charged, calculation of the borrowing base and unused availability, compliance
with the EBITDA covenant, and alternatives if current capital resources are
inadequate.

Factors That May Affect
Future
Results

This section includes an in-depth discussion of many of the risks and uncertainties
that affect our business and industry, as well as risks that should be considered
before investing in our common stock. Our future financial results are dependent
upon effectively managing and responding to these risks.

Information About Our Business

     Suntron delivers complete manufacturing services and solutions to support the entire life cycle of complex
products in the semiconductor capital equipment, aerospace and defense, industrial, and medical equipment market
sectors of the electronic manufacturing services (�EMS�) industry. Our manufacturing services include printed circuit
board assembly, cable and harness production, engineering services, quick-turn manufacturing services and full
systems integration, testing, and after-market repair and warranty services. We believe our success in attracting and
retaining customers is a direct result of our ability to provide unique solutions tailored to match each of our customer�s
specific requirements, while meeting the highest quality standards in the industry.

     Our largest single expenditure is for the purchase of electronic components and our expertise in electronics
manufacturing techniques is critical to our ability to provide competitive, quality services. However, in order to fully
comprehend our business, it is also important to understand that our customers are engaged in semiconductor capital
equipment, aerospace and defense, medical products, and many other industries. While our ability to compete with
other companies in the EMS industry is important to our long-term success, short-term fluctuations in the demand for
our manufacturing services are primarily affected by the economic conditions in the market sectors served by our
customers. Since more than half of our customers have been
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concentrated in two market sectors, the quarterly fluctuations in our net sales can be extremely volatile when these
sectors are experiencing either rapid growth or contraction.

     As an EMS company, many of our customers are original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, that have designed
their own products. Our customers request proposals that include key terms such as quality, delivery, and the price to
purchase the materials and perform the manufacturing services to make one or more components or assemblies.
Generally, the component or assembly that we manufacture is delivered to the customer where it is then integrated
into their final product. We price new business with our customers by obtaining raw material quotes from our
suppliers and then estimating the amount of labor and overhead that will be required to make the products.

     Before we begin a customer relationship, we typically enter into arrangements that are intended to protect us in
case a customer cancels an order after we purchase the raw materials to fill that order. In these circumstances, the
customer is generally required to purchase the materials or reimburse us if we incur a loss from liquidating the raw
materials.

     The electronics manufacturing services industry is extremely dynamic and our customers make frequent changes to
their orders. The magnitude and frequency of these changes make it difficult to predict revenues beyond the next
quarter, and even relatively short-term forecasts may prove inaccurate depending on changes in economic, political,
and military factors, as well as unexpected customer requests to delay shipments near the end of our fiscal quarters.
These changes in customer orders also cause substantial difficulties in managing inventories, which often leads to
excess inventories and the need to recognize losses on inventories. However, from time to time, we may also have
difficulties obtaining certain electronic components that are in short supply. In addition, our inventories consist of
over 150,000 different parts and many of these parts have limited alternative uses or markets beyond the products that
we manufacture for our customers. When we liquidate excess materials through an inventory broker or auction, we
often realize less than the original cost of the materials, and in some cases we determine that there is no market for the
excess materials.

     The most common reasons we incur losses related to inventories are due to purchasing more materials than are
necessary to meet a customer�s requirements or failing to act promptly to minimize losses once the customer
communicates a cancellation. Occasionally it is not clear what action caused an inventory loss and there is a shared
responsibility whereby our customers agree to negotiate a settlement with us. Accordingly, management continually
evaluates inventory on-hand, forecasted demand, contractual protections, and net realizable values in order to
determine whether an adjustment to the carrying amount of inventory is necessary. When the relationship with a
customer terminates, we tend to be more vulnerable to inventory losses because the customer may be reluctant to
accept responsibility for the remaining inventory if a product is at the end of its life cycle. We can also incur inventory
losses if a customer becomes insolvent and the materials do not have alternative uses or markets into which we can
sell them.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

     The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The
preparation of these financial statements requires that we make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an
on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to bad debts, inventories,
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property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, income taxes, warranty obligations, restructuring-related obligations,
and litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We cannot assure you that actual
results will not differ from those estimates. We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more
significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenue from manufacturing services and product sales upon shipment and
transfer of title of the manufactured product, whereby our customers assume the risks and rewards of ownership of the
product. Occasionally, we enter into arrangements where services are bundled and completed in multiple stages. In
these cases, we follow the guidance in Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables, to determine the amount of revenue allocable to each deliverable.

     Generally, there are no formal customer acceptance requirements or further obligations related to manufacturing
services after shipment; however, if such requirements or obligations exist, then revenue is recognized at the point
when the requirements are completed and the obligations fulfilled. If uncertainties exist about whether the customer
has assumed the risks and rewards of ownership or if continuing performance obligations exist, we expand our written
communications with the customer to ensure that our understanding of the arrangement is consistent with that of the
customer before revenue is recognized. In limited circumstances, the Company�s customers agree to purchase products
but they request that we store the physical product in our facilities. In these circumstances, revenue is only recognized
when the terms of the arrangement comply with the guidance in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue
Recognition. Revenue from design, engineering and other services is recognized as the services are performed.

Write-Downs for Obsolete and Slow-Moving Inventories. Our judgments about excess and obsolete inventories
are especially difficult because (i) hundreds of different components may be associated with a single product we
manufacture for a customer, (ii) we make numerous products for most of our customers, (iii) even though we are
engaged in the EMS industry, most of our customers are engaged in diverse industries, (iv) a significant amount of the
parts we purchase are unique to a particular customer�s orders and there are limited alternative markets if that
customer�s order is canceled, and (v) all of our customers experience dynamic business environments affected by a
wide variety of economic, political, and regulatory factors. This complex environment results in positive and negative
events that can change daily and which affect judgments about future demand for our manufacturing services and the
amounts we can realize when it is not possible to liquidate inventories through production of finished products.

     We frequently review customer demand to determine if we have excess raw materials that will not be consumed in
production. In determining demand we consider firm purchase orders and forecasts of demand submitted by our
customers. If we determine that excess inventories exist and that the customer is not contractually obligated for the
excess inventories, we make judgments about whether unforecasted demand for those materials is likely to occur or
the amount we would likely realize in the sale of this material through a broker or auction. If we determine that future
demand from the customer is unlikely, we write down our inventories to the extent that the cost of the inventory
exceeds the estimated market value.
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     If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory
write-downs may be required in future periods. Likewise, if we underestimate contractual recoveries from customers
or future demand, hindsight may indicate that we over-reported our costs of goods sold in earlier periods, which
results in the recognition of additional gross profit at the time the material is used in production and the related goods
are sold. Therefore, although we make every effort to ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of future product demand,
any significant unanticipated changes in demand or the outcome of customer negotiations with respect to the
enforcement of contractual provisions could have a significant impact on the value of our inventory and our reported
operating results.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated
losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments, as well as to provide for adjustments
related to pricing and quantity differences. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances would be required. When our customers
experience difficulty in paying us, we estimate how much of our receivable will not be collected. These judgments are
often difficult because the customer may not divulge complete and accurate information. Even if we are fully aware of
the customer�s financial condition it can be difficult to estimate the expected recovery and there is often a wide range
of potential outcomes. Sometimes we collect receivables that we reserved for in prior periods and these recoveries are
reflected as a credit to operations in the periods in which the recovery occurs. Over the past few years, we have
diversified our concentration of business with our major customers and have added smaller customers that generally
have higher credit risk. Accordingly, we may experience higher bad debt losses in the future.

Restructuring Activities and Asset Impairments. When we undertake restructuring activities and decide to close a
plant that we occupy under a non-cancelable operating lease, we are required to estimate how long it will take to
locate a new tenant to sublease the facility and to estimate the rate that we are likely to receive when a tenant is
located. Accordingly, we will incur additional lease exit charges in future periods if our estimates of the rate or timing
of sublease payments turns out to be less favorable than our current expectations. We also consider the estimated cost
of building improvements, brokerage commissions, and any other costs we believe will be incurred in connection with
the subleasing process. The precise outcome of most of these factors is difficult to predict. We review our estimates at
least quarterly, including consultation with our commercial real estate advisors to assess changes in market conditions,
feedback from parties that have expressed interest, and other information that we believe is relevant to most accurately
reflect the expected outcome of obtaining a subtenant to lease the facility. Commercial real estate conditions are
currently weak in the areas in which we are attempting to sublease closed facilities, and we believe our estimates have
appropriately considered these conditions.

     When we undergo changes in our business, including the closure or relocation of facilities, we often have
equipment and other long-lived assets that are no longer needed in continuing operations. When this occurs, we are
required to estimate future cash flows and if such undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value of the
assets (or asset group, as applicable), we recognize impairment charges to reduce the carrying value to estimated fair
value. The determination of future cash flows and fair value tend to be highly subjective estimates. When assets are
held for sale and the actual market conditions deteriorate, or are less favorable than those projected by management,
additional impairment charges may be required in subsequent periods.
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Contingencies. We are subject to loss contingencies arising in the ordinary course of business. These contingencies
often involve legal proceedings where the outcome is not determinable with precision until all of the facts surrounding
the dispute are known to both parties and legal counsel has had the opportunity to evaluate the merits of the case. An
estimated loss from contingencies such as a legal proceedings and claims brought against us is required to be accrued
by a charge to income if it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred and the amount
of the loss can be reasonably estimated. In determining whether a loss should be accrued we evaluate, among other
factors, the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the
amount of loss. Revisions in estimates related to the potential outcome of loss contingencies could have a material
impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial position.

     From time to time, we are also subject to gain contingencies in the ordinary course of our business. Generally, it is
not appropriate to record a gain contingency in our financial statements until it is realized in cash.

     For a detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see Note 1 in our audited
consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2004.

Overview of Statement of Operations

Net sales are recognized when title is transferred to our customers, which generally occurs upon shipment from our
facilities. Net sales from design, engineering and other services are generally recognized as the services are
performed. Our sales are recorded net of customer discounts and credits taken or expected to be taken.

Cost of goods sold includes materials, labor, and overhead expenses incurred in the manufacture of our products.
Cost of goods sold also includes charges and credits related to manufacturing operations for lease exit costs, severance
and retention costs, impairment of long-lived assets, and obsolete and slow moving inventories. Many factors affect
our gross profit, including capacity utilization, product mix, and production volume.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses primarily include the salaries for executive, finance, accounting, and
human resources personnel; salaries and commissions paid to our internal sales force and external sales
representatives and marketing costs; insurance expenses; depreciation expense related to assets not used in
manufacturing activities; bad debt charges and recoveries; professional fees for auditing and legal assistance; and
general corporate expenses.

Severance, retention, and lease exit costs primarily relate to costs associated with closing administrative facilities
and reductions in our administrative workforce. Severance, retention, and lease exit costs that relate to manufacturing
activities are included in cost of goods sold.

Related party expenses- management fees consist of fees paid to affiliates of our majority stockholder.

Interest expense relates to our senior credit facilities and other debt obligations. Interest expense also includes the
amortization of debt issuance costs and unused commitment fees that are charged for the portion of our $75 million
credit facility that is not used from time to time.
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Results of Operations

     Our results of operations are affected by several factors, primarily the level and timing of customer orders
(especially orders from our major customers). The level and timing of orders placed by a customer vary due to the
customer�s attempts to balance its inventory, changes in the customer�s manufacturing strategy, and variation in demand
for its products due to, among other things, product life cycles, competitive conditions, and general economic
conditions. In the past, changes in orders from customers have had a significant effect on our quarterly results of
operations. The following table sets forth certain operating data as a percentage of net sales for the quarters ended
March 28, 2004 and April 3, 2005:

2004 2005
Net sales 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of goods sold 97.0% 99.4%

Gross profit 3.0% 0.6%
Operating costs and expenses:
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 5.6% 6.8%
Severance, retention, and lease exit costs 0.6% 0.0%
Related party expenses � management fees 0.2% 0.2%

Operating loss (3.4)% (6.4)%

Quarter Ended March 28, 2004 Compared to Quarter Ended April 3, 2005

Net Sales. Net sales decreased $18.0 million, or 17.8%, from $100.7 million for the first quarter of 2004 to
$82.7 million for the first quarter of 2005. The decrease in first quarter of 2005 net sales was primarily attributable to
a decrease of $18.6 million in our net sales to customers engaged in the semiconductor capital equipment sector.
However, while net sales to Applied Materials declined by $24.8 million in the first quarter of 2005, net sales to other
customers in the semiconductor capital equipment sector increased by $6.2 million during this period.

     During the first quarter of 2005, net sales to new customers amounted to approximately $5.2 million.

     Net sales for the first quarter of 2004 and 2005 includes approximately $1.5 million and $4.1 million, respectively,
of excess inventories that were sold back to customers pursuant to provisions of our customer agreements.

     For the first quarter of 2004, Honeywell and Applied Materials accounted for 22% and 26%, respectively, of our
net sales. For the first quarter of 2005, Honeywell and Applied Materials accounted for 29% and 2%, respectively, of
our net sales.

Gross Profit (Loss). Our gross profit decreased $2.5 million from a profit of $3.0 million in the first quarter of
2004 to a profit of $0.5 million in the first quarter of 2005. Similarly, gross profit as a percentage of net sales
decreased from a profit of 3.0% of net sales in the first quarter of 2004 to a profit of 0.6% of net sales in the first
quarter of 2005. The decrease in gross profit in the first quarter of 2005 is primarily attributable to the reduction in net
sales and our inability to reduce fixed costs in proportion to the decline in net sales. In response to lower sales
forecasts, management took actions in the first quarter of 2005 to reduce operating costs and is considering
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the timing and extent of additional actions that may be implemented in the second quarter of 2005.

     For the first quarter of 2005, we incurred restructuring costs of $0.4 million, consisting of $0.2 million for
severance costs related to terminated employees, and $0.2 million for lease exit costs associated with the early
termination of the Austin warehouse lease. The Austin warehouse was devoted to our business with Applied Materials
and was no longer necessary to support operations after our business relationship terminated. For the first quarter of
2004, restructuring costs related to manufacturing activities were $0.1 million.

     Through the first quarter of 2005 a significant amount of equipment became fully depreciated, although many of
these assets are still in service. Accordingly, depreciation expense for the first quarter of 2005 declined by
approximately $1.7 million compared to the first quarter of 2004.

     Inventory write-downs increased $1.5 million from $0.4 million, or 0.4% of net sales, in the first quarter of 2004 to
$1.9 million, or 2.3% of net sales, in the first quarter of 2005. The increase in inventory write-downs in the first
quarter of 2005 was attributable to several unrelated factors including the renegotiation of a major customer agreement
that increases our responsibility for excess and obsolete inventories in exchange for higher selling prices, and higher
losses related to customers that are either experiencing financial difficulties or have terminated our business
relationship. In both 2004 and 2005, write-downs of excess inventories are related to a variety of customers for which
we do not expect to realize the carrying value through production or other means of liquidation.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general, and administrative expenses (�SG & A�) were
unchanged at $5.6 million in the first quarter of 2004 and the first quarter of 2005. However, SG&A as a percentage
of net sales increased from 5.6% in the first quarter of 2004 to 6.8% in the first quarter of 2005. Despite the decrease
in net sales in the first quarter of 2005, we were unable to reduce administrative overhead in proportion to the decline
in net sales primarily due to an increase of $0.2 million in legal fees and higher costs for health care and other
employee benefit plans. These increased costs were offset by a reduction in bad debt expense of $0.2 million.

Severance, Retention, and Lease Exit Costs. Severance, Retention, and Lease Exit Costs amounted to $0.6 million
in the first quarter of 2004, primarily due to a lease exit charge of $0.4 million related to the consolidation of our
Phoenix operations into a single building. In the first quarter of 2004, we also incurred severance costs of
approximately $0.2 million, primarily due to the termination of executive officers. For the first quarter of 2005,
severance, retention and lease exit costs associated with our administrative activities were insignificant.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased approximately $0.3 million, or 28.4%, from $0.8 million in the first
quarter of 2004 to $1.1 million in the first quarter of 2005, primarily due to an increase in average outstanding
borrowings. Our weighted average borrowings increased from $40.1 million during the first quarter of 2004 to
$60.6 million for the first quarter of 2005. The impact of higher borrowings was partially offset by a reduction in our
weighted average interest rate from 6.1% in the first quarter of 2004 to 5.5% in the first quarter of 2005. As a result of
an amendment to our credit agreement that was effective on March 29, 2005, we expect our interest cost will increase
due to higher interest rates as discussed under the caption �Capital Resources�.
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Unrealized Loss on Marketable Securities. During the third quarter of 2004, a former customer emerged from
bankruptcy protection and we received marketable equity securities that are traded on NASDAQ in exchange for our
fully-reserved receivable. These securities were classified as �trading securities� which results in the recognition of
unrealized gains and losses in our statements of operations. The trading value of these securities declined from
$0.8 million when the bankruptcy plan was confirmed to $0.4 million by the end of 2004, which resulted in an
unrealized loss of $0.4 million in 2004. In March 2005, we sold these securities and recorded cash proceeds of
$0.3 million and an unrealized loss of $0.1 million for the period from January 1, 2005 through the sale date. This
unrealized loss is included under other income (expense) in the 2005 statement of operations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows from Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities in the first quarter of 2005 was
$5.4 million, compared with net cash used by operating activities of $13.3 million in the first quarter of 2004. The
difference between our net loss of $6.2 million in the first quarter of 2005 and $5.4 million of positive operating cash
flow was primarily attributable to a decrease in inventories of $10.1 million, a decrease in trade receivables of
$3.5 million, $2.1 million of depreciation and amortization expense, and an increase in other liabilities of $1.1 million,
partially offset by a decrease in accounts payable of $5.3 million. Inventories and receivables decreased in the first
quarter of 2005 primarily due to lower working capital requirements associated with lower net sales for the first
quarter. For the first quarter of 2004, operating activities used $13.3 million of cash, primarily due to higher
inventories and receivables that were required to support a significant increase in net sales that occurred in 2004.

     During 2004 and 2005, we accepted some orders from smaller, less creditworthy customers. While losses due to
credit risk have not been a significant factor in the past, this trend may not continue in the future as we continue to
diversify our major customer concentration with orders from smaller customers. If delinquencies related to our
receivables increase in the future, this could adversely affect our borrowing capacity because accounts that are aged
more than 90 days from the invoice date are ineligible for the borrowing base calculation under our credit agreement
with Citibank.

     Days sales outstanding (based on annualized net sales for the quarter and net trade receivables outstanding at the
end of the quarter) increased to 52 days for the first quarter of 2005, compared to 46 days for the first quarter of 2004.
Days sales outstanding increased in the first quarter of 2005 because Applied Materials was a large customer that took
advantage of accelerated payment terms and net sales to Applied Materials were insignificant in the first quarter of
2005.

     Inventories decreased 12.8% to $69.1 million at April 3, 2005, compared to $79.2 million at December 31, 2004.
For the first quarter of 2005, inventory turns (annualized cost of goods sold excluding restructuring charges of
$0.1 million for the first quarter of 2004 and $0.4 million for the first quarter of 2005, divided by quarter-end
inventories) amounted to 4.7 times per year compared to 5.1 times per year for the comparable period in 2004. The
termination of our business relationship with Applied Materials was primarily responsible for the decrease in
inventory turns for the first quarter of 2005. We have approximately $18 million of inventories that are subject to
litigation with Applied Materials and net sales to Applied Materials amounted
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to $1.4 million in the first quarter of 2005. Due to this ongoing dispute, we expect that our inventory turns will
continue to be at relatively low levels for the remainder of 2005.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities. Net cash used by investing activities in the first quarter of 2005 was
$0.3 million compared with net cash used by investing activities of $2.8 million in the first quarter of 2004. Investing
cash flows for the first quarter of 2005 totaled $2.2 million of cash outflows, consisting of the payment of $1.4 million
of contingent consideration related to the 2004 earn-out associated with the acquisition of Trilogic Systems and
payments of $0.9 million primarily for manufacturing equipment and leasehold improvements for our new facility in
Mexico. Our cash outflows for investing activities were partially offset by $1.9 million of proceeds received to sell
certain equipment used for plastic injection molding and sheet metal fabrication. The plastic injection molding
equipment was sold for $0.2 million during the first quarter of 2005 and we recognized a gain on the sale of
$0.2 million. We received a deposit of $1.7 million for the sale of sheet metal fabrication equipment in the first quarter
but closing is not expected to occur until July 2005, when additional proceeds of $0.1 million are due. The sheet metal
fabrication equipment has a net book value of $1.6 million and is classified as equipment held for sale in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of April 3, 2005. The deposit for $1.7 million that was received from the
buyer of the equipment is included as a current liability in customer deposits and deferred profit in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet as of April 3, 2005.

     Investing cash flows for the first quarter of 2004 consist of the payment of $2.1 million of consideration for the
2003 earn-out associated with the acquisition of Trilogic Systems, $0.3 million for the acquisition of a business, and
$0.4 million for other capital expenditures.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities. Net cash used by financing activities in the first quarter of 2005 was
$5.1 million, compared with net cash provided by financing activities of $16.2 million in the first quarter of 2004.
Financing cash flows in the first quarter of 2005 reflect the net repayment of debt of $4.4 million, payment of
$0.1 million of debt issuance costs associated with the March 2005 amendment to our revolving credit agreement, and
a decrease in outstanding checks in excess of cash balances of $0.6 million.

     Financing cash flows in the first quarter of 2004 reflect net borrowings under our revolving line of credit of
$12.7 million. During the first quarter of 2004, the Company also paid debt issuance costs of $0.2 million related to
our revolving credit agreement. During the first quarter of 2004, an increase in outstanding checks in excess of cash
balances of $3.6 million contributed positively to cash flows from financing activities.
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Contractual Obligations. The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of April 3, 2005:

Revolving Operating Purchase

Credit(1)
Leases
(2)

Obligations
(3)

Other
(4) Total

(Dollars in Table are in Millions)
Year ending March 31:
2006 $ 54.9 $ 4.1 $ 31.0 $ 1.0 $ 91.0
2007 � 3.5 1.0 0.2 4.7
2008 � 2.2 0.1 � 2.3
2009 � 1.4 � � 1.4
2010 � 0.8 � � 0.8
After 2010 � 0.6 � � 0.6

$ 54.9 $ 12.6 $ 32.1 $ 1.2 $ 100.8

(1) Revolving credit agreement expires in July 2008 but all borrowings are classified as current liabilities due to the
lenders� requirement for a �lockbox� arrangement.

(2) Includes an aggregate of $1.5 million, which has been included in the determination of our liability for lease
exit costs that is recorded on our balance sheet at April 3, 2005. U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
require that we record a liability for future lease payments, net of estimated sublease rentals, for facilities that
we have closed.

(3) Consists of obligations under outstanding purchase orders. Approximately 82% of the deliveries under
outstanding purchase orders are expected to be received in the second quarter of 2005. We often have the
ability to cancel these obligations if we provide sufficient notice to our suppliers.

(4) Includes $1.1 million payable under agreements for the acquisition of capital assets.
     We believe we will be able to fund our contractual operating lease and other purchase order obligations from
operating cash flows during the periods that payments are required.

Capital Resources. Our working capital at April 3, 2005 totaled $14.2 million compared to $17.2 million at
December 31, 2004. At April 3, 2005, the borrowing base under our $75.0 million revolving credit facility with
Citibank would have supported borrowings up to $64.6 million, and we had outstanding borrowings of $54.9 million
and an outstanding letter of credit for $0.1 million under this credit facility. Accordingly, as of April 3, 2005, we had
unused availability of $9.6 million after deducting outstanding borrowings and the letter of credit. The borrowing base
calculation under the credit facility is based on a percentage of eligible receivables and inventories, plus the appraised
value of certain real estate and equipment. Accordingly, our borrowing availability generally decreases as our net
receivables and inventories decline. The credit agreement also limits or prohibits us from paying dividends, selling
significant assets, acquiring other businesses, or merging with other entities without the consent of the lenders.
Substantially all of our assets are pledged as collateral for outstanding borrowings.

     On July 7, 2004, we entered into an amended credit agreement with Citibank and Congress Financial Corporation.
The maximum borrowings permitted under the amended credit agreement remained unchanged at $75.0 million from
the previous agreement with Citibank, but the maturity date was extended until July 7, 2008. The amended credit
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cash accounts, whereby all available funds are immediately used to pay down the outstanding principal balance under
the amended credit agreement.

     In order to ensure the continuing availability of funding under our credit facility, we are required to comply with
certain financial and reporting covenants, including the covenant for earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (�EBITDA�) discussed below. Compared to the previous credit facility, the amended credit agreement
generally includes less stringent covenants for EBITDA, and covenants for minimum tangible net worth and capital
expenditures were eliminated in the current agreement. However, the amended credit agreement provided that a more
stringent EBITDA covenant is effective when the aggregate value of assets included in the borrowing base does not
exceed outstanding borrowings by at least $15.0 million.

     Due to the termination of our relationship with Applied, our lenders determined in January 2005 that all inventories
related to Applied are ineligible in future calculations of our borrowing base. This action, along with changes in the
advance rates for real estate and equipment, contributed to the reduction in our borrowing availability from
$14.5 million at December 31, 2004 to $9.6 million at April 3, 2005. Furthermore, due to the reduction in borrowing
availability, a more stringent EBITDA covenant became effective in January 2005. The Company would have violated
this more stringent EBITDA covenant by the end of the first quarter of 2005. However, as discussed below under the
caption �EBITDA Financial Covenant�, effective March 29, 2005, the lenders agreed to amend the EBITDA covenant
that will be effective for the remainder of the year ending December 31, 2005.

     If we violate the EBITDA covenant, there can be no assurance that the lenders would waive our noncompliance. In
these circumstances, the lenders could elect to withdraw the credit facility, which would have a material adverse effect
on our liquidity and financial condition, resulting in the need to seek other sources of financing. As of April 3, 2005,
we were in compliance with the covenants under the amended credit agreement. We believe that our borrowing
availability will be sufficient to fund planned operations in 2005.

     Prior to July 7, 2004, the Applicable Margin (the premium we are charged in excess of published Base and LIBOR
rates) under the credit agreement was 2.50% for Base Rate borrowings and 3.75% for LIBOR Rate borrowings. From
July 7, 2004 through March 29, 2005, the Applicable Margin under the amended credit agreement was reduced to
0.75% for Base Rate borrowings and 2.75% for LIBOR Rate borrowings. In connection with the March 29, 2005
amendment, the Applicable Margin for Base Rate borrowings increased by 1.00% on March 29, 2005, with
subsequent quarterly increases of 0.25% on July 1, 2005, October 1, 2005 and January 1, 2006. The Applicable
Margin for LIBOR Rate borrowings increased by 0.50% on March 29, 2005, with subsequent quarterly increases of
0.25% on July 1, 2005, October 1, 2005 and January 1, 2006. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay a
commitment fee of 0.5% per annum of the unused portion of the credit facility.

     During 2002, 2003 and 2004, we exercised our rights to require our customers (including Applied) to purchase
excess inventories totaling $24.2 million, $8.2 million and $9.2 million, respectively, under relevant provisions of our
customer agreements. Applied was a customer of Suntron and its predecessors for over ten years. Our relationship was
governed by multiple agreements that set forth Applied�s responsibility for inventories that are purchased or
manufactured based on orders and forecasts received from Applied, as well as other related costs that Applied is
responsible for. During the past two years we intensified our efforts to enforce our contractual agreements to recover
costs incurred for excess and obsolete inventories. In October 2004, Applied notified us that it intended to transition
substantially all of its business to alternative contract manufacturers and by January 2005 our business relationship
with Applied had substantially terminated. In December 2004, we initiated litigation in Fort Bend County, Texas,
seeking monetary damages against Applied for expenses relating to raw materials, inventory, and capital and human
resources that we expended in reliance upon
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Applied�s representations. On January 14, 2005, Applied filed a Complaint for Declaratory Relief in the Superior Court
of the State of California. Applied�s Complaint seeks to establish that the dispute should be resolved in California.
Applied seeks recovery of its attorneys� fees but is not seeking any other claim for monetary damages. In
February 2005, we responded to Applied�s California Complaint with a Cross-Complaint that sets forth our claim for
reimbursement of amounts that we believe Applied is contractually obligated to pay under our agreements, including
amounts due for excess and obsolete inventories of $18.3 million as of January 2005, and additional charges for
carrying costs, warehousing costs, cancellation charges, employee termination costs, punitive damages, interest and
legal fees.

     Our dispute involves a potential loss contingency if the outcome of the litigation does not result in a settlement that
is adequate to recover the net carrying value of our inventories. Similar to the process employed for all of our
customers, we evaluated excess inventories for Applied on a quarterly basis and write-downs were recognized in the
period when we determined that recovery was not appropriate based on the applicable contractual agreements. We
believe that Applied is responsible for the net carrying value of inventories that we purchased on its behalf and we
intend to vigorously prosecute all of our claims. No assurances can be made as to the final timing or outcome of the
litigation. We expect to incur attorneys� fees and related costs between $1.5 and $2.0 million during 2005 in
connection with this litigation.

     We continue to evaluate sales forecasts in relation to our operations, and many restructuring actions were taken in
2002 and 2003 to position us for improved operating results in 2004. However, we have been unable to consistently
eliminate recurring operating losses through the first quarter of 2005, and preliminary sales forecasts indicate that net
sales for the second quarter of 2005 will not exceed net sales for the first quarter of 2005. In response to the lower
sales forecasts, we have taken actions in the first quarter of 2005 to reduce operating costs and further reductions will
likely be implemented in the second quarter of 2005. The combination of lower net sales forecast for 2005 and these
restructuring actions is not expected to result in profitable operations for 2005. However, we expect that we will be
able to achieve positive cash flows from operating activities for the year ending December 31, 2005.

EBITDA Financial Covenant. The primary measure of our operating performance is net income (loss). However,
our lenders and many investment analysts believe that other measures of operating performance are relevant. One of
these alternative measures is Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (�EBITDA�).
Management emphasizes that EBITDA is a non-GAAP measurement that excludes many significant items that are
also important to understanding and assessing Suntron�s financial performance. Additionally, in evaluating alternative
measures of operating performance, it is important to understand that there are no standards for these calculations.
Accordingly, the lack of standards can result in subjective determinations by management about which items may be
excluded from the calculations, as well as the potential for inconsistencies between different companies that have
similarly titled alternative measures. In order to illustrate our EBITDA calculations, we have provided the details
below of the calculations for the quarters ended March 28, 2004 and April 3, 2005 using a �traditional� definition, as
well as the calculation pursuant to the definition in our credit agreement with Citibank. Citibank modifies its
definition of EBITDA to exclude certain operating charges that may be considered unlikely to recur in the future or
that may be excluded due to a variety of other reasons. As shown below, the measure of EBITDA under a �traditional�
definition differs materially from the calculation of EBITDA under our credit agreement:
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For the Quarter
Ended:

March
28, April 3,
2004 2005
(Dollars in Millions)

Net loss $ (4.3) $ (6.2)
Income tax expense � �
Interest expense 0.9 1.1
Depreciation and amortization 3.8 2.1

EBITDA per �traditional� definition 0.4 (3.0)
Restructuring costs (A) 0.7 0.4
Other charges (B) 0.1 1.0

EBITDA per credit agreement definition $ 1.2 $ (1.6)

(A) Restructuring costs include lease exit costs, impairment of long-lived assets, and severance, retention, and
moving costs related to facility closures and other reductions in workforce.

(B) Includes stock-based compensation expense and charges related to outstanding litigation and termination of our
business relationship with Applied Materials.

     In order to remain in compliance with the EBITDA covenant under the amended credit agreement, our EBITDA
(as defined in the credit agreement) for the year 2005, must be no less favorable than break-even for the four
preceding fiscal quarters. Furthermore, due to the reduction in borrowing availability, a more stringent EBITDA
covenant first became effective in January 2005. The Company would have violated this more stringent EBITDA
covenant by the end of the first quarter of 2005. However, effective March 29, 2005, the lenders agreed to amend the
EBITDA covenant that will be effective for the remainder of the year ending December 31, 2005. Under the amended
covenant, if the average value of assets included in the borrowing base does not exceed average outstanding
borrowings by at least $10.0 million for each of the first two fiscal months of a quarter, and at least $12.5 million for
the third fiscal month of each quarter, then a more stringent EBITDA calculation is required for that month (referred
to as a �Reduced Liquidity Month�). The amended covenant for a Reduced Liquidity Month in 2005 requires minimum
rolling three-month EBITDA calculations ranging from negative $2.3 million for the three-months ended April 3,
2005 to positive $1.8 million for the three-months ended December 31, 2005. As discussed above, we were subject to
the more stringent EBITDA calculation beginning in January 2005 and we complied with the covenant for each of the
fiscal months for the quarter ended April 3, 2005.

Factors That May Affect Future Results

An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the factors
described below, in addition to those discussed elsewhere in this report, in analyzing an investment in our common
stock. If any of the events described below occur, our business, financial condition, and results of operations would
likely suffer, the trading price of our common stock could fall, and you could lose all or part of the money you paid for
our common stock. In addition, the following factors could cause our actual results to differ materially from those
projected in our forward-looking statements, whether made in this Form 10-Q, our annual or quarterly reports to
stockholders, future press releases, other SEC filings, or orally, whether in presentations, responses to questions, or
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Our level of indebtedness could adversely affect our financial viability, and the restrictions imposed by the
terms of our debt instruments may severely limit our ability to plan for or respond to changes in our business.

     As of April 3, 2005, we had outstanding bank debt of approximately $54.9 million. In addition, subject to the
restrictions under our debt agreements, we may incur significant additional indebtedness from time to time to finance
business acquisitions, capital expenditures, or for other purposes.

     Significant levels of debt could have negative consequences. For example, it could:

�  require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to service interest and principal
repayment requirements, limiting the availability of cash for other purposes;

�  increase our vulnerability to adverse general economic conditions by making it more difficult to borrow
additional funds to maintain our operations if we suffer revenue shortfalls;

�  limit our ability to attract new customers if we do not have sufficient liquidity to meet working capital
needs; and

�  hinder our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry if we are unable to
borrow additional funds to upgrade our equipment or facilities.

We may need additional capital in the future and it may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all.

     We may need to raise additional funds for the following purposes:

�  to fund working capital requirements for future growth that we may experience;

�  to enhance or expand the range of services we offer;

�  to increase our promotional and marketing activities; or

�  to respond to competitive pressures or perceived opportunities, such as investment, acquisition, and
international expansion activities.

If such funds are not available when required or on acceptable terms, our business and financial results could suffer.

We experience significant volatility in our net sales, which leads to significant operating inefficiencies and the
potential for significant charges.

     As a result of the soft demand in the end markets served by our customers, our net sales declined from
$197.9 million in the first quarter of 2001 to $78.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2003. As demand in these end
markets increased in 2004, our net sales increased to $130.4 million in the second quarter of 2004. Our net sales
declined to $82.7 in the first quarter of 2005.

     During periods of rapidly declining net sales, we generally take actions to eliminate variable and fixed costs, which
often results in significant restructuring charges. When our net sales decline significantly, it is difficult to operate our
plants profitably since it is not possible to eliminate most of our fixed costs. If we believe that the decline in sales is
unlikely to be followed by a rapid recovery, we may determine that there are significant benefits to reducing our cost
structure by closing plants and transferring existing business to other plants that are also operating below optimal
capacity levels. However, there can be no assurance that customers
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impacted by a restructuring will agree to transition their business to another Suntron location. In order to realize the
long-term benefits of these actions, we usually incur substantial charges for impairment of assets, lease exit costs, and
the payment of severance and retention benefits to affected employees. In addition to the up-front costs associated
with these actions, the transition of inventory and manufacturing services to a different facility can result in quality
and delivery issues that may have an adverse impact in retaining customers that are affected by the plant closure. Our
results of operations could also be materially and adversely affected by our inability to timely sell or sublet closed
facilities on expected terms, or otherwise achieve the expected benefits of our restructuring activities.

     During periods of rapidly increasing net sales, we often experience inefficiencies related to hiring and training
workers, as well as incremental costs incurred to expedite the purchase and delivery of raw materials and overtime
costs related to our workforce. Periods of rapid growth tend to stress our resources and we may not have sufficient
capacity to meet our customers� delivery requirements. Significant increases in net sales are typically accompanied by
corresponding increases in inventories and receivables that must be financed with borrowings under our amended
credit agreement.

We are dependent upon the highly competitive electronics industry, and excess capacity or decreased demand
for products produced by this industry could result in increased price competition as well as a decrease in our
gross margins and unit volume sales.

     Our business is heavily dependent on the electronics manufacturing services industry, which is extremely
competitive and includes hundreds of companies. The contract manufacturing services we provide are available from
many independent sources, and we compete with numerous domestic and foreign EMS firms, including Benchmark
Electronics, Inc.; Celestica Inc; Flextronics International Ltd.; Jabil Circuit, Inc.; Pemstar, Inc.; Plexus Corp.;
Sanmina-SCI Corporation; SMTC Corporation; Solectron Corporation; Sypris Electronics, LLC; and others. Many of
such competitors are more established in the industry and have greater financial, manufacturing or marketing
resources than we do. We may be operating at a cost disadvantage as compared to our competitors that have greater
direct buying power from component suppliers, distributors, and raw material suppliers and have lower cost
structures. In addition, many of our competitors have a broader geographic presence, including manufacturing
facilities in Asia, Europe, and South America.

     We believe that the principal competitive factors in our targeted market are quality, reliability, the ability to meet
delivery schedules, technological sophistication, geographic location, and price. We also face competition from our
current and potential customers, who are continually evaluating the relative merits of internal manufacturing versus
contract manufacturing for various products. As stated above, the price of our services is often one of many factors
that may be considered by prospective customers in awarding new business. We believe existing and prospective
customers are placing greater emphasis on contract manufacturers that can offer manufacturing services in low cost
regions of the world, such as certain countries in Asia. Accordingly, in situations where the price of our services is a
primary driver in prospective customers� decision to award new business, we currently believe we may have a
competitive disadvantage in these circumstances.

     A significant percentage of our net sales are generated from the semiconductor capital equipment, aerospace and
defense, industrial, networking and telecommunications, and medical sectors of the electronics industry, which is
characterized by intense competition and significant fluctuations in product demand. Furthermore, these sectors are
subject to economic cycles and
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have experienced in the past, and are likely to experience in the future, recessionary economic cycles. A recession or
any other event leading to excess capacity or a downturn in these sectors of the electronics industry results in
intensified price competition as well as a decrease in our unit volume sales and our gross margins.

We are dependent on the aerospace industry.

     One of our principal customers is engaged in the aerospace market. See ��We are dependent upon a small number of
customers for a large portion of our net sales, and a decline in sales to major customers would harm our results of
operations.� Consequently, a significant percentage of our net sales have been derived from the aerospace sector of the
electronics industry. The September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks using hijacked commercial aircraft and the ensuing war
on terrorism have resulted in a reduction in demand for our services, which has had an adverse impact on our results
of operations. See ��We experience significant volatility in our net sales which leads to significant operating
inefficiencies and the potential for significant charges.� In addition, continuing tensions in the Middle East, have
resulted in higher oil prices, which could result in further reductions in demand for products of our aerospace
customers, which would have a continuing negative impact on our results of operations.

We are dependent upon a small number of customers for a large portion of our net sales, and a decline in sales
to major customers would harm our results of operations.

     A small number of customers are responsible for a significant portion of our net sales. For the year ended
December 31, 2004, Honeywell and Applied accounted for 21% and 25%, respectively, of our net sales. For the first
quarter of 2005, Honeywell accounted for 29% of our net sales.

     Our customer concentration could increase or decrease depending on future customer requirements, which will
depend in large part on market conditions in the market sectors in which our customers participate. The loss of one or
more major customers or a decline in sales to our major customers could significantly harm our business and results of
operations. In the fourth quarter of 2004, Applied informed us that they planned to transition substantially all of their
business with us to alternative contract manufacturers and by January 2005 this transition was substantially complete.
Accordingly, this transition adversely impacted our results of operations for the first quarter of 2005 and we do not
expect to achieve profitable results for the remainder of 2005.

     If we are not able to expand our customer base, we will continue to depend upon a small number of customers for a
significant percentage of our net sales. There can be no assurance that current customers will not terminate their
manufacturing arrangements with us or significantly change, reduce, or delay the amount of manufacturing services
ordered from us.

     In addition, we generate significant accounts receivable in connection with providing services to our customers. If
one or more of our significant customers were to become insolvent or were otherwise unable or unwilling to pay for
our services, our results of operations would deteriorate substantially.
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Our financial condition could suffer if we fail to obtain a sufficient award in pending litigation.

     In December and February 2005, we filed lawsuits in Texas and California that seek, through the enforcement of
contractual provisions or based upon tort theories, to recover approximately $18.3 million of costs incurred for excess
and obsolete inventories; additional charges for carrying costs, warehousing costs, cancellation charges, and employee
termination costs; plus punitive damages, interest and legal fees. See Item 3- Legal Proceedings. Although we are
vigorously pursuing our claims, this litigation is in a very early stage and we cannot predict the outcome. If we are not
able to obtain a sufficient award to recover the carrying value of these inventories, our business, operating results and
financial condition will be negatively impacted.

Our customers may cancel their orders, change production quantities, or delay production.

     Electronics manufacturing service providers must provide increasingly rapid product turnaround for their
customers. We generally do not obtain firm, long-term purchase commitments from our customers, and we expect to
continue to experience reduced lead-times in customer orders. Customers may cancel their orders, change production
quantities, or delay production for a number of reasons. Cancellations, reductions, or delays by a significant customer
or by a group of customers would seriously harm our results of operations. When customer orders are changed or
cancelled, we may be forced to hold excess inventories and incur carrying costs as a result of delays, cancellations, or
reductions in orders or poor forecasting by our key customers.

     In addition, we make significant decisions, including determining the levels of business that we seek and accept,
production schedules, component procurement commitments, personnel needs, and other resource requirements based
on estimates of customer production requirements. The short-term nature of our customers� commitments to us,
combined with the possibility of rapid changes in demand for their products, reduces our ability to accurately estimate
future customer orders. In addition, because many of our costs and operating expenses are relatively fixed, a reduction
in customer demand generally harms our operating results.

If we experience excess capacity due to variability in customer demand, our gross margins may decline.

     We may schedule certain of our production facilities at less than full capacity to retain our ability to respond to
additional quick turnaround orders. However, if these orders are not received, we could experience losses due to
excess capacity. Whenever we experience excess capacity, our sales revenue may be insufficient to fully cover our
fixed overhead expenses and our gross margins will decline. Conversely, we may not be able to capture all potential
revenue in a given period if our customers� demands for quick turnaround services exceed our capacity during that
period.

If we are unable to respond to rapid technological change and process development, we may not be able to
compete effectively.

     The market for our products and services is characterized by rapidly changing technology and continual
implementation of new production processes. The future success of our business will depend in large part upon our
ability to maintain and enhance our technological capabilities, to develop and market products that meet changing
customer needs, and to
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successfully anticipate or respond to technological changes on a cost-effective and timely basis. We expect that the
investment necessary to maintain our technological position will increase as customers make demands for products
and services requiring more advanced technology on a quicker turnaround basis.

     In addition, the electronics manufacturing services industry could encounter competition from new or revised
manufacturing and production technologies that render existing manufacturing and production technology less
competitive or obsolete. We may not be able to respond effectively to the technological requirements of the changing
market. If we need new technologies and equipment to remain competitive, the development, acquisition and
implementation of those technologies may require us to make significant capital investments.

Operating in foreign countries exposes us to increased risks that could adversely affect our results of
operations.

     We currently have foreign operations in Mexico. We may in the future expand into other foreign countries. We
have limited experience in managing geographically dispersed operations and in operating in foreign countries.
Because of the scope of our international operations, we are subject to the following risks, which could adversely
impact our results of operations:

�  economic or political instability;

�  transportation delays and interruptions;

�  increased employee turnover and labor unrest;

�  incompatibility of systems and equipment used in foreign operations;

�  foreign currency exposure;

�  difficulties in staffing and managing foreign personnel and diverse cultures; and

�  less developed infrastructures.
     In addition, changes in policies by the United States or foreign governments could negatively affect our operating
results due to increased duties, increased regulatory requirements, higher taxation, currency conversion limitations,
restrictions on the transfer of funds, the imposition of or increase in tariffs, and limitations on imports or exports.
Also, we could be negatively affected if our host countries revise their policies away from encouraging foreign
investment or foreign trade, including tax holidays.

If we are unsuccessful in managing future opportunities for growth, our results of operations will be harmed.

     Our future results of operations will be affected by our ability to successfully manage future opportunities for
growth. Rapid growth, such as that experienced for 2004, is likely to place a significant strain on our managerial,
operational, financial, and other resources. If this growth continues, it may require us to implement additional
management information systems, to further develop our operating, administrative, financial, and accounting systems
and controls and to maintain close coordination among our accounting, finance, sales and marketing, and customer
service and support departments. In addition, we may be required to retain additional personnel to adequately support
our growth. If we cannot effectively manage periods of rapid growth in our operations, we may not be able to continue
to grow, or we may grow at a slower pace. Any failure to successfully manage growth and to develop financial
controls and accounting and operating systems or to add and retain personnel that adequately support growth could
harm our business and financial results.
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Our results of operations are affected by a variety of factors, which could cause our results of operations to fail
to meet expectations.

     Our results of operations have varied, and our results of operations may continue to fluctuate significantly from
period to period, including on a quarterly basis. Our results of operations are affected by a number of factors,
including:

�  timing of orders from and shipments to major customers;

�  mix of products ordered by major customers;

�  volume of orders as related to our capacity at individual locations;

�  pricing and other competitive pressures;

�  component shortages, which could cause us to be unable to meet customer delivery schedules;

�  our ability to minimize inventory obsolescence and bad debt expense risk;

�  our ability to manage effectively inventory and fixed asset levels; and

�  timing and level of goodwill and other long-lived asset impairments.
We are dependent on limited and sole source suppliers for electronic components and may experience
component shortages, which would cause us to delay shipments to customers.

     We are dependent on certain suppliers, including limited and sole source suppliers, to provide critical electronic
components and other materials for our operations. At various times, there have been shortages of some of the
electronic components we use, and suppliers of some components have lacked sufficient capacity to meet the demand
for these components. For example, from time to time, some components we use, including semiconductors,
capacitors, and resistors, have been subject to shortages, and suppliers have been forced to allocate available quantities
among their customers. Such shortages have disrupted our operations in the past, which resulted in incomplete or late
shipments of products to our customers. Our inability to obtain any needed components during future periods of
allocations could cause delays in shipments to our customers. The inability to make scheduled shipments could in turn
cause us to experience a shortfall in revenue. Component shortages may also increase our cost of goods due to
premium charges we may pay to purchase components in short supply. Accordingly, even though component
shortages have not had a lasting negative impact on our business, component shortages could harm our results of
operations for a particular fiscal period due to the resulting revenue shortfall or cost increases and could also damage
customer relationships over a longer-term period.

We depend on our key personnel and may have difficulty attracting and retaining skilled employees.

     Our future success will depend to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our key management,
marketing, technical, financial, accounting and operational personnel. The loss of the services of one or more key
employees could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. We also believe that our future success
will depend in large part upon our ability to attract and retain additional highly skilled managerial and technical
resources. Competition for such personnel is intense. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in
attracting and retaining such personnel. In addition, recent and potential future facility shutdowns and workforce
reductions may have a negative impact on employee recruiting and retention.

Edgar Filing: SUNTRON CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 47



33

Edgar Filing: SUNTRON CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 48



Table of Contents

Our manufacturing processes depend on the collective industry experience of our employees. If these employees
were to leave and take this knowledge with them, our manufacturing processes may suffer and we may not be
able to compete effectively.

     We have no patent or trade secret protection for our manufacturing processes, but instead rely on the collective
experience of our employees to ensure that we continuously evaluate and adopt new technologies in our industry.
Although we are not dependent on any one employee or a small number of employees, if a significant number of
employees involved in our manufacturing processes were to leave our employment and we are not able to replace
these people with new employees with comparable experience, our manufacturing processes may suffer as we may be
unable to keep up with innovations in the industry. As a result, we may not be able to continue to compete effectively.

Our failure to comply with the requirements of environmental laws could result in fines and revocation of
permits necessary to our manufacturing processes.

     Our operations are regulated under a number of federal, state, and foreign environmental and safety laws and
regulations that govern, among other things, the discharge of hazardous materials into the air and water, as well as the
handling, storage, and disposal of such materials. These laws and regulations include the Clean Air Act; the Clean
Water Act; the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act; and the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act; as well as analogous state and foreign laws. Compliance with these environmental
laws is a major consideration for us because our manufacturing processes use and generate materials classified as
hazardous, such as ammoniacal etching solutions, copper, and nickel. In addition, because we use hazardous materials
and generate hazardous wastes in our manufacturing processes, we may be subject to potential financial liability for
costs associated with the investigation and remediation of our own sites or sites at which we have arranged for the
disposal of hazardous wastes, if such sites become contaminated. Even if we fully comply with applicable
environmental laws and are not directly at fault for the contamination, we may still be liable. The wastes we generate
include spent ammoniacal etching solutions, solder stripping solutions, and hydrochloric acid solutions containing
palladium; waste water that contains heavy metals, acids, cleaners, and conditioners; and filter cake from equipment
used for on-site waste treatment. We have not incurred significant costs related to compliance with environmental
laws and regulations in the prior three years, and we believe that our operations comply with all applicable
environmental laws. However, any material violations of environmental laws by us could subject us to revocation of
our effluent discharge and other environmental permits. Any such revocations could require us to cease or limit
production at one or more of our facilities. Even if we ultimately prevail, environmental lawsuits against us would be
time consuming and costly to defend.

     Environmental laws could also become more stringent over time, imposing greater compliance costs and increasing
risks and penalties associated with violation. We operate in environmentally sensitive locations and are subject to
potentially conflicting and changing regulatory agendas of political, business, and environmental groups. Changes or
restrictions on discharge limits; emissions levels; or material storage, handling, or disposal might require a high level
of unplanned capital investment or relocation. It is possible that environmental compliance costs and penalties from
new or existing regulations may harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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We may be subject to risks associated with acquisitions, and these risks could harm our results of operations.

     We completed two business combinations in 2002 and one each in 2003 and 2004, and we anticipate that we will
seek to identify and acquire additional suitable businesses in the electronics manufacturing services industry. The
long-term success of recent business combinations will depend on our ability to unite the business strategies, human
resources and information technology systems of previously separate companies. The difficulties of combining
operations include the necessity of coordinating geographically separated organizations and integrating personnel with
diverse business backgrounds. Combining management resources will result in changes affecting all employees and
operations. Differences in management approach and corporate culture may strain employee relations.

     Future business combinations could cause certain customers to either seek alternative sources of product supply or
service, or delay or change orders for products due to uncertainty over the integration of the two companies or the
strategic position of the combined company. As a result, we may experience some customer attrition.

     Acquisitions of companies and businesses and expansion of operations involve certain risks, including the
following:

�  the business fails to achieve anticipated revenue and profit expectations;

�  the potential inability to successfully integrate acquired operations and businesses or to realize anticipated
synergies, economies of scale, or other value;

�  diversion of management�s attention;

�  difficulties in scaling up production and coordinating management of operations at new sites;

�  the possible need to restructure, modify, or terminate customer relationships of the acquired business;

�  loss of key employees of acquired operations; and

�  the potential liabilities of the acquired businesses.
     Accordingly, we may experience problems in integrating the operations associated with any future acquisition. We
therefore cannot provide assurance that any future acquisition will result in a positive contribution to our results of
operations. In particular, the successful combination with any businesses we acquire will require substantial effort
from each company, including the integration and coordination of sales and marketing efforts. The diversion of the
attention of management and any difficulties encountered in the transition process, including the interruption of, or a
loss of momentum in, the activities of any business acquired, problems associated with integration of management
information and reporting systems, and delays in implementation of consolidation plans, could harm our ability to
realize the anticipated benefits of any future acquisition. In addition, future acquisitions may result in dilutive
issuances of equity securities, the incurrence of additional debt, large one-time write-offs, and the creation of goodwill
or other intangible assets that could result in increased impairment or amortization expense.
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Failure to maintain an effective system of internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act could inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial results and have a material
adverse impact on our business and stock price.

     Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports. We have in the past discovered,
and may in the future discover, areas of our internal controls that need improvement. We are in the process of
documenting and testing our internal control procedures in order to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting and a report by our independent auditors attesting to these assessments. During the
course of our testing we may identify deficiencies which we may not be able to remediate in time to meet the
December 31, 2006 deadline imposed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for compliance with the requirements of
Section 404. Failure to achieve and maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting could have a material
adverse effect on our stock price.

Our stock price may be volatile, and our stock is thinly traded, which could cause investors to lose all or part of
their investments in our common stock.

     The stock market may experience volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of any
particular company or companies. If market or industry-based fluctuations continue, our stock price could decline
regardless of our actual operating performance, and investors could lose a substantial part of their investments.
Moreover, if an active public market for our stock is not sustained in the future, it may be difficult to resell our stock.

     Since March 2002 when Suntron shares began trading, the average number of shares of our common stock that
traded on the NASDAQ exchange has been approximately 8,000 shares per day compared to 27,415,221 issued and
outstanding shares as of April 3, 2005. When trading volumes are this low, a relatively small buy or sell order can
result in a large percentage change in the trading price of our common stock, which may be unrelated to changes in
our stock price that are associated with our operating performance.

     The market price of our common stock will likely fluctuate in response to a number of factors, including the
following:

�  failure to meet the performance estimates of securities analysts;

�  changes in estimates of our results of operations by securities analysts;

�  announcements about the financial performance and prospects of the industries and customers we serve;

�  announcements about the financial performance of our competitors in the EMS industry;

�  the timing of announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts or acquisitions; and

�  general stock market conditions.
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Our major stockholder controls us and our stock price could be influenced by actions taken by this
stockholder. Additionally, this stockholder could prevent a change of control or other business combination, or
could effect a �short form� merger without the approval of other stockholders.

     Thayer-Blum owns approximately 90% of our common stock, and five of our eleven directors are representatives
of Thayer-Blum. The interests of Thayer-Blum may not always coincide with those of our other stockholders,
particularly if Thayer-Blum decides to sell its controlling interest. In addition, Thayer-Blum will have sufficient
voting power (without the approval of Suntron�s other stockholders) to elect the entire Board of Directors of Suntron
and, in general, to determine the outcome of various matters submitted to stockholders for approval, including
fundamental corporate transactions. Thayer-Blum could cause us to take actions that we would not consider absent
Thayer-Blum�s influence, or could delay, deter, or prevent a change of control or other business combination that
might otherwise be beneficial to our public stockholders.

     In addition, Thayer-Blum could contribute its Suntron stock to a subsidiary corporation that, as a 90% stockholder,
then would have the ability under Delaware law to merge with or into Suntron without the approval of the other
Suntron stockholders. In the event of such a �short-form� merger, Suntron stockholders would have the right to assert
appraisal/dissenters� rights to receive cash in the amount of the fair market value of their shares in lieu of the
consideration they would have otherwise received from the transaction.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

     We have a revolving line of credit that provides for total borrowings up to $75.0 million. The interest rate under
this agreement is based on the prime rate and LIBOR rates, plus applicable margins. Therefore, as interest rates
fluctuate, the Company may experience changes in interest expense that will impact financial results. The Company
has not entered into any interest rate swap agreements, or similar instruments, to protect against the risk of interest rate
fluctuations. Assuming outstanding borrowings of $75.0 million, if interest rates were to increase or decrease by one
percentage point, the result would be an increase or decrease in annual interest expense of $0.75 million. Accordingly,
significant increases in interest rates could have a material adverse effect on the Companyorate governance and
nominating committee during 2017 and who presently serve on the committee are independent under the corporate
governance standards of the NYSE. The corporate governance and nominating committee's responsibilities include
identifying and recommending to the Board individuals qualified to serve as directors and on committees of the
Board; advising the directors with respect to the Board's composition, procedures, and committees; developing and
recommending to the Board a set of corporate governance principles; and overseeing the evaluation of the Board and
the president and chief executive officer.

 ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS

Directors are expected to attend meetings of the Board and the committees on which they serve, as well as our annual meeting of stockholders. A
director who is unable to attend a meeting (which it is understood will occur on occasion) is expected to notify the chairman of the Board or the
chair of the appropriate committee in advance of such meeting.

During 2017, the Board held six meetings, our audit committee held nine meetings, our compensation committee held seven meetings, and our
corporate governance and nominating committee held five meetings. All of our directors attended 100% of the meetings of the Board and those
committees of which they were members, except (i) one director was unable to attend one in-person Board meeting due to jury duty service but
did participate by teleconference for a portion of the meeting, (ii) one director was unable to attend one in-person meeting of the board and of
each of the two committees on which the director served, and (iii) one compensation committee member was unable to attend one telephonic
compensation committee meeting. All of our directors attended the 2017 Annual Meeting, which was held on May 12, 2017.

 ROLE OF THE BOARD IN RISK OVERSIGHT
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In fulfilling its risk oversight role, the Board focuses on the adequacy of our risk management process and the effectiveness of our overall risk
management system. The goal of this oversight by the Board is to ensure that our employees who are responsible for risk management
(i) adequately identify the material risks that the company faces in a timely manner; (ii) implement appropriate risk management strategies that
are responsive to the company's risk profile, business strategies, and specific material risk exposures; (iii) integrate consideration of risk and risk
management into business decision-making
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throughout the company; and (iv) include policies and procedures that adequately transmit necessary information with respect to material risks
to senior executives and, as appropriate, to the Board or relevant committees. During 2017, the Board reviewed with key members of
management responsible for management of risk the process by which management had identified the material risks to the company's strategic,
operating, financial reporting, and compliance objectives, as well as the likelihood of occurrence, the potential impact, and the mitigating
measures in each instance.

 CODE OF CORPORATE CONDUCT

The Board has adopted a code of corporate conduct that is applicable to all of our directors, officers, and employees. A copy of the code is
available to stockholders at our corporate website, www.cfindustries.com, or by writing to our corporate secretary at the address on the Notice of
Annual Meeting accompanying this Proxy Statement. We intend to disclose on our corporate website any amendment to any provision of the
code that relates to any element of the definition of "code of ethics" enumerated in Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act, and
any waiver from any such provision granted to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
controller or persons performing similar functions.

 STOCKHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We believe that building positive relationships with our stockholders is critical to CF Industries' success. We value the views of, and regularly
communicate with, our stockholders on a variety of topics, such as our financial performance, corporate governance, executive compensation,
and related matters. Management shares the feedback received from stockholders with the Board. Our chairman or other members of the Board
may also be available to participate in meetings with stockholders as appropriate. Requests for such a meeting are considered on a case-by-case
basis. Our engagement activities have resulted in valuable feedback that has contributed to our decision-making with respect to these matters.
We welcome your input and feedback and look forward to continued engagement with our stockholders.

 COMMUNICATIONS WITH DIRECTORS

The Board has established a process to receive communications from stockholders and other interested parties. Stockholders and other interested
parties may contact any member (or all members) of the Board, any Board committee, or any chair of any such committee by mail. To
communicate with the Board, any individual director, or any group or committee of directors, correspondence should be addressed to the Board
or any such individual director or group or committee of directors by either name or title. All such correspondence should be sent c/o the
corporate secretary at the address on the Notice of Annual Meeting accompanying this Proxy Statement.

All communications received as set forth in the preceding paragraph will be opened by the office of our general counsel for the sole purpose of
determining whether the contents represent a message to one or more of our directors and then forwarded promptly to each addressee. In the case
of communications to the Board or any group or committee of directors, the office of the general counsel will distribute copies of the contents to
each director who is a member of the Board or of the group or committee to which the envelope or correspondence is addressed.
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 POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS REPORT

We prepare a semiannual Political Contributions Report listing CF Industries' political contributions. Each Political Contributions Report is
posted on our corporate website, www.cfindustries.com, and presented to the corporate governance and nominating committee. Additionally, the
Political Contributions Reports set forth the United States trade associations and other similar non-profit organizations to which the company
annually pays dues of $20,000 or more and identify the portion of such dues that is used for advocacy and/or political activities by those
associations. The most recent Political Contributions Report and our code of corporate conduct, containing our corporate policies related to
political activities and contributions, lobbying and related matters, are currently available on our corporate website.

 SUSTAINABILITY

CF Industries is a leader in an industry whose mission is fundamental to human survival: putting food on the world's table. By providing plant
nutrients to farmers, we feed the crops that feed the world. We are proud of the role our company plays in fulfilling this increasingly challenging
mission. We also believe our company has an important role to play in addressing some of the most critical challenges of our time. As a
company, we're confronting issues such as energy efficiency, resource use, and economic growth. For example, we have partnered with The
Nature Conservatory in Iowa to enhance farmer's knowledge of sustainable agricultural practices. A substantial grant to The Nature
Conservatory from us is funding a campaign that aims to educate 90,000 farmers responsible for 23 million acres of crops, while creating a
sustainable agriculture blueprint that can be applied to other states. Throughout the campaign, we're working closely with stakeholders including
fertilizer manufacturers and retailers, government, academics, agriculture groups and farmers to advance the overall goal of the Iowa Nutrient
Reduction Strategy: a 45 percent reduction of nitrogen and phosphorus runoff into the state's waters. We prepare an annual sustainability report
with information related to our energy efficiency and emissions reduction initiatives, environmental, health and safety programs, charitable
contributions, and other items. Each Sustainability Report is posted on our corporate website, www.cfindustries.com, and presented to the
corporate governance and nominating committee.
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 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Non-employee directors receive compensation, including fees and reimbursements of expenses, for their service and dedication to our company.
We recognize the substantial time and effort required to serve as director of a large public company like ours. We believe that compensation for
non-employee directors should be competitive and should encourage increased ownership of CF Industries stock through the payment of a
portion of director compensation in shares of our stock. In order to further align the interests of our directors with the interests of our
stockholders, our non-employee directors are required to achieve and maintain stock ownership with a market value equal to five times their
annual cash retainer.

Our compensation committee is responsible for reviewing director compensation and making recommendations to the Board. The compensation
committee reviews the compensation of our non-employee directors annually. In connection with its annual review of the compensation of our
non-employee directors, the compensation committee also compares the compensation of our non-employee directors with compensation paid to
comparable directors at peer companies and the overall market based on the 2015-2016 National Association of Corporate Directors survey on
director compensation. For more information, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis�Role of the Compensation Consultant."

 Annual Cash Retainer

Each non-employee director is entitled to an annual cash retainer of $100,000, payable quarterly. We do not pay meeting fees to our directors.
The chairman of the Board and the chair of the Board committees receive additional annual cash retainers in the following amounts, payable
quarterly:

Chairman of the Board $ 60,000
Audit committee chair $ 15,000
Compensation committee chair $ 10,000
Corporate governance and nominating committee chair $ 10,000
 Annual Restricted Stock Grant

Each non-employee director will receive, upon joining the Board, a restricted stock grant with a fair market value of $120,000 (or, in the case of
the chairman of the Board, $200,000), rounded to the nearest whole share. Thereafter, each continuing non-employee director will receive an
annual restricted stock grant with a fair market value of $120,000 (or, in the case of the chairman of the Board, $200,000), rounded to the nearest
whole share, on the date of each annual meeting of the stockholders. Assuming continuing service as a non-employee director, all shares of
restricted stock will vest on the earlier of (x) the date of the first annual meeting of the stockholders following the date of grant or (y) the first
anniversary of the date of grant.
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 2017 Total Director Compensation

The following table sets forth cash and non-cash compensation with respect to the year ended December 31, 2017, for our non-employee
directors. Mr. Will receives no additional compensation for his service as a director.

Name

Fees Earned
or Paid
in Cash(1)

($)

Stock
Awards(2)

($)

All Other
Compensation(3)

($)
Total
($)

Robert C. Arzbaecher 107,500 120,001 5,325 232,826
William Davisson 100,000 120,001 5,325 225,326
John W. Eaves(4) 75,000 120,004 2,383 197,387
Stephen A. Furbacher 160,000 199,993 8,876 368,869
Stephen J. Hagge 107,500 120,001 5,325 232,826
John D. Johnson 102,500 120,001 5,325 227,826
Robert G. Kuhbach 103,750 120,001 5,325 229,076
Anne P. Noonan 100,000 120,001 5,325 225,326
Edward A. Schmitt 102,500 120,001 5,325 227,826
Michael J. Toelle(4) 75,000 120,004 2,383 197,387
Theresa E. Wagler 111,250 120,001 5,325 236,576

(1)
Amounts in this column represent the annual cash retainers that our non-employee directors earned during 2017.

(2)
Amounts in this column represent the grant date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 of the restricted stock
awards that we granted to the non-employee directors during 2017 pursuant to our 2014 Equity and Incentive Plan. Our assumptions
with respect to the FASB ASC Topic 718 valuation of these equity awards are described in the footnotes to our audited financial
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017. Additional information with respect to these restricted stock awards is set
forth above under the heading "Annual Restricted Stock Grant." Outstanding unvested restricted stock awards as of December 31,
2017 were as follows: 4,481 shares for each of directors Arzbaecher, Davisson, Hagge, Johnson, Kuhbach, Noonan, Schmitt and
Wagler; 3,971 shares for each of directors Eaves and Toelle; and 7,468 shares for Chairman Furbacher.

(3)
Amounts in this column represent dividends on restricted stock.

(4)
Messrs. Eaves and Toelle were elected to the Board in July 2017 and, therefore, their fee amounts reflect the partial year they served
on the Board.
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 COMMON STOCK OWNERSHIP
 COMMON STOCK OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

The following table sets forth information, as of March 19, 2018, concerning the beneficial ownership of each person known to us to beneficially
own more than 5% of our common stock. The information in the table and the related notes is based on statements filed by the respective
beneficial owners with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13(d) and 13(g) under the Exchange Act.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner
Amount and Nature of
Beneficial Ownership(1) Percent of Class(2)

BlackRock, Inc.
55 East 52nd Street
New York, New York 10055

19,900,981(3) 8.5%

Capital World Investors
333 South Hope Street
Los Angeles, California 90071

20,613,503(4) 8.8%

FMR LLC
245 Summer Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02210

22,152,237(5) 9.5%

T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.
100 E. Pratt Street
Baltimore, Maryland 21202

23,608,334(6) 10.1%

The Vanguard Group, Inc.
100 Vanguard Blvd.
Malvern, Pennsylvania 19355

24,709,430(7) 10.6%

(1)
Unless otherwise indicated, beneficial ownership consists of sole power to vote or direct the vote and sole power to dispose or direct
the disposition of the shares listed.

(2)
Unless otherwise indicated, percentages calculated based upon common stock outstanding as of March 19, 2018 and beneficial
ownership of common stock as set forth in the statements on Schedule 13G filed by the respective beneficial owners with the SEC.

(3)
Based solely on a Schedule 13G (Amendment No. 10), dated January 24, 2018 and filed with the SEC on January 29, 2018, by
BlackRock, Inc. ("BlackRock"). BlackRock reports beneficial ownership of shares by its direct and indirect subsidiaries, including
BlackRock Life Limited, BlackRock International Limited, BlackRock Advisors, LLC, BlackRock Capital Management, Inc.,
BlackRock (Netherlands) B.V., BlackRock Institutional Trust Company, National Association, BlackRock Asset Management Ireland
Limited, BlackRock Financial Management, Inc., BlackRock Japan Co., Ltd., BlackRock Asset Management Schweiz AG, BlackRock
Investment Management, LLC, BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Limited, BlackRock Asset Management Canada Limited,
BlackRock Asset Management Deutschland AG, BlackRock (Luxembourg) S.A., BlackRock Investment Management (Australia)
Limited, BlackRock Advisors (UK) Limited, BlackRock Fund Advisors, BlackRock Asset Management North Asia Limited, and
BlackRock Fund Managers Ltd. These BlackRock entities have sole power to vote or to direct the vote of 17,914,213 shares of
common stock and sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of 19,900,981 shares of common stock.
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(4)
Based solely on a Schedule 13G, dated February 8, 2018 and filed with the SEC on February 14, 2018, by Capital World Investors.
Capital World Investors has sole power to vote or to direct the vote of 20,608,799 shares of common stock and sole power to dispose
or to direct the disposition of all 20,613,503 shares of common stock. Capital Word Investors disclaimed beneficial ownership
pursuant to Rule 13d-4.

(5)
Based solely on a Schedule 13G (Amendment No. 6), dated February 13, 2018 and filed with the SEC on February 13, 2018, by
FMR LLC ("FMR") and Abigail P. Johnson, a Director, the Chairman, and the Chief Executive Officer of FMR. FMR reports
beneficial ownership of shares by its direct and indirect subsidiaries, including FIAM, LLC, Fidelity Institutional Asset Management
Trust Company, Fidelity Management & Research Company, FMR Co., Inc., and Strategic Advisers, Inc. These FMR entities have
sole power to vote or to direct the vote of 1,836,309 shares of common stock and sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of
all 22,152,237 shares of common stock.

(6)
Based solely on a Schedule 13G (Amendment No. 2), dated February 14, 2018 and filed with the SEC on February 14, 2018, by T.
Rowe Price Associates, Inc. ("T. Rowe Price"). T. Rowe Price has sole power to vote or to direct the vote of 9,252,884 shares of
common stock and sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of 23,572,534 shares of common stock.

(7)
Based solely on a Schedule 13G (Amendment No. 8), dated February 7, 2018 and filed with the SEC on February 8, 2018, by The
Vanguard Group, Inc. ("Vanguard"). Vanguard reports beneficial ownership of shares of itself, Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company, a
wholly-owned subsidiary, and Vanguard Investments Australia, Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary. These Vanguard entities have sole
power to vote or to direct the vote of 319,832 shares of common stock, shared power to vote or to direct the vote of 54,768 shares of
common stock, sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of 24,346,348 shares of common stock, and shared power to dispose
or to direct the disposition of 363,082 shares of common stock.
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 COMMON STOCK OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information, as of March 19, 2018, concerning the beneficial ownership of our common stock by:

�
each director and each of our named executive officers; and

�
all directors and executive officers as a group.

Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership(1)

Name of Beneficial Owner

Shares of
Common Stock

Owned
Directly or
Indirectly(2)

Shares of
Common Stock
that can be

Acquired within
60 Days(3)

Total Shares of
Common Stock

Percent of
Class

Robert C. Arzbaecher(4) 114,139 � 114,139 *
William Davisson 35,059 � 35,059 *
John W. Eaves 3,971 � 3,971 *
Stephen A. Furbacher 50,854 � 50,854 *
Stephen J. Hagge 33,039 � 33,039 *
John D. Johnson 76,419 � 76,419 *
Robert G. Kuhbach 30,184 � 30,184 *
Anne P. Noonan 13,687 � 13,687 *
Edward A. Schmitt 58,704 � 58,704 *
Michael J. Toelle 3,971 � 3,971 *
Theresa E. Wagler 13,099 � 13,099 *
W. Anthony Will(5) 167,969 864,970 1,032,939 *
Dennis P. Kelleher 32,856 339,111 371,967 *
Douglas C. Barnard(5) 51,173 350,272 401,445 *
Christopher D. Bohn 25,579 162,684 188,263 *
Bert A. Frost 37,550 377,139 414,689 *
All directors and executive officers as a group (21 persons) 823,188 2,473,163 3,296,351 1%

*
Less than 1%

(1)
Unless otherwise indicated, beneficial ownership consists of sole power to vote or direct the vote and sole power to dispose or direct
the disposition of the shares listed, either individually or jointly or in common with the individual's spouse, subject to community
property laws where applicable.

(2)
The shares indicated include 4,481 shares of restricted stock for each of directors Arzbaecher, Davisson, Hagge, Johnson, Kuhbach,
Noonan, Schmitt and Wagler; 3,971 shares of restricted stock for each of directors Eaves and Toelle; and 7,468 shares of restricted
stock for Chairman Furbacher, in each case granted under our 2014 Equity and Incentive Plan, that have not yet vested. These shares
of restricted stock can be voted during the vesting period. The table does not include restricted stock units or performance vesting
restricted stock units granted to our executive officers under our 2014 Equity and Incentive Plan, as these awards cannot be voted
during the vesting period.

(3)
The shares indicated in this column represent shares underlying stock options granted under our 2005 Equity and Incentive Plan, our
2009 Equity and Incentive Plan or our 2014 Equity and Incentive Plan that have already vested or that will vest within 60 days. The
shares underlying these stock options cannot be voted.
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(4)
The shares indicated include 18,565 shares held by the Arzbaecher Family Foundation and 275 shares held by Mr. Arzbaecher's
children, for which Mr. Arzbaecher disclaims beneficial ownership.

(5)
Messrs. Will and Barnard each also hold, respectively, 16,754 and 13,369 additional "phantom" shares as a deemed investment under
our Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan (a non-qualified benefits restoration and deferred compensation plan). These phantom
shares cannot be voted.

 SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING
COMPLIANCE
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and officers and persons who own more than 10% of our common stock to file reports
of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC and the NYSE, and to furnish us with copies of the reports. Specific due dates for these
reports have been established and we are required to report in this Proxy Statement any failure by directors, officers, and ten percent holders to
file such reports on a timely basis. Based on our review of such reports and written representations from our directors and officers, we believe
that all such filing requirements were timely met during 2017, with the exception of one Form 4 for Mr. Furbacher that was filed one day late
with respect to a single transaction involving the sale of shares due to a delay in receipt of broker information as a result of the Thanksgiving
holiday.
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 POLICY REGARDING RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
We recognize that transactions with related persons can present potential or actual conflicts of interest and create the appearance that our
decisions are based on considerations other than the best interests of the company and its stockholders. Accordingly, as a general matter, it is our
preference to avoid such transactions.

Nevertheless, we recognize that there are situations where related person transactions may be in, or not inconsistent with, the best interests of the
company and its stockholders, including but not limited to situations where we may obtain products or services of a nature, quantity, or quality,
or on other terms, that are not readily available from alternative sources, or when we provide products or services to related persons on an arm's
length basis on terms comparable to those provided to unrelated third parties or on terms comparable to those provided to employees generally.

In order to deal with the potential conflicts inherent in such transactions, our audit committee has adopted a written policy regarding related
person transactions. For the purposes of this policy, a "related person transaction" is a transaction, arrangement, or relationship (or any series of
similar transactions, arrangements, or relationships) in which the company was, is, or will be a participant and the amount involved exceeds
$120,000, and in which any related person had, has, or will have a direct or indirect material interest, other than (a) transactions where the rates
or charges involved in the transaction are determined by competitive bids, or the transaction involves the rendering of services as a common or
contract carrier, or public utility, at rates or charges fixed in conformity with law or governmental authority; (b) transactions involving services
as a bank depositary of funds, transfer agent, registrar, or trustee under a trust indenture, or similar services; (c) transactions in which the interest
of the related person derives solely from his or her service as a director of another entity that is a party to the transaction; or (d) transactions in
which the interest of the related person derives solely from his or her ownership of less than 10% of the equity interest in another entity (other
than a general partnership interest) which is a party to the transaction.

In addition, transactions involving the purchase of products or services (other than personal or professional services) from an entity for which a
director of the company or an immediate family member of a director serves as an executive officer shall not be considered to involve a material
interest on the part of such director (and therefore shall not be considered related person transactions) if (i) the director did not participate in the
decision on the part of the company to enter into such transactions, (ii) the transactions are made in the ordinary course of business and on
substantially the same terms as those prevailing at the time for transactions with other unrelated third parties, and (iii) the amount paid in all
transactions with any such entity in a twelve-month period is less than the greater of $500,000 or 1% of such entity's consolidated gross revenues
for the most recently completed fiscal year for which data is publicly available.

For purposes of the policy, a "related person" means:

�
any person who is, or at any time since the beginning of our last fiscal year was, a director or executive officer of the company or a
nominee to become a director of the company;

�
any person who is known to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of any class of our voting securities;

�
any immediate family member of any of the foregoing persons; and

�
any firm, corporation, or other entity in which any of the foregoing persons is employed or is a general partner or principal or in a
similar position or in which such person has a 5% or greater beneficial ownership interest.
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Except as described below with respect to certain commercial transactions in the ordinary course of business, any proposed transaction with a
related person shall be consummated or amended only if the following steps are taken:

�
The general counsel will assess whether the proposed transaction is a related person transaction for purposes of this policy.

�
If the general counsel determines that the proposed transaction is a related person transaction, the proposed transaction shall be
submitted to the audit committee for consideration at the next committee meeting or, in those instances in which the general counsel,
in consultation with the chief executive officer or the chief financial officer, determines that it is not practicable or desirable for us to
wait until the next committee meeting, to the chair of the audit committee (who has been delegated authority to act between committee
meetings).

�
The audit committee, or where submitted to the chair of the committee, the chair, shall consider all of the relevant facts and
circumstances available to the committee or the chair, including (if applicable) but not limited to: (i) the benefits to the company;
(ii) the impact on a director's independence in the event the related person is a director, an immediate family member of a director, or
an entity in which a director is a partner, stockholder, or executive officer; (iii) the availability of other suppliers or customers for
comparable products or services; (iv) the terms of the transaction; and (v) the terms available to unrelated third parties or to employees
generally.

�
The audit committee (or the audit committee chair) shall approve only those related person transactions that are in, or are not
inconsistent with, the best interests of the company and its stockholders, as the committee (or the audit committee chair) determines in
good faith.

�
The audit committee or the audit committee chair, as applicable, shall convey the decision to the general counsel, who shall convey the
decision to the appropriate persons within the company.

At the audit committee's first meeting of each fiscal year, the committee shall review any previously approved related person transactions that
remain ongoing and have a remaining term of more than six months or remaining amounts payable to or receivable from the company of more
than $120,000. Based on all relevant facts and circumstances, taking into consideration the company's contractual obligations, the committee
shall determine if it is in the best interests of the company and its stockholders to continue, modify, or terminate the related person transaction.

FMR and certain of its direct and indirect subsidiaries (collectively, "Fidelity") own in the aggregate more than 5% of our outstanding common
stock and, therefore, are considered related persons under our policy regarding related person transactions. We have agreements in place for
Fidelity to provide administrative and trustee services for the company's 401(k) and deferred compensation plans. During 2017, Fidelity earned
approximately $123,000 from us and approximately $81,000 from plan participants for these services. At its first meeting in 2018, the audit
committee reviewed and approved the transactions with, and ongoing administrative services from, Fidelity in accordance with our policy.

No member of the audit committee shall participate in any review, consideration, or approval of any related person transaction with respect to
which such member or any of his or her immediate family members is the related person.

Sales of our products and services to related persons in the ordinary course of business, at prices and on terms consistent with those offered to
similarly situated customers in our industry in transactions between unaffiliated parties will generally not be subject to the approval procedures
described above; provided, however, that any (i) modification or amendment of a multi-year supply contract or (ii) entry into, modification, or
amendment of a similar long-term supply contract with any related person will be subject to the same procedures under this policy as are
applicable to any other related person transactions.
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 PROPOSAL 2: ADVISORY VOTE ON COMPENSATION OF
NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS ("SAY ON PAY")
Pursuant to Section 14A of the Exchange Act, our stockholders are entitled to an advisory (non-binding) vote to approve the compensation of
our named executive officers as disclosed in this Proxy Statement, including in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 34
and the Executive Compensation tables and accompanying narrative discussion beginning on page 64. This proposal is commonly referred to as
a "Say on Pay" proposal.

The Board and the compensation committee believe that the compensation of the executive officers named in this Proxy Statement is appropriate
and in the best interests of our stockholders. As discussed in more detail in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 34,
our compensation programs are intended to (i) align the interests of our officers with those of our stockholders, (ii) permit the company to
remain competitive in the market for highly qualified management personnel, and (iii) provide appropriate incentives for attainment of both our
short-term and long-term goals. We have instituted stock ownership guidelines and an incentive compensation "clawback" policy to encourage
appropriate levels of risk taking by our management. We continue to provide for significant levels of "at risk" performance-based compensation,
which further aligns executive and stockholder interests. For example, commencing in 2014, we began granting 20% of named executive
officers' annual long-term incentive equity awards as performance vesting restricted stock units ("PRSUs"). In order to further align pay delivery
with long-term performance and to reflect trends in executive compensation generally, beginning with 2018 grants for named executive officers,
the compensation committee increased the percentage of the total long-term incentive award value allocated to PRSUs to 60%, increased the
percentage allocated to time-vesting restricted stock units ("RSUs") to 40% and eliminated stock option awards. We regularly review (along
with outside compensation consultants) our incentive compensation programs to ensure compatibility with our compensation philosophy.
Accordingly, we are asking you to vote FOR the adoption of the following resolution:

"RESOLVED, that the stockholders of CF Industries Holdings, Inc. approve the compensation of the CF Industries Holdings, Inc.'s
named executive officers, as disclosed pursuant to the compensation disclosure rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission,
including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, compensation tables and related narrative discussion."

As an advisory vote, this proposal is not binding on the company. Although the vote is non-binding, the Board and the compensation committee
value the opinions of our stockholders and will consider the outcome of the vote when making future compensation decisions for our named
executive officers.

We currently hold our advisory "Say on Pay" proposal every year. Therefore, the next advisory "Say on Pay" proposal would be held at our 2019
annual meeting. Stockholders will have an opportunity to cast an advisory vote on the frequency of "Say on Pay" proposals at least every six
years. We currently expect that the next advisory vote on the frequency of the "Say on Pay" proposals will occur at the 2023 annual meeting of
stockholders.

 BOARD RECOMMENDATION

The Board unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the Say on Pay proposal.

31

Edgar Filing: SUNTRON CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 64



Table of Contents

 EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Set forth below is certain biographical information for our executive officers other than Mr. Will (whose biographical information appears above
under the heading "Director Nominee Biographies"). Each of our executive officers has also served in the comparable officer positions with
TNGP as he or she has held with CF Industries since April 2010, other than Mr. Hopkins. The ages of our executive officers are as of March 29,
2018.

Douglas C. Barnard (age 59) has served as our senior vice president, general counsel, and secretary since January 2012 and was previously our
vice president, general counsel, and secretary from January 2004 to December 2011. Mr. Barnard has served as a director of TNGP since June
2010 and as chairman of the board of TNGP since February 2016. Prior to joining CF Industries in January 2004, Mr. Barnard had been an
executive vice president and general counsel of Bcom3 Group, Inc., an advertising and marketing communication services group. Earlier in his
career Mr. Barnard was a partner in the law firm of Kirkland & Ellis LLP and, prior to that, a vice president, general counsel, and secretary of
LifeStyle Furnishings International Ltd., a manufacturer and distributor of residential furniture and decorative fabrics. He holds a B.S. degree
from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology ("M.I.T"), a J.D. degree from the University of Minnesota, and an M.B.A. degree from the
University of Chicago. Mr. Barnard has also taught as a lecturer at the University of Chicago Law School, and serves as a member of the M.I.T
Corporation Development Committee.

Christopher D. Bohn (age 50) has served as our senior vice president, manufacturing and distribution, since May 2016. He was previously our
senior vice president, manufacturing, from January 2016 to May 2016, our senior vice president, supply chain, from January 2015 to December
2015, our vice president, supply chain, from January 2014 to December 2014, our vice president, corporate planning, from October 2010 to
January 2014 and our director, corporate planning and analysis, from September 2009 to October 2010. Mr. Bohn has also served as a director of
TNGP since February 2016. Prior to joining CF Industries, Mr. Bohn served as chief financial officer for Hess Print Solutions from August 2007
to September 2009. Earlier in his career, Mr. Bohn was vice president global financial planning and analysis for Merisant Worldwide, Inc. He
holds a B.S. degree in finance from Indiana University and an M.M. degree (M.B.A.) from the Kellogg Graduate School of Management at
Northwestern University.

Bert A. Frost (age 53) has served as our senior vice president, sales, market development, and supply chain, since May 2016. He was previously
our senior vice president, sales, distribution, and market development, from May 2014 to May 2016, our senior vice president, sales and market
development, from January 2012 to May 2014, and our vice president, sales and market development, from January 2009 to December 2011.
Before joining CF Industries in November 2008, Mr. Frost spent over 13 years with Archer Daniels Midland Company, where he served most
recently as Managing Director�International Fertilizer/Inputs from June 2008 to November 2008 and Director�Fertilizer, Logistics and Ports
Divisions, ADM�Brazil from April 2000 to June 2008. Earlier in his career, Mr. Frost held positions of increasing responsibility at Archer
Daniels Midland and Koch Industries, Inc. He holds a B.S. degree from Kansas State University and he is a graduate of the Harvard Business
School's Advanced Management Program.

Adam Hall (age 43) has served as our vice president, corporate development, since June 2013. Before joining CF Industries, Mr. Hall spent
4 years with Bunge Limited, where he served as executive director, corporate strategy and development, from August 2010 to May 2013, where
he led global strategy, mergers and acquisitions and the development of new growth initiatives, and director of global strategy and business
development, sugar and bioenergy, from August 2009 to August 2010. Prior to his most recent role with Bunge, he worked in a number of
countries in positions with several international companies, including, as a manager at Bain & Company, a global management consulting firm,
from January 2008 to August 2009, and as a consultant at LEK Consulting, a global strategy consulting firm, from February 1999 to May 2002.
Mr. Hall began his career as a corporate attorney with the law firm
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of Clayton Utz in Perth, Australia. He earned undergraduate degrees in law and commerce from the University of Western Australia and an
M.B.A. degree from Harvard Business School.

Richard A. Hoker (age 53) has served as our vice president and corporate controller since November 2007. Mr. Hoker has also served as a
director of TNGP since January 2014 and previously served as a director of TNGP from September 2010 to August 2011. Before joining CF
Industries, Mr. Hoker spent over 11 years with Sara Lee Corporation, where he served most recently as vice president and controller from
January 2007 to November 2007 and principal accounting officer from July 2007 to November 2007. Prior to being named controller, Mr. Hoker
held other financial management positions of increasing responsibility at Sara Lee. Prior to joining Sara Lee, Mr. Hoker was a member of the
financial advisory services consulting group at Coopers & Lybrand LLP in Chicago (now PricewaterhouseCoopers) and previously led teams in
the firm's audit practice. Mr. Hoker holds a B.S. degree in accounting from DePaul University and an M.B.A. degree in finance and accounting
from the University of Chicago. He is a certified public accountant.

David P. Hopkins (age 61) has served as our managing director, CF Fertilisers UK, since October 2015. He was previously our director, sales,
from July 2010 to October 2015. Mr. Hopkins was director of sales for Terra Industries, which was acquired by CF Industries, from September
2006 to July 2010 and director of industrial sales at Terra Nitrogen, UK from January 1999 to September 2006. Mr. Hopkins has a degree in
Agriculture from Reading University and a Diploma in Company Direction from the Institute of Directors in London.

Dennis P. Kelleher (age 53) has served as our senior vice president and chief financial officer since August 2011. Mr. Kelleher has also served
as a director of TNGP since August 2011. Before joining CF Industries, Mr. Kelleher served as vice president, portfolio and strategy for BP plc's
upstream business. From 2007 to 2010, Mr. Kelleher served as chief financial officer for Pan American Energy LLC. From 2005 to 2007,
Mr. Kelleher served as vice president, planning and performance management for BP plc's upstream business. Mr. Kelleher was employed as a
senior accountant at Arthur Andersen & Co. early in his career. He holds a B.S. degree in accountancy from the University of Illinois and an
M.M. degree (M.B.A.) from the Kellogg Graduate School of Management at Northwestern University. He is a certified public accountant.

Susan L. Menzel (age 52) has served as our senior vice president, human resources, since October 2017. Prior to joining CF Industries,
Ms. Menzel served as executive vice president, human resources, for CNO Financial Group, Inc. from May 2005 to September 2017. Prior to
CNO Financial Group, she served as senior vice president, human resources for APAC Customer Services, Inc., and in roles of increasing
responsibility for Sears, Roebuck & Company and Montgomery Ward, Inc. Ms. Menzel holds a bachelor's degree in business administration and
economics from Augustana College.

Rosemary O'Brien (age 66) has served as our vice president, public affairs, since 1984, following key management roles in CF Industries' public
affairs area. Ms. O'Brien joined the company in 1978, following service with the National Council of Farmer Cooperatives. She holds a B.A.
degree in Education/History from the University of New Hampshire and an M.B.A. from American University.
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 COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
This discussion provides you with a detailed description of our compensation program for our named executive officers. It also provides an
overview of our compensation philosophy and our policies and programs, which are designed to achieve our compensation objectives.

 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Compensation Committee

The compensation committee oversees our compensation and employee benefit plans and practices. The committee is composed of seven
independent non-employee directors and operates under a written charter adopted by the Board. For more information on the compensation
committee, please see "Corporate Governance�Committees of the Board�Compensation Committee" on page 19.

CF Industries Named Executive Officers

Our named executive officers for 2017 were:

�
W. Anthony Will, President and Chief Executive Officer,

�
Dennis P. Kelleher, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,

�
Douglas C. Barnard, Senior Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary,

�
Christopher D. Bohn, Senior Vice President, Manufacturing and Distribution, and

�
Bert A. Frost, Senior Vice President, Sales, Market Development, and Supply Chain.

For the biographies of our named executive officers and our other executive officers, please see "Executive Officers" on page 32.

Our Business

CF Industries is a leading global fertilizer and chemical company with outstanding operational capabilities and a highly cost advantaged
production and distribution platform. Our 3,000 employees operate world-class manufacturing complexes in Canada, the United Kingdom and
the United States. Our customers include both agricultural and industrial users of our products. Our principal nitrogen products are ammonia,
granular urea, urea ammonium nitrate solution, and ammonium nitrate. We also manufacture diesel exhaust fluid, urea liquor, nitric acid, and
aqua ammonia, which are sold primarily to industrial customers, and compound fertilizer products, which are solid granular fertilizer products
for which the nutrient content is a combination of nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium. We serve our customers in North America through an
unparalleled production, storage, transportation and distribution network. We also reach a global customer base with exports from our
Donaldsonville, Louisiana, plant, the world's largest and most flexible nitrogen complex. Additionally, we move product to international
destinations from our Yazoo City, Mississippi, facility, our Billingham and Ince facilities in the United Kingdom, and from a joint venture
ammonia facility in the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago in which we own a 50 percent interest.

For more information on our business, see "Item 1.�Business" and "Item 7.�Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" in our 2017 Annual Report.
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Executive Compensation Highlights

The compensation committee took the following compensation actions with respect to our named executive officers during 2017 or related to
2017 performance:

�
In December 2016, the compensation committee approved base salaries and target annual incentives for 2017 that were unchanged
from those in effect for 2016 due to target annual compensation being in line with the reference group of 18 similar companies in
related industries against which we compare our compensation (our "Industry Reference Group") and the overall general industry
survey data and in recognition of industry market conditions at the time. For 2017, the committee determined to use EBITDA (defined
below), adjusted EBITDA (defined below) and relative adjusted EBITDA growth as the performance metrics for determining
short-term incentive payments. See "2017 Cash Compensation" below for more information. Additional information regarding our
Industry Reference Group is set forth below under the heading "Industry Reference Group."

�
In early 2017, the compensation committee reviewed our long-term incentive program and granted long-term incentive awards to our
named executive officers. The committee determined that the long-term incentive awards to our named executive officers for 2017
would be composed of 60% stock options, 20% time-vesting restricted stock units ("RSUs") and 20% performance vesting restricted
stock units ("PRSUs"). See "2017 Long-term Incentives" below for more information.

The following graphs illustrate the mix of total target compensation for our chief executive officer and for the other named executive
officers for 2017:

�
In addition to the long-term incentive awards granted to our named executive officers in connection with setting the officers' target
compensation for 2017, the compensation committee awarded the named executive officers additional RSUs as a supplemental
performance alignment award. See "2017 Long-term Incentives�Supplemental Performance Alignment Awards" below for more
information. If the values of these supplemental grants had been included in the above pie charts, the percentage of total target
compensation represented by long-term incentives would be higher than the percentages reflected above (69% in the case of our chief
executive officer and 58% in the case of the average of the other named executive officers).

�
The compensation committee recently determined that each of our named executive officers earned 126% of the executive's target
opportunity with respect to the executive's annual incentive award for 2017, as described below under "Approval of Annual Incentive
Payments for 2017."

�
In addition, the three-year performance period for PRSU awards granted in 2015 ended on December 31, 2017. In accordance with our
pay-for-performance philosophy, because our total shareholder return ("TSR") performance over the three-year performance period
did not achieve at least the 25th percentile of the S&P 500 Index, these PRSU awards resulted in no payout and no
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dividend equivalents, as described below under "Determination of 2015-2017 Performance Period PRSU Awards."

The compensation committee has also approved compensation levels for our named executive officers for 2018, including base salaries, target
annual incentive awards, and long-term incentive awards. The base salaries and target annual incentives approved for 2018 remain unchanged
from those in effect for 2016 and 2017 due to target annual compensation continuing to be in line with our Industry Reference Group and the
overall general industry survey data and in recognition of industry market conditions at the time. With respect to long-term incentive awards, in
order to further align pay delivery with long-term performance and to reflect trends in executive compensation generally, beginning with 2018
grants for the named executive officers, the compensation committee increased the percentage of the total award value allocated to PRSUs to
60%, increased the percentage allocated to RSUs to 40% and eliminated stock option awards. See "2018 Compensation" below for further
information.

Stockholder Feedback on Compensation Practices

Our compensation committee carefully considers feedback from our stockholders regarding the compensation program for our named executive
officers. At each of our last seven annual meetings of stockholders (beginning in 2011 when the first Say on Pay vote was held), greater than
90% of the votes cast on the Say on Pay proposal at the particular meeting were voted in favor of the proposal. The compensation committee
believes this affirms stockholders' support of CF Industries' approach to executive compensation for its named executive officers, and did not
change its approach for 2017 in response to the outcome of prior Say on Pay votes. The compensation committee will continue to consider the
outcome of our stockholders' Say on Pay votes when making future compensation decisions for the named executive officers.

 DEVELOPMENT OF COMPENSATION APPROACH AND OBJECTIVES

On an ongoing basis, the compensation committee reviews our compensation policies relative to market competitiveness and the needs of our
business and then determines what changes in the compensation program, if any, are appropriate.

 COMPENSATION PHILOSOPHY

Our compensation committee has adopted a compensation philosophy that seeks to align the interests of our employees and our stockholders
through focusing on the total compensation (base salary, short-term incentives, long-term incentives, and benefits) of our employees, including
our named executive officers. We seek to benefit from this strategy by attracting key talent, retaining best performers, increasing productivity,
and maximizing operational and financial results, while also implementing compensation programs that are cost effective and sustainable across
business cycles.

Our goal is to provide direct compensation that is market competitive with other comparable companies. To obtain a general understanding of
current compensation practices, the compensation committee received in 2017 a market assessment from its outside compensation consultant,
Exequity LLP ("Exequity"), that was derived from published survey compensation data, which Exequity adjusted for variations in revenue
among the included companies. To further gauge the competitiveness of our total compensation offering, we also compare ourselves against our
Industry Reference Group, which is a group of 18 similar companies in related industries. Additional information regarding this group of
companies is set forth below under the heading "Industry Reference Group."

Incentive opportunities are structured in a way that recognizes our cyclicality and emphasis on a team-based culture.
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 COMPONENTS OF COMPENSATION

The following compensation elements support the needs of the business, our stockholders, and our employees:

​ ​ ​ ​
​ ​​ ​​​​ ​​
​Component ​ ​ Key Characteristics and Rationale ​
​ ​​ ​​​​ ​​

​

Salary ​

​

�

We seek to pay salaries in line with individual performance and contribution to company goals. ​

​

​

​

�

In the aggregate, base salaries are targeted around the median of the peer group companies in our Industry
Reference Group and the overall market from the outside compensation consultant's market assessment.
Individual performance, relative criticality of the individual position in relation to achievement of the
company's goals, and business affordability are also considered in determining base salaries. ​

​

​

​

�

To maintain our desired market position, we conduct annual salary reviews. ​
​ ​​ ​​ ​​ ​​ 

​

Short-Term Incentives ​

​

�

Variable compensation component that provides executive officers and other employees with the
opportunity to earn additional annual cash compensation beyond base salary. ​

​

​

​

�

The role of short-term incentives is to reward and encourage the achievement of annual financial results
and other specified corporate performance goals. ​

​

​

​

�

Short-term incentives are also targeted around the market median, and achievement of these awards
depends on attaining corporate performance goals. ​

​

​

​

�

For 2017, the short-term incentive was subject to achievement of a specified threshold level of EBITDA. If
the threshold level of EBITDA was achieved, then the amount of the actual incentive earned would be
determined based on our level of achievement of two secondary performance metrics: 75% based on our
level of achievement of adjusted EBITDA and 25% based upon the percentage change in our adjusted
EBITDA for 2017 relative to the performance of a comparison group of other chemical companies, as
described below under the heading "Review of the Short-term Incentive Program." ​

​ ​​ ​​ ​​ ​​

​

Long-Term Incentives ​

​

�

Variable compensation component that focuses on enterprise value creation and employee retention.
Long-term incentives are provided through annual stock-based awards. ​

​

​

​

�

Our plans allow the use of stock options, full-value share-based awards (such as the RSUs and PRSUs
granted to our named executive officers), and cash-based awards. ​

​ ​​ ​​ ​​ ​​
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​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 
Component Key Characteristics and Rationale

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
�

Participation is extended to executive officers and other key employees.
Distribution guidelines with award ranges related to position responsibility
levels are updated annually. The guidelines allow for individual variation in
long-term incentives based on performance level, potential contribution, and
value to the business.
�

In general, long-term incentives for our executive officers are targeted between
the market median and the 75th percentile of the peer group companies in our
Industry Reference Group and the overall market from the outside compensation
consultant's market assessment.
�

Long-term incentive awards granted to our named executive officers in
connection with setting target compensation for 2017 were based on a specified
cash value, which amount was split among three different award types�60%
stock options, 20% RSUs, and 20% PRSUs�as described below under the
heading "2017 Long-term Incentives." In order to further align pay delivery
with long-term performance and to reflect trends in executive compensation
generally, beginning with 2018 grants for the named executive officers, the
compensation committee increased the percentage of the total long-term
incentive award value allocated to PRSUs to 60%, increased the percentage
allocated to RSUs to 40% and eliminated stock option awards as described
below under the heading "2018 Compensation."
�

In addition to the long-term incentive awards granted to our named executive
officers in connection with setting target compensation for 2017, the
compensation committee awarded the named executive officers additional RSUs
as a supplemental performance alignment award as described below under the
heading "2017 Long-term Incentives�Supplemental Performance Alignment
Awards."

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 
Benefit, Retirement and Severance �

Plans offer coverage at market-competitive levels.
Plans �

We seek to keep health and welfare benefit plans simple in scope and range,
focusing on critical employee needs.
�

Retirement plans are intended to support employees in attaining financial
security for the future.
�

Severance plans are intended to provide employees with a temporary income
source following termination (other than for cause), including in the case of a
change in control to ensure continuity of management while such an event is
pending.

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 

Edgar Filing: SUNTRON CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 72



38

Edgar Filing: SUNTRON CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 73



Table of Contents

 ALLOCATION OF COMPENSATION ELEMENTS

We provide a mixture of cash compensation and non-cash compensation to our named executive officers. The cash portion consists primarily of
base salaries and short-term incentive awards. The non-cash portion consists primarily of stock-based long-term incentive awards.

We have not established any target allocation between cash and non-cash compensation or between short-term and long-term incentives for our
named executive officers as a group. Instead, our allocation is based primarily on competitive market practices and the respective median levels
by position for base salaries, annual incentive awards, and long-term incentive awards.

In addition to using benchmark survey data, we also consider internal factors that may cause us to adjust particular elements of an individual
executive officer's compensation. These factors may include an individual's operating responsibilities, management level, and tenure and
performance in the position. To assist in its evaluation, our compensation committee reviews the details of an executive's historical and proposed
compensation as described below, including a review of our named executive officers' existing base salaries and target annual incentive levels in
connection with the approval of their new base salaries and target annual incentive levels for the following year. In addition, four times per year
the compensation committee reviews reports regarding our named executive officers' holdings and transactions involving our stock, including
our named executive officers' holdings of stock and long-term stock-based incentive awards, stock option exercises, purchases, sales and gifts of
stock, and surrenders of vested shares of restricted stock in order to satisfy withholding tax requirements, as applicable.

We generally do not consider accounting and tax issues in setting compensation levels or in establishing the particular elements of
compensation. As discussed below, however, when our compensation committee grants awards under our long-term incentive program, the
committee does consider the accounting for various stock-based incentives under FASB ASC Topic 718 and the tax treatment of such incentive
awards under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. However, on December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act")
became law, significantly amending Section 162(m). The Tax Act eliminated the performance-based compensation exception with respect to tax
years beginning January 1, 2018, but included a transition rule with respect to compensation that is provided pursuant to a written binding
contract in effect on November 2, 2017 and not materially modified after that date. Accordingly, commencing in 2018, the company's tax
deduction with regard to compensation of covered employees generally will be limited to $1 million per taxable year for each officer. We will
generally seek to preserve the deductibility of performance-based compensation by meeting the requirements of Section 162(m), as amended by
the Tax Act, in accordance with the transition rule applicable to binding contract in effect on November 2, 2017, to the extent practicable and in
the best interests of CF Industries and its stockholders.

Our allocation among base salary, short-term incentives, and long-term incentives varies significantly by management level, reflecting
individual responsibility levels and competitive market practices. In general, our more senior executive officers receive a greater percentage of
their total expected compensation in the form of incentives (particularly long-term incentives) and a correspondingly lower percentage in the
form of salary.

 ROLE OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The Board has adopted a written charter for our compensation committee, which is available to stockholders at our corporate website,
www.cfindustries.com, or by writing to our corporate secretary at the address on the Notice of Annual Meeting accompanying this Proxy
Statement.

The Board makes compensation decisions for our non-employee directors, acting on the recommendation of the compensation committee, and
the committee makes compensation decisions for
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our executive officers, giving consideration to the recommendations of our chief executive officer with respect to the executive officers other
than himself.

The chair of the compensation committee sets the agenda for committee meetings, with the assistance of our chief executive officer, our senior
vice president of human resources, and our corporate secretary. These executive officers also attend meetings of the compensation committee. At
each meeting that is held in person, the compensation committee members also meet in executive session without any members of management
present unless the committee determines that no executive session is necessary.

The compensation committee has authority under its charter to retain, approve fees for, and terminate advisors, consultants, and agents as it
deems necessary to assist in the fulfillment of its responsibilities. Pursuant to this authority, the compensation committee has engaged an
independent executive compensation consulting firm to assist the committee in making recommendations and decisions regarding compensation
for our directors and executive officers. The compensation committee also meets regularly with its compensation consultant in executive
sessions without management present. Exequity served as compensation consultant for 2017. See "Compensation Consultant Matters" below for
additional information. Our senior vice president of human resources also supports the compensation committee in its duties.

From time to time, the compensation committee may delegate to our chief executive officer, our senior vice president of human resources, or our
corporate secretary the authority to implement certain decisions of the committee or to fulfill certain administrative duties.

 ROLE OF THE COMPENSATION CONSULTANT

In 2017, the compensation committee authorized its compensation consultant, Exequity, to work with our human resources department to
compare the compensation we pay to our executive officers with compensation paid to comparable executive officers at peer companies in our
Industry Reference Group and the overall market based on surveys that reflect comparative data of compensation paid to executives in similar
positions as our executive officers, and to make compensation recommendations based on market and industry practices.

In connection with its annual review of the compensation of our non-employee directors, the compensation committee also authorized Exequity
to work with our human resources department to compare the compensation we pay to our non-employee directors with compensation paid to
comparable directors at peer companies in our Industry Reference Group and the overall market based on the 2015-2016 National Association of
Corporate Directors survey on director compensation.

The compensation consultant regularly attends meetings of our compensation committee and makes presentations to our compensation
committee members regarding such materials and recommendations. The compensation committee reviews these materials and
recommendations but exercises independent judgment in determining the compensation payable to our named executive officers. Any
recommendations of the compensation committee with respect to non-employee director compensation are subject to approval by the Board.

 COMPENSATION COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES

Our compensation committee has taken a number of steps designed to enhance its ability to carry out its responsibilities effectively and also to
ensure that we maintain strong links between executive pay and performance. Examples of these actions include:

�
adopting a statement of our compensation philosophy (see "Compensation Philosophy" above);
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�
instituting a practice of holding executive sessions (without management present) at every compensation committee meeting that is
held in person unless the committee determines that no executive session is necessary;

�
retaining an outside compensation consultant to advise the compensation committee on executive compensation issues and meeting
regularly with the compensation consultant in executive sessions without management present (see "Compensation Consultant
Matters" below);

�
adopting stock ownership guidelines for our officers and directors and modifying the guidelines from time to time as appropriate (see
"Stock Ownership Guidelines" below);

�
adopting an industry reference group for use in establishing compensation and incentive levels and modifying the composition of the
group from time to time as appropriate (see "Industry Reference Group" below);

�
reviewing on an annual basis the existing base salaries and target annual incentives for our executive officers and approving changes in
cash compensation levels as appropriate (see "2017 Cash Compensation" below);

�
reviewing on an annual basis our short-term incentive program, modifying the program as appropriate, and granting short-term
incentive awards to our executive officers (see "2017 Cash Compensation" below);

�
reviewing on an annual basis our long-term incentive program, modifying the program as appropriate, and granting long-term
incentive awards to our executive officers, including adding the grant of performance-based awards to the mix of annual awards
granted to our named executive officers commencing in fiscal year 2014 (see "2017 Long-term Incentives" below). In order to further
align pay delivery with long-term performance and to reflect trends in executive compensation generally, beginning with 2018 grants
to our named executive officers, the compensation committee increased the percentage of the total award value allocated to PRSUs to
60%, increased the percentage allocated to RSUs to 40% and eliminated stock option awards (See "2018 Compensation" below);

�
reviewing on an annual basis our change in control, severance, and retirement benefits and modifying these benefits as appropriate
(see "Change in Control, Severance, and Retirement Benefits" below);

�
reviewing on an annual basis "tally sheets" summarizing the total compensation and benefits for our chief executive officer and the
other named executive officers included in the compensation tables of this Proxy Statement under various assumptions and scenarios
(see "Compensation of Chief Executive Officer" below as well as the other above-referenced items);

�
reviewing on an annual basis the potential effects of the various components of our compensation and benefits upon individual and
collective behavior and ultimately our risk profile and approach to risk management (see "Compensation and Benefits Risk Analysis"
below);

�
reviewing on an annual basis the results of our stockholders' last advisory vote to approve the compensation of our named executive
officers and determining if any changes to our executive compensation program are appropriate based on such results (see
"Stockholder Feedback on Compensation Practices" above); and

�
reviewing on an annual basis the compensation of our non-employee directors and recommending that the Board approve changes in
such compensation from time to time as appropriate (see "Director Compensation" above).
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 2017 CASH COMPENSATION

In setting cash compensation levels for 2017, the compensation committee reviewed the base salaries and target annual incentives for our named
executive officers that had been in effect for 2016 and, in December 2016, approved levels for 2017 that were unchanged from those in effect for
2016. The following graphs illustrate the mix of salary versus target annual incentive for our chief executive officer and for the other named
executive officers for 2017.

Review of Existing Compensation Levels

In connection with its review of our existing base salaries and target annual incentives which had been in effect for 2016, the compensation
committee reviewed a report from its outside compensation consultant to obtain a general understanding of current compensation practices. In
performing its market assessment, Exequity used published survey compensation data, and adjusted for variations in revenue among the included
companies.

In addition, the compensation committee reviewed information provided by the compensation consultant regarding the publicly reported cash
compensation of named executive officers of the group of companies in our Industry Reference Group, which is comprised of 18 companies in
related industries. Additional information regarding this group of companies is set forth below under the heading "Industry Reference Group."

The compensation committee also reviewed cash compensation recommendations from our chief executive officer for each of the other
executive officers. These recommendations took into account the chief executive officer's assessment of each individual's operating
responsibilities, management level, tenure and performance in the position, and potential.

The compensation committee considered all of this information in the context of the goals and objectives of our executive compensation plans.
As noted above, we seek to pay salaries in line with individual performance and contribution to company goals. In the aggregate, base salaries
are targeted around the median of the peer group companies in our Industry Reference Group and the overall market from the outside
compensation consultant's market assessment. Individual performance, relative criticality of the individual position in relation to achievement of
the company's goals, and business affordability are also considered in determining base salaries. We conduct annual salary reviews and make
salary adjustments as necessary to maintain our desired market position. Additional information regarding these goals and objectives is set forth
above under the headings "Compensation Philosophy" and "Components of Compensation."
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Review of the Short-term Incentive Program

During its review of our short-term incentive program, the compensation committee considered the following general goals:

�
the use of properly structured short-term incentives in order to align the interests of management and stockholders, provide context for
management decisions, reward management for decisions that drive short-term results and support long-term strategy, and focus all
members of management on the same corporate goals (financial, operational, and strategic); and

�
the need to create a framework for the program that can remain in effect for a significant period of time, while retaining the flexibility
for the compensation committee to make appropriate modifications that might prove necessary or desirable in order to reflect changing
business conditions.

The compensation committee also considered the following factors specific to our company:

�
the difficulty in establishing appropriate short-term performance measures for CF Industries, given the inherent cyclicality in our
industry as well as the pronounced effects that highly volatile commodity prices for raw materials and fertilizer products have upon
our operating results; and

�
the outlook for our short-term performance and the broad range of possible actual outcomes.

In addition, the compensation committee reviewed a report from Exequity, the committee's outside compensation consultant, regarding
competitive market practices with respect to the use of short-term incentives.

The compensation committee considered all of this information in the context of the goals and objectives of our executive compensation plans.
As noted above, we use short-term incentives to provide executive officers and other employees with the opportunity to earn additional annual
compensation beyond base salary. The role of short-term incentives is to reward and encourage the achievement of annual financial results and
other specified corporate performance goals. Our short-term incentive awards are targeted around the market median. Additional information
regarding these goals and objectives is set forth above under the headings "Compensation Philosophy" and "Components of Compensation."

Selection of Primary Performance Metric for 2017

Based on its review and the other factors discussed above, the compensation committee determined that the annual incentive awards to our
named executive officers for 2017 would be based, in the first instance, on attainment of a primary overall EBITDA performance metric of
$300 million for the company's 2017 fiscal year. If that primary EBITDA performance metric was attained for 2017, each named executive
officer would become eligible for an annual incentive award with respect to 2017 of $3 million, which amount would be subject to reduction in
the discretion of the compensation committee (sometimes referred to as "negative discretion"). The committee expected to use that discretion if
the EBITDA performance target was attained. If the primary EBITDA performance metric had not been attained, no annual incentive awards
would be made to the named executive officers under the 2017 executive incentive program established pursuant to the company's annual
incentive program. EBITDA is computed as the sum of (i) net earnings attributable to common stockholders plus (ii)  interest expense
(income)�netplus (iii) income taxes plus (iv) depreciation, depletion, and amortization less (v) loan fee amortization.

The compensation committee determined that the use of an overall EBITDA performance metric, combined with the reservation of the
committee's right to use negative discretion, provided the maximum level of flexibility to reward and encourage the achievement of annual
financial results and other specified corporate performance goals while retaining the ability to pay incentive awards to
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executive officers which are deductible under Section 162(m) of the Code (as discussed in more detail below). The compensation committee
determined that the EBITDA target described above represented an appropriate level of corporate performance to warrant payment of some level
of an annual incentive award to our executives for 2017, with the actual incentive payment to be made at the discretion of the committee based
on performance against the specified secondary performance metrics, as described below.

Selection of Secondary Performance Metrics for 2017

If the primary EBITDA performance metric was attained, it was the compensation committee's intention to use its negative discretion to pay
2017 annual bonuses based upon our level of achievement of the following secondary performance metrics:

�
75% of each executive's annual incentive payment opportunity was based upon our level of achievement of adjusted EBITDA for 2017
(the "Adjusted EBITDA Metric"); and

�
the remaining 25% was based upon the percentage change in our adjusted EBITDA for 2017 compared to our adjusted EBITDA for
2016, ranking our performance in this regard relative to the performance of a comparison group comprised of us and eleven other
chemical companies (the "Relative EBITDA Metric").

The compensation committee established the following performance levels and corresponding percentages of target opportunity earned with
respect to the Adjusted EBITDA Metric for 2017:

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 

Performance Level
Adjusted EBITDA

Achieved

Percentage of
Target Short-Term

Incentive Award Earned

​​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 
Below Threshold ​ Less than $600 Million ​ 0% ​

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 
Threshold $600 Million 50%

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 
Target ​ $825 Million ​ 100% ​

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 
Ceiling $1.6 Billion 200%

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 
Straight line interpolation is used to determine the achievement percentage for the Adjusted EBITDA Metric between threshold and target and
between target and ceiling performance levels.

The compensation committee established the following percentile rankings and corresponding percentages of target opportunity earned with
respect to the Relative EBITDA Metric for 2017:

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 

Relative EBITDA Metric Percentile Rank

Percentage of
Target Short-Term

Incentive Award Earned

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
At or below 20th percentile ​ 0% ​

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​
Above 20th percentile and at or below 40th percentile 50%

​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​ 
Above 40th percentile and at or below 60th percentile ​ 100% ​

​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​ 
Above 60th percentile and at or below 80th percentile 150%
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Above 80th percentile ​ 200% ​

​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​ 
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The following are the eleven other chemical companies that together with us comprise the comparison group against which our performance was
ranked for purposes of the Relative EBITDA Metric:

�

Agrium Inc.*�

�

LSB Industries,  Inc.�

�

Celanese Corporation*

�

The Mosaic Company*�

�

CVR Partners,  LP�

�

Potash Corporation of Saskatchewan Inc.*�

�

Eastman Chemical Company*

�

Westlake Chemical Corporation*
�

FMC Corporation*

�

Yara International ASA�

�

Huntsman Corporation*

*
Denotes company that is a member of our Industry Reference Group

�
Denotes company that is member of the select fertilizer peer group used in the total shareholder return modifier in our PRSUs granted
prior to 2017.

"Adjusted EBITDA" is computed as the sum of (i) EBITDA (as described above) plus (ii) unrealized mark to market losses (gains) on hedges
plus (iii) unrealized and realized losses (gains) associated with foreign exchange on intercompany loan activity or foreign denominated
intercompany payables and receivables plus (iv) acquisition or disposition related transaction costs or fees plus (v) integration costs for
acquisitions plus (vi) losses (gains) on the disposition of equity investments in operating joint ventures plus (vii) restructuring, exit,
impairments, system implementation costs or similar types of costs plus (viii) non-capitalized expansion project costs plus (ix) losses (gains)
recognized due to the acquisition or disposal of a business or group of assets that represents a major portion of the business less (x) profits
(losses) associated with acquisitions (divestitures) completed during the year.

When setting performance levels for the short-term incentive program, the compensation committee takes into account historical performance
and management's outlook. Measured over an extended period, the objective of the committee is to select financial performance levels such that
we have a roughly (i) 80% probability of exceeding the threshold level, (ii) 50% probability of exceeding the target level, and (iii) 20%
probability of exceeding the ceiling level. Although the compensation committee considers management's outlook as one of several factors in
evaluating financial performance levels each year, the committee also recognizes that the outlook for any particular year represents only a single
scenario from among a broad range of plausible alternatives, given the pronounced effects of highly volatile commodity prices upon our
operating results. In general, the compensation committee aims to achieve a larger payout under the program for years when our performance is
superior by long-term industry standards, and a smaller payout (or none at all) for years when our performance is relatively weak, while creating
incentives for improved performance under all conditions given the inherent cyclicality in our industry.

In reviewing our short-term incentive program, the compensation committee was also aware of alternative metrics for measuring company
performance, such as achievement of operating efficiency goals, continued emphasis on the establishment of a behavioral-based safety culture,
progress towards strategic objectives, or performance relative to a variable budget, as well as alternative plan designs that emphasize the
personal accomplishment of individual or shared goals. The objective in each case would be to address the inherent cyclicality in our industry as
well as the pronounced effects of highly volatile commodity prices upon our operating results. The compensation committee determined for
2017 that objective measures of company performance measured on an absolute and relative basis would align the interests of our executive
officers with the interests of our stockholders and reflect our team-based culture. As discussed below, for 2018 the short-term incentive plan
includes a financial performance metric measured by adjusted EBITDA and an operational performance metric based on behavioral safety
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Approval of Base Salaries and Target Annual Incentive Awards for 2017

Based on its review of the general, company-specific, and competitive considerations described above, in December 2016, the compensation
committee made the decision that our named executive officers' base salaries and target annual incentive awards for 2017 would remain
unchanged from those in effect for 2016 due to target compensation being in line with our Industry Reference Group and the overall general
industry survey data and in recognition of current industry market conditions. The table below shows the base salaries and target annual
incentive levels for our named executive officers for 2017 and 2016.

Base Salary
Target Annual
Incentive Level

​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​ ​​ 
Name 2016 2017 Increase 2016 2017 Increase
​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​​​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​​​ ​ ​​​​ ​ ​ ​
W. Anthony Will $ 1,150,000 $ 1,150,000 0% 135% 135% 0%
Dennis P.
Kelleher $ 625,000 $ 625,000 0% 90% 90% 0%
Douglas C.
Barnard $ 530,000 $ 530,000 0% 80% 80% 0%
Christopher D.
Bohn $ 500,000 $ 500,000 0% 70% 70% 0%
Bert A. Frost $ 575,000 $ 575,000 0% 80% 80% 0%
​ ​​ ​​​ ​​​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​​​ ​​​ ​​ ​ ​​ 

Approval of Annual Incentive Payments for 2017

Following the end of 2017, after we and each of the companies in the comparison group for the Relative EBITDA Metric published financial
results for 2017, management prepared a report on our level of achievement of the primary and secondary performance metrics under the
short-term incentive plan. For the Relative EBITDA Metric, EBITDA was calculated for us and each of the other comparison group companies
by taking the component line items from each company's published audited income statement for 2017. For purposes of calculating "adjusted
EBITDA" for the eleven companies comprising the comparison group other than us, management reviewed the companies' published financial
results and recommended, for the compensation committee's approval in its discretion, adjustments to the EBITDA results calculated for the
other companies that were comparable to the adjustments used to calculate our adjusted EBITDA. Financial results of a comparison group
company reported in a foreign currency were converted into U.S. dollars for purposes of calculating the Relative EBITDA Metric.

The compensation committee reviewed the report and approved final performance results in March 2018. Based on the results, the compensation
committee determined that each of our named executive officers earned 126% of the executive's target opportunity with respect to the
executive's annual incentive award for 2017. This result is based on our attainment of EBITDA of $856 million exceeding the primary EBITDA
performance metric. Our attainment of adjusted EBITDA of $965 million resulted in a payout percentage for the Adjusted EBITDA Metric of
118% and placed us in the 67th percentile under the Relative EBITDA Metric, equating to a payout percentage of 150%.

Historical Annual Incentive Payments Demonstrate Pay-for-Performance Linkage

As summarized in the joint letter from the chairman of our board and our chief executive officer accompanying this proxy statement, our
management team has executed our strategy and operated our business extremely well over the past three years. We have received numerous
safety awards, completed the construction and safe start-up of our capacity expansion plants, and maintained industry leading ammonia
production capacity utilization. During 2017, we set company production and sales volume records while achieving our lowest 12-month
recordable injury rate. Despite these significant accomplishments in operating our assets reliably and safely, our financial results were negatively
impacted particularly during 2015 and 2016 as a result of one of the weakest global nitrogen pricing
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environments of the last two decades. Our historical annual incentive payouts to our named executive officers illustrate our pay-for-performance
philosophy and alignment with our stockholders.

Year

Attainment of
Primary EBITDA
Performance

Metric Secondary Performance Metrics Weighting

Percent of
Target
Achieved

Aggregate Short-
Term Incentive
Award Earned

2017 Yes Adjusted EBITDA 75% 118% 126%
Relative Adjusted EBITDA Growth 25% 150%

2016 No Adjusted EBITDA
Strategic Objectives 50%

50% N/A 0%

2015 Yes Return on Net Assets
100% 88% 88%

Additional information with respect to the base salaries, grants of annual incentive awards and our resulting cash payments to the named
executive officers for 2015, 2016, and 2017 is set forth below under the headings "Executive Compensation�Summary Compensation Table" and
"Executive Compensation�Grants of Plan-based Awards."

 2017 LONG-TERM INCENTIVES

The compensation committee reviewed our long-term incentive program during 2017 and granted long-term stock-based incentive awards to our
named executive officers.

General Considerations

During its review of our long-term incentive program, the compensation committee considered the following general factors:

�
the use of properly structured long-term incentives in order to align the interests of senior management and stockholders;

�
the advantages and disadvantages of using stock options, shares of restricted stock, RSUs, and/or PRSUs for such purposes;

�
the array of available vesting parameters for each type of long-term incentive award and the treatment of death, disability, retirement,
resignation, and termination, with or without cause; and

�
the accounting for various stock-based incentives under FASB ASC Topic 718 and the tax treatment of such incentive awards under
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.

The compensation committee also considered the difficulty in establishing appropriate long-term performance measures for the company, other
than stock price appreciation and total stockholder return (including dividends), given the inherent cyclicality in our industry as well as the
pronounced effects of highly volatile commodity prices for raw materials and fertilizer products upon our operating results.

In addition, the compensation committee reviewed a report from Exequity, the committee's outside compensation consultant, regarding
competitive market practices with respect to the use of long-term incentives.

The compensation committee considered all of this information in the context of the goals and objectives of our executive compensation plans.
As noted above, our long-term incentives focus on enterprise value creation and employee retention. Long-term incentives are provided through
annual awards that vest over a period of subsequent years. Our 2014 Equity and Incentive Plan allows the use of stock options, full-value shares,
and cash-based awards. Eligibility is extended to executive officers and other key employees. Distribution guidelines with award ranges related
to position responsibility
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levels are updated annually. In consideration of these guidelines, there is individual variation in long-term incentives based on performance
level, potential contribution, and value to the business. Additional information regarding these goals and objectives is set forth above under the
headings "Compensation Philosophy" and "Components of Compensation."

Design of Target Awards for 2017

Based on its review of these general, company-specific, and competitive considerations, the compensation committee determined that the
long-term incentive awards granted to our named executive officers in connection with setting the officers' target compensation for 2017 would
be composed of 60% stock options, 20% RSUs and 20% PRSUs. In selecting a mixture of stock options, RSUs and PRSUs for our target
long-term incentive awards, the compensation committee noted that:

�
the PRSU awards that vest solely based on the company's relative total shareholder return ("TSR") further aligns the executive officers'
interests with those of shareholders;

�
the stock option award would provide potential value for executive officers that is tied solely to stock price appreciation after the date
of grant;

�
the RSU and PRSU awards would provide value for executive officers that fluctuates with total stockholder return (including
dividends);

�
the stock option, RSU and PRSU awards would foster stock ownership by executive officers; and

�
the stock option and RSU awards would be subject to time vesting provisions and therefore create an additional retention mechanism
for executive officers.

In order to further align pay delivery with long-term performance and to reflect trends in executive compensation generally, beginning with 2018
grants for the named executive officers, the compensation committee increased the percentage of the total award value allocated to PRSUs to
60%, increased the percentage allocated to RSUs to 40% and eliminated stock option awards as described below under the heading "2018
Compensation."

Approval of Target Awards for 2017

On March 3, 2017, the compensation committee approved long-term incentive awards for our named executive officers in connection with
setting the officers' target compensation for 2017 as set forth in the table below:

Name
Stock
Options

Grant
Value of
Stock
Options

Time
Vesting
RSUs

Grant
Value of
Time
Vesting
RSU

Target
PRSUs

Grant
Value of
PRSUs

Total
Grant Value
of Target
LTI Grants

W. Anthony Will 415,140 $ 3,180,000 34,250 $ 1,060,000 23,360 $ 1,060,000 $ 5,300,000
Dennis P.
Kelleher 117,490 $ 900,000 9,695 $ 300,000 6,610 $ 300,000 $ 1,500,000
Douglas C.
Barnard 78,330 $ 600,000 6,460 $ 200,000 4,410 $ 200,000 $ 1,000,000
Christopher D.
Bohn 66,580 $ 510,000 5,490 $ 170,000 3,750 $ 170,000 $ 850,000
Bert A. Frost 90,080 $ 690,000 7,430 $ 230,000 5,070 $ 230,000 $ 1,150,000

�
On the grant date, the compensation committee approved dollar-denominated stock option, RSU and PRSU awards for each of our
individual named executive officers. In setting the dollar-denominated values of the individual awards, the committee considered our
Industry Reference Group and the competitive general industry survey data presented by Exequity, the committee's outside
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of each individual's operating responsibilities, management level, tenure and performance in the position, and potential.

�
After the close of business on the grant date, the dollar-denominated awards were translated into an actual number of stock options,
RSUs and PRSUs using that day's closing price for our stock on the NYSE as the input to valuation formulas recommended by the
outside compensation consultant and approved in advance by the compensation committee and, in the case of the PRSUs, a
Monte-Carlo simulation. Similarly, the exercise price for the stock options was set to equal that day's closing price. The number of
stock options represented 60% of the total value on the grant date, the number of RSUs represented 20% and the number of PRSUs
represented the remaining 20%.

Supplemental Performance Alignment Awards

In addition to the long-term incentive awards granted to our named executive officers in connection with setting the officers' target
compensation for 2017 as set forth in the table above, on March 3, 2017 the compensation committee approved additional RSUs as a
supplemental performance alignment award for our named executive officers as set forth in the table below:

Supplemental
Performance

Alignment Award

Grant Value of
Supplemental

Award as a % of:

Name
No. of
RSUs

Grant
Value

Base
Salary

Total Grant Value
of Target LTI

Grants
W. Anthony Will 25,850 $ 800,000 70% 15%
Dennis P. Kelleher 9,695 $ 300,000 48% 20%
Douglas C. Barnard 7,270 $ 225,000 42% 23%
Christopher D. Bohn 6,460 $ 200,000 40% 24%
Bert A. Frost 8,080 $ 250,000 43% 22%

�
In setting the dollar-denominated values of the individual supplemental performance alignment awards based on the compensation
committee's business judgment and experience, the committee considered its assessment of each of our named executive officers'
performance and potential and the importance of retaining each of the named executive officers, particularly at the time the company's
new capacity expansion plants would all be operating at capacity; a review of the officers' existing base salaries, target annual
incentive levels, and actual annual incentive payouts; and accumulated vested and unvested awards. In particular, the compensation
committee noted that, at the time it made its decision, despite strong operating performance, our financial results and stock
performance during 2015 and 2016 were negatively impacted as a result of one of the weakest global nitrogen pricing environments of
the last two decades. This stock performance resulted, at the time, in all vested and unvested stock options awarded to the named
executive officers in the prior five years (which represented 60% of the total grant value of the officer's long-term incentives in each of
those years) being out-of-the-money, although the committee acknowledged that stock options still have real value prior to their
10 year expiration; the PRSUs granted to the officers in 2014 for which the three-year performance period ended on December 31,
2016 resulting in no payout; and the PRSUs granted in 2015 and in 2016 performing below the threshold level required to receive any
payout (as described below, the awards granted in 2015 for which the performance period ended December 31, 2017 resulted in no
payout). The compensation committee also consulted with Exequity and considered the recommendations from our chief executive
officer with respect to each of the named executive officers other than himself, which took into account the chief executive officer's
assessment of each individual's operating responsibilities, management level, tenure and performance in the position, and potential.
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�
After the close of business on the grant date, the dollar-denominated value of the supplemental awards was added to the
dollar-denominated value of the RSUs granted to our named executive officers in connection with setting the officers' target
compensation for 2017 and the aggregate amount translated into an actual number of RSUs using that day's closing price for our stock
on the NYSE.

Terms and Conditions of 2017 Long-term Incentive Awards

The terms and conditions of the long-term incentive awards granted in 2017 were as follows:

�
Subject to earlier forfeiture or accelerated vesting (as described below), the stock options granted during 2017 will generally become
exercisable in three equal annual installments following the date of grant and will expire ten years from the date of grant.

�
The target and supplemental RSUs granted to our named executive officers will vest on the third anniversary of the grant date, subject
to earlier forfeiture or accelerated vesting (as described below). Until vested, the RSUs may not be sold, assigned, transferred, donated,
pledged, or otherwise disposed of (except by will or the laws of descent and distribution). The RSUs give the holder the right to
receive shares of common stock at the time of vesting, equal to the number of RSUs subject to the grant. We will pay dividend
equivalents in cash with respect to the RSUs to our named executive officers during the vesting period.

�
The PRSUs granted to our named executive officers will vest on the third anniversary of the grant date, subject to the attainment of the
performance goals for the performance period and subject to earlier forfeiture or accelerated vesting (as described below). The PRSUs
are settled in shares of common stock, the number of which is determined based on the company's three-year TSR as compared to the
TSR of companies in the S&P 500 Index, with 50%, 100% or 200% of the target number of shares to be delivered based on achieving
threshold (i.e., at least 25th percentile ranking among the companies in the S&P 500 Index), target (i.e., at least 50th percentile
ranking) and maximum (i.e., at least 75th percentile ranking) performance levels, respectively, and may be increased or decreased by
up to 20% (subject to a cap of 220% of the target number of shares) based on the company's TSR relative to a comparator group
comprised of the 18 companies in our Industry Reference Group. For companies in the comparator group, share prices are determined
based on the primary U.S. stock exchange or, if not traded on a U.S. stock exchange, the primary foreign stock exchange on which the
stock is actively traded. Any stock prices from foreign stock exchanges and all dividends paid in foreign currency are converted into
U.S. dollars for purposes of calculating total shareholder return. The PRSUs accrue dividend equivalents during the performance and
vesting period. Upon vesting, holders of PRSUs will be paid a cash equivalent of the dividends paid on our common stock during the
performance and vesting period based on the number of shares of stock, if any, delivered in settlement of the PRSUs.

�
As discussed below under the heading "Change in Control, Severance, and Retirement Benefits," upon a change in control, the
restrictions, limitations, and conditions applicable to the stock options, RSUs, and PRSUs will lapse, the performance goals with
respect to the PRSUs will be deemed fully achieved at the greater of target or actual performance to-date, and all of the awards will
become fully vested and exercisable. Upon death or disability, stock options and RSUs become fully vested and, in the case of stock
options, exercisable and the PRSUs become fully vested at the target level of performance.

�
As discussed below under the heading "Change in Control, Severance, and Retirement Benefits," for those named executive officers
who have reached the age of 60 with at least five years of service at the time of retirement, including our named executive officers,
certain equity awards will be subject to continued vesting and exercisability.

Additional information with respect to the compensation committee's grants of stock options, RSUs, and PRSUs to our named executive officers
during 2017 is set forth below under the heading "Executive Compensation�Grants of Plan-based Awards."
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Determination of 2015-2017 Performance Period PRSU Awards

The three-year performance period for PRSU awards granted in 2015 ended on December 31, 2017. The performance metrics for PRSUs granted
in 2015 were our three-year TSR compared against the S&P 500 Index and a modifier pursuant to which the number of shares earned based on
our TSR relative to the S&P 500 Index could be increased or decreased by up to 20% based on our TSR compared against a select fertilizer peer
group comprised of Agrium Inc., CVR Partners LP, Incitec Pivot Ltd, LSB Industries, Inc., The Mosaic Company, Potash Corporation of
Saskatchewan Inc., and Yara International ASA. Our stock performance during 2015 and 2016 was negatively impacted as a result of one of the
weakest global nitrogen pricing environments of the last two decades. Despite a TSR of 39% for 2017, our final TSR for the three-year period
was at the 10th percentile of the S&P 500 Index. Our TSR ranked 4th out of the eight companies (including us) in the select fertilizer peer group
used as a modifier. In accordance with our pay-for-performance philosophy, because our TSR performance over this three-year period did not
achieve at least the 25th percentile of the S&P 500 Index, the award resulted in no payout and no dividend equivalents.

The PRSUs granted to our named executive officers in 2014 for which the three-year performance period ended December 31, 2016 also
resulted in no payout and no dividend equivalents. Despite a TSR of 19% for 2014, the negative impact on our stock performance during 2015
and 2016 from the weak global nitrogen pricing environment resulted in our final TSR for the three-year period falling below the threshold level
of performance for those awards.

As a result, the following PRSUs that were granted to the named executive officers (other than Mr. Bohn whose first year as a named executive
officer was 2016) for (i) the 2014-2016 performance period and the associated grant values originally shown in the 2015 proxy statement and
(ii) the 2015-2017 performance periods and the associated grant values originally shown in the 2016 proxy statement and included in the 2015
Stock Award value shown in the Summary Compensation Table on page 64 were not realized by our named executive officers:

​ ​​ ​​​ ​​​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​​​ ​​​ ​​ ​ ​​ 

Original 2014
PRSU Grant

Original 2015
PRSU GrantVested

PRSUs /
Compensation

Realized
from

2014 PRSU
Award

Vested
PRSUs /

Compensation
Realized
from

2015 PRSU
Award

# of
Shares
at Target

Value at
Grant

# of
Shares
at Target

Value at
GrantName

W. Anthony Will 6,450 $ 500,817 $ 0 7,680 $ 699,863 $ 0
Dennis P.
Kelleher 3,100 $ 240,703 $ 0 2,415 $ 220,074 $ 0
Douglas C.
Barnard 2,575 $ 199,938 $ 0 1,645 $ 149,906 $ 0
Bert A. Frost 3,350 $ 260,114 $ 0 1,865 $ 169,954 $ 0
​ ​​ ​​​ ​​​ ​​ ​ ​​​​ ​​​ ​​​ ​​ ​ ​​ 

 2018 COMPENSATION

The compensation committee recently approved base salaries, target annual incentive awards, and long-term stock-based incentive awards for
our named executive officers for calendar year 2018. In setting compensation levels for 2018, the compensation committee considered a
competitive market assessment performed by Exequity, the committee's outside compensation consultant, and the goals and objectives of our
executive compensation plans. The compensation committee made the decision that our named executive officers' base salaries and target annual
incentive awards for 2018 would remain unchanged from those in effect for 2016 and 2017 due to target compensation continuing to be in line
with our Industry Reference Group and the overall general industry survey data and in recognition of industry market conditions at the time.
With respect to long-term incentive awards, in order to further align pay delivery with long-term performance and to reflect trends in executive
compensation generally, beginning with 2018 grants for named executive officers, the compensation committee increased the percentage of the
total award value allocated to PRSUs to 60%, increased the percentage
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allocated to RSUs to 40% and eliminated stock option awards. The table below shows the base salaries, target annual incentives, and long-term
incentive awards for our named executive officers for 2018.

Name Base Salary
Target Annual
Incentive Level Target PRSUs

Time Vesting
RSUs

W. Anthony Will $ 1,150,000 135% 78,889 52,592
Dennis P. Kelleher $ 625,000 90% 19,350 12,900
Douglas C. Barnard $ 530,000 80% 14,885 9,923
Christopher D. Bohn $ 500,000 70% 14,885 9,923
Bert A. Frost $ 575,000 80% 19,350 12,900
Performance Metrics for Annual Incentive Payments for 2018

The compensation committee determined that the annual incentive awards to our named executive officers for 2018 will be based, in the first
instance, on attainment of a primary overall EBITDA performance metric of $300 million for the company's 2018 fiscal year. If that primary
EBITDA performance metric is attained, actual annual incentive payments will be determined by the compensation committee using its negative
discretion authority based upon our level of achievement of the following secondary performance metrics:

�
75% of each executive's annual incentive payment opportunity is based upon our level of achievement of adjusted EBITDA for 2018
(the "Financial Metric"); and

�
the remaining 25% is based upon our level of achievement of specified ammonia production goals, subject to first achieving a gating
level of performance of behavioral safety practices goals (the "Operational Metric").

The compensation committee established the following performance levels and corresponding percentages of target opportunity earned with
respect to the Financial Metric for 2018:

​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ 

Performance Level Adjusted EBITDA Achieved

Percentage of Target
Short-Term Incentive

Award Earned

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ 
​  Below Threshold ​ Less than $600 Million ​ ​ 0% ​
​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ 

Threshold $600 Million 50%
​​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ 
​  Target ​ $825 Million ​ ​ 100% ​
​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ 

Ceiling $1.25 Billion 200%
​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​​​ ​ ​​ 
Straight line interpolation is used to determine the achievement percentage for the Financial Metric between threshold and target and between
target and ceiling performance levels.

For the Operational Metric, each of our production and distribution facilities develops and implements specific behavioral safety objectives that
are pertinent and meaningful to each work group at the site. Each employee is involved in developing and taking ownership for completing
objectives that make their workplace safer and effect a positive change in the safety culture. Each quarter, evaluations are conducted and an
overall achievement grade (A through F) for each hourly group and individual manager is assigned. Under the Operational Metric, the quarterly
grades issued to all site employees will be aggregated. If at least 95% of the grades are "B" or better for the year, the safety performance gating
requirement will be achieved. If the safety performance gating requirement is not achieved, there will be no payout under the Operational
Metric. If the safety performance gating requirement is achieved, the payout under the Operational Metric will be determined based upon our
level of production of ammonia product tons. Similar to the Financial Metric, threshold, target and ceiling performance levels were set that will
result in corresponding payouts of 0% to 200% of the target
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incentive amount for the Operational Metric. Target performance was set at a level consistent with corporate forecasts. Ceiling performance was
set at a level judged to be difficult to achieve and threshold performance was set at the lowest level that would justify a payout. The
compensation committee retains discretion to adjust the performance levels to address circumstances that impact our ability to meet production
expectations, such as market-based curtailments, severe weather events or other events of force majeure that result in production outages, and
other adjustments approved by the compensation committee.

2018 Long-Term Incentives

The compensation committee reviewed our long-term incentive program during the fourth quarter of 2017 and, on January 2, 2018, granted
long-term incentive awards to each of our named executive officers as set forth in the table above. For 2018, the compensation committee
determined that stock options would not be awarded and that the long-term incentive awards to our named executive officers should be
composed 60% in PRSUs and 40% in RSUs. This change was made to further align pay delivery with long-term performance and to reflect
trends in executive compensation generally.

On the grant date, the compensation committee approved dollar-denominated PRSU and RSU award values for each of our individual named
executive officers. The grant values were translated into an actual number of target PRSUs and RSUs by dividing the award values by the
unweighted average closing price of our stock on the NYSE for the twenty trading days preceding the grant date. Subject to earlier forfeiture or
accelerated vesting, the time-vesting RSUs granted in 2018 will vest in three equal annual installments following the date of grant and the
PRSUs will vest upon the certification by the compensation committee of the attainment of the performance goals following the end of the
three-year performance period. The compensation committee will certify the extent, if any, to which the PRSU performance goals have been
attained no later than the last day of the fiscal quarter immediately following the three-year performance period.

Beginning with the 2018 grants, the compensation committee also modified the performance metrics to two new measures: average return on net
assets ("RONA") over three one-year periods and a modifier pursuant to which the number of shares earned based on RONA performance may
be increased or decreased by up to 20% based on our three-year TSR performance against a threshold, target, and ceiling level of performance.

At the beginning of each year (e.g., 2018, 2019, and 2020) during the three-year performance period, the compensation committee will establish
RONA performance levels for that year and the corresponding percentage payout of the target number of PRSUs based on our performance. The
threshold, target and ceiling performance levels that are set will result in a payout percentage ranging from 0% to 200% of the target number of
PRSUs. Following the completion of each fiscal year, the compensation committee will determine the payout percentage that was attained for
such year and following the completion of the third fiscal year, the committee will determine the average payout percentage attained for the
three-year period. The PRSUs will be settled in shares of our common stock. Once the total number of shares earned based on our RONA
performance is determined at the end of the third year, the total is multiplied by a percentage ranging from 80% to 120% depending on our TSR
performance for the three-year performance period. The combined impact of these performance criteria is that shares could be earned under the
PRSUs ranging from 0% to 240% of target.
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The compensation committee established the following performance levels and corresponding percentage payouts of target shares with respect
to the RONA performance metric for 2018 and the following TSR performance levels and corresponding percentages for the three-year TSR
modifier:

​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​ ​​ 

Performance Level
2018 RONA
Achieved

Payout
Percentage

Three-Year
TSR Achieved

TSR
Modifier
Percentage

​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​ ​​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​ ​​ 
​  Below Threshold ​Less than 5.9% ​​ 0% ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​
​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​ ​​ 

Threshold 5.9% 50% Less than 15.5% 80%
​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​ ​​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​​​ 
​  Target ​ 8.2% ​​ 100% ​ 22.5% ​​ 100% ​
​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​ ​​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​​​ 

Ceiling
At or above
12.4% 200%

At or above
29.5% 120%

​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​ ​​ ​​ ​ ​ ​
Straight line interpolation is used to determine the applicable percentage between threshold and target and between target and ceiling
performance levels.

The compensation committee added RONA as a performance metric for PRSUs because of its expected correlation with long-term TSR
performance, and the view that it serves as an indicator of the results of management's operating decisions. In deciding to measure RONA
annually for three years against annual targets, the compensation committee considered the difficulty in establishing appropriate long-term
performance measures for the company given the inherent cyclicality in our industry as well as the pronounced effects of highly volatile
commodity prices for raw materials and fertilizer products upon our operating results. Target RONA performance for 2018 was set at a level
consistent with corporate forecasts. Ceiling performance was set at a level judged to be difficult to achieve and threshold performance was set at
the lowest level that would justify a payout.

RONA is determined by reference to the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of adjusted EBITDA (as defined for purposes of our 2018 annual
incentive plan) divided by average operational assets. The "average operational assets" denominator of this metric is essentially the simple
average of the beginning and year-end values for the sum of (i) total assets less (ii) cash and cash equivalents less (iii) restricted cash less
(iv) short-term investments less (v) investments in marketable equity securities less (vi) prepaid income taxes less (vii) total current liabilities
less (viii) long-term deferred income taxes less (ix) other noncurrent liabilities less (x) assets associated with major capital projects (as approved
by the compensation committee) less (xi) net assets associated with acquisitions and divestitures completed during the year plus (xii) short-term
debt or notes payable included in current liabilities.

In determining to set threshold, target, and ceiling levels of TSR performance for the TSR modifier in lieu of a relative TSR metric, the
compensation committee considered there are not enough companies with market capitalizations and revenues comparable to ours and with lines
of business similar to ours to assemble a sizeable peer group. In addition, the compensation committee considered that the cyclicality of our
business results in the S&P 500 Index not being an appropriate comparator for our stock price performance. This is evidenced by the results of
the PRSUs granted prior to 2018 either (i) ending (in the case of the PRSU granted in 2014 and 2015) or currently performing (in the case of the
PRSUs granted in 2016) below the threshold level of performance or (ii) performing above the ceiling level of performance (in the case of the
PRSUs granted in 2017). The target TSR performance level for the modifier in the 2018 PRSUs was set to reflect a compound annual TSR equal
to 7%, which is the approximate average annual real total return for the S&P 500 Index since inception. Ceiling performance was set at a level
well above the average, and threshold performance was set at a level below which a maximum reduction was appropriate.
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 CHANGE IN CONTROL, SEVERANCE, AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The compensation committee reviewed our change in control, severance, and retirement benefits during 2017 as described below. Based on its
review, and after considering the factors noted below, the compensation committee determined that our change in control, severance, and
retirement benefits continue to serve the best interests of the company and our stockholders and are consistent with competitive market practices.

Change in Control Benefits

With respect to our change in control benefits, the compensation committee noted that we have change in control agreements with our executive
officers, as well as certain change in control benefits for all of the participants (including the executive officers) under our 2009 Equity and
Incentive Plan and 2014 Equity and Incentive Plan. Additional information regarding these benefits is set forth below under the heading
"Executive Compensation�Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control."

In connection with its review, the compensation committee noted that the change in control agreements with our executive officers are:

�
intended to provide some level of income continuity for an executive officer should his or her employment be terminated by us
without cause or by him or her for good reason in connection with a change in control;

�
designed to avoid unwanted management turnover in the event of a potential change in control; and

�
designed to ensure that the executive officer's personal interests will remain aligned with the interests of our stockholders in the event
of a potential change in control.

The compensation committee also noted that our change in control agreements require both (i) a change in control and (ii) a qualifying
termination of the executive officer's employment (sometimes referred to as a "double trigger"), before any benefits will be owing to the
executive officer under the agreement.

In addition, the compensation committee noted that our 2009 Equity and Incentive Plan and 2014 Equity and Incentive Plan provide that all
plan-based awards will be deemed fully vested and fully exercisable and any performance conditions will be deemed fully achieved upon a
change in control (sometimes referred to as a "single trigger"), unless the committee determines otherwise with respect to a particular award at
the time of grant and reflects this determination in the applicable award agreement. In this regard, the compensation committee noted it would be
difficult to preserve the original performance and vesting goals in our plan-based awards following a change in control, given the fundamental
changes in our organization, capital structure, and operations that would typically result from such a transaction. Accordingly, all of our
plan-based awards have included this change in control provision for the benefit of our executive officers and the other participants.

As part of its review, the compensation committee reviewed "tally sheets," estimating these benefits for our chief executive officer and the other
named executive officers under various assumptions and scenarios.

Based on its review, and the other factors noted above, the compensation committee determined that our change in control benefits serve the best
interests of the company and our stockholders and are consistent with competitive market practices.
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Excise Tax Gross-Ups

In December 2014, the Board adopted a policy whereby the company will not in the future enter into any new agreements with its named
executive officers that include Internal Revenue Code Section 280G excise tax "gross-up" provisions with respect to payments contingent on a
change in control of the company.

Severance Benefits

With respect to our severance benefits, the compensation committee noted that none of our executive officers has any employment or severance
agreement, and none of our executive officers is entitled to receive any other severance benefits, except for (i) the change in control agreements
and change in control benefits discussed above, (ii) such severance benefits as we may provide under our standard policies applicable to all
employees, (iii) such severance benefits as we may be required to pay under applicable law in certain jurisdictions, and (iv) such additional
severance benefits as our compensation committee may approve in certain instances. Based on its review, and the other factors noted above, the
compensation committee determined that our severance benefits serve the best interests of the company and our stockholders and are consistent
with competitive market practices.

Retirement Benefits

With respect to our retirement benefits, the compensation committee noted that we maintain tax-qualified and nonqualified defined benefit,
defined contribution, and deferred compensation plans. Additional information regarding these benefits is set forth below under the headings
"Executive Compensation�Pension Benefits" and "Executive Compensation�Nonqualified Deferred Compensation."

We maintain a defined benefit pension plan named the CF Industries Holdings, Inc. Pension Plan (the "Pension Plan"). The Pension Plan
includes three components. Supplement A of the Pension Plan, which we refer to herein as the New Retirement Plan, is a defined benefit pension
plan that became effective on January 1, 2013, under which all domestic employees (including executive officers) became eligible to participate
as of January 1, 2013, except for those employees who participate in Supplement B of the Pension Plan. Supplement B of the Pension Plan is our
historic defined benefit pension plan, which we refer to herein as the Old Retirement Plan and which was closed to new participants on
December 31, 2003. Employees who joined the company after that date, which includes all of the named executive officers, are ineligible to
receive any pension benefits under the Old Retirement Plan, but are eligible for benefits under the New Retirement Plan. Under the New
Retirement Plan, we credit the account of each participating employee an amount between 4% and 7% (depending on years of service) of the
participant's eligible compensation. For our named executive officers, eligible compensation is limited to base salary. Each participant's account
will earn an annual return based on the greater of (i) the annual yield on 10-year treasury nominal securities and (ii) 3% annual interest. The third
component of the Pension Plan is Supplement C, which was formerly known as the Terra Industries Inc. Employees' Retirement Plan and covers
employees who commenced employment with Terra Industries, or any other entity that was an employer under the former plan, prior to
August 1, 2003.

The compensation committee also reviewed "tally sheets," estimating these benefits for our chief executive officer and the other named
executive officers under various assumptions and scenarios.

Commencing with equity grants made in 2014, employees, including our named executive officers, who retire upon having reached age 60 with
at least five years of service at the time of retirement will continue to vest in their stock option awards that were granted at least one year prior to
their termination date and will receive a pro-rated number of RSUs and PRSUs based on their length of service between the grant date of such
award and the executive's retirement date and, with respect to
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PRSUs, contingent upon the level of attainment of applicable performance goals, provided, that, in each case, the executive has provided us with
at least six months' notice prior to such retirement. In addition, such eligible retirees will have four years from their retirement date to exercise
any vested options.

Based on its review, and the other factors noted above, the compensation committee determined that our retirement benefits serve the best
interests of the company and our stockholders and are consistent with competitive market practices.

 COMPENSATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The compensation committee has taken a number of steps related to reviewing and establishing the compensation of our chief executive officer.
Additional information regarding these activities is set forth above under the heading "Compensation Committee Activities."

Short-term Incentive Payment for 2017

The compensation committee recently determined that Mr. Will earned $1,956,200 with respect to his annual incentive award for 2017,
representing 126% of the relevant target based on our attainment of adjusted EBITDA of $965 million as described above under the heading
"Approval of Annual Incentive Payments for 2017." Additional information with respect to Mr. Will's annual incentive award for 2017 and our
subsequent cash payment to him on that award is set forth below under the headings "Executive Compensation�Summary Compensation Table"
and "Executive Compensation�Grants of Plan-based Awards."

Long-term Incentive Target Awards for 2017

The compensation committee granted Mr. Will 415,140 stock options, 34,250 RSUs, and 23,360 target PRSUs in connection with setting his
target compensation for 2017. In addition to these awards, the compensation committee awarded Mr. Will an additional 25,850 RSUs as a
supplemental performance alignment award. Additional information regarding the committee's review of our long-term incentive program and
the terms and conditions of our stock option, RSU and PRSU awards for 2017 is set forth above under the heading "2017 Long-term Incentives."
Additional information with respect to Mr. Will's long-term incentive awards for 2017 is set forth below under the headings "Executive
Compensation�Summary Compensation Table," "Executive Compensation�Grants of Plan-based Awards" and "Executive
Compensation�Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End."

Cash Compensation for 2018

The compensation committee recently approved a base salary of $1,150,000 for Mr. Will for 2018 and an annual incentive target equal to 135%
of his base salary, which are unchanged from the base salary and annual incentive target in effect for Mr. Will in 2016 and 2017. Additional
information regarding the compensation committee's approval of Mr. Will's base salary and his annual incentive target for 2018 is set forth
above under the heading "2018 Compensation." In setting Mr. Will's base salary and annual incentive target for 2018, the committee considered
(i) a competitive market assessment performed by Exequity, in its role as the compensation committee's outside compensation consultant, (ii) the
Board's annual evaluation of Mr. Will's overall performance, and (iii) the goals and objectives of our executive compensation plans. The
compensation committee made the decision that Mr. Will's and all of our other named executive officers' base salaries and target annual
incentive awards for 2018 would remain unchanged from those in effect for 2016 and 2017 due to target compensation being in line with our
Industry Reference Group and the overall general industry survey data and in recognition of current industry market conditions. Mr. Will's 2018
base salary and annual incentive target place him around the median of the peer group companies in our Industry Reference Group and the
overall market from the outside compensation consultant's market assessment.
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Short-term Incentive Award for 2018

The compensation committee recently granted Mr. Will an annual incentive award opportunity for 2018. Mr. Will's annual incentive payment
for 2018 will be based, in the first instance, on our attaining a primary overall EBITDA performance metric of $300 million for the company's
2018 fiscal year. If the primary EBITDA performance metric is attained, Mr. Will's actual annual incentive payment will be determined by the
compensation committee using its negative discretion authority based on our level of achievement of the Financial Metric and the Operational
Metric set by the compensation committee as described above under "2018 Compensation�Performance Metrics for Annual Incentive Payments
for 2018."

Long-term Incentive Awards for 2018

The compensation committee recently granted Mr. Will 78,889 target PRSUs and 52,592 RSUs for 2018. In making this award, the committee
considered a competitive market assessment performed by its outside compensation consultant, Exequity, as well as the other factors discussed
above. Additional information regarding the terms and conditions of our PRSU and RSU awards for 2018 is set forth above under the heading
"2018 Compensation�2018 Long-Term Incentives."

Change in Control, Severance, and Retirement Benefits

The compensation committee also reviewed our change in control, severance, and retirement benefits during 2017, with a particular focus on the
benefits Mr. Will would receive upon such an event now or in the future. As part of its review, the committee reviewed "tally sheets," estimating
the benefits that Mr. Will would receive under various assumptions and scenarios. Specifically, Mr. Will's change in control agreement provides
that upon a qualifying termination, as described in more detail under the heading "Executive Compensation�Potential Payments Upon
Termination or Change in Control," he will be entitled to (i) a lump sum payment equal to three times the sum of his base salary and target
annual incentive payment; (ii) welfare benefit continuation for a period of three years and outplacement services for a period of up to two years;
(iii) a pro-rata annual incentive payment for the year of termination, assuming target levels of performance or, if higher, actual year-to-date
performance; (iv) a cash payment equal to the actuarial value of three additional years of age and service credit under our New Retirement Plan
and our Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan; and (v) a cash payment equal to the contributions that we would have made on his behalf for a
period of three years under our company 401(k) Plan and the related amounts that we would have credited to his account balance under our
Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan. Mr. Will's change in control agreement does not provide for an excise tax gross-up. The compensation
committee determined that Mr. Will's change in control benefits, as set forth in his change in control agreement, and his other severance and
retirement benefits, provide for benefits that are consistent with competitive market practices for a chief executive officer and are in the best
interests of the company and our stockholders. Additional information regarding Mr. Will's change in control benefits is set forth below under
the heading "Executive Compensation�Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control." Additional information regarding the
compensation committee's activities with respect to such benefits is set forth above under the heading "Change in Control, Severance, and
Retirement Benefits."

Additional information with respect to Mr. Will's total compensation and benefits for 2015, 2016, and 2017 is set forth below under the heading
"Executive Compensation."
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 INDUSTRY REFERENCE GROUP

As noted above, the compensation committee has adopted an Industry Reference Group for use in establishing compensation and incentive
levels. The compensation committee's consultant, Exequity, leads a review of the companies in the peer group annually and proposes changes
based on quantitative and qualitative assessments of comparability. For 2017, the committee revised the Industry Reference Group so that it
comprises the following 18 companies:

Global Industry Classification
Standard Subindustry Description Company Name

Fertilizers and Agricultural Chemicals Agrium Inc.
The Mosaic Company
Potash Corporation of Saskatchewan Inc.
The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company

Specialty Chemicals Albemarle Corporation
Ashland Global Holdings, Inc.
Celanese Corporation
Ecolab Inc.
International Flavors & Fragrances Inc.
PolyOne Corporation
RPM International Inc.

Commodity Chemicals Cabot Corporation
Westlake Chemical Corporation

Diversified Chemicals Eastman Chemical Company
FMC Corporation
Huntsman Corporation
Olin Corporation

Industrial Gases Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.
For 2016, our peer group also included Ingredion Incorporated (Agricultural Products). Our compensation committee removed Ingredion
Incorporated from the reference group because of a low comparability score under the independent compensation consultant's analysis. For
2017, the compensation committee added six new peer companies to the Industry Reference Group: four new Specialty Chemical companies
(Ecolab Inc., International Flavors & Fragrances Inc., PolyOne Corporation, and RPM International Inc.); one Commodity Chemicals company
(Cabot Corporation); and one Diversified Chemicals company (Olin Corporation). Each of these companies, along with others, were identified
as potential additions to our peer group based on Exequity's quantitative assessment. The companies identified as potential peers were then
further reviewed on a qualitative basis to ensure relevance and appropriateness. Each of the six new peers were selected for inclusion in our
Industry Reference Group based on their comparability scores from Exequity's analysis. A subset of our Industry Reference Group is included in
our "peer group" for purposes of the stock price performance graph included within our 2017 Annual Report. We have selected Agrium Inc., The
Mosaic Company, and Potash Corporation of Saskatchewan Inc. for this purpose because for 2017 they comprised the members of our Industry
Reference Group that were publicly traded manufacturers of fertilizers during 2017 with headquarters in North America. Subsequent to the end
of 2017, Agrium and Potash Corporation of Saskatchewan Inc. consummated a merger of equals transaction to form Nutrien Ltd.
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 FINANCIAL RESTATEMENTS

It is the policy of the Board that the compensation committee will, to the extent permitted by governing law, have the sole and absolute authority
to make retroactive adjustments to any cash or equity-based incentive compensation paid to executive officers if the payment was predicated
upon the achievement of certain financial results that were subsequently the subject of a restatement. Where applicable, we will seek to recover
any amount determined to have been received inappropriately by an executive officer. The compensation committee includes "clawback"
language in the forms of incentive award agreements that we use with executive officers in order to enhance the enforceability of these
provisions.

 STOCK OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES

The Board believes that our directors and officers should be stockholders of CF Industries and, based on the recommendation of the
compensation committee, has established guidelines for stock ownership.

�
Directors will have five years from the date of their appointment or election to achieve stock ownership with a market value equal to
five times their annual cash retainer.

�
Officers will have five years from their date of hire or promotion to achieve stock ownership with a market value equal to (i) five times
annual base salary in the case of the chief executive officer, (ii) two times annual base salary in the case of the other named executive
officers and several other executive officers, and (iii) one times annual base salary in the case of the other officers.

For purposes of these guidelines, any of the following may be used to satisfy the ownership requirements: (i) shares purchased by the individual,
(ii) shares retained upon the exercise of a vested stock option, (iii) shares acquired upon the vesting of restricted shares or units, (iv) shares
acquired upon the vesting of performance shares or units, (v) shares (including "phantom" shares) held within our qualified and non-qualified
deferred compensation and retirement plans, (vi) shares purchased through an employee stock purchase plan, (vii) restricted shares or units,
(viii) earned performance shares or units (i.e., shares or units under a performance award for which the primary performance criteria has been
achieved, but which remain subject to time-based vesting requirements, without regard to any potential subsequent modification based on
additional performance criteria such as a TSR modifier), and (ix) the difference in value between the exercise price and current market price for
vested but unexercised options, net of taxes at an assumed maximum tax rate. Non-vested stock options and unearned non-vested performance
shares or units are specifically excluded in meeting the ownership requirements.

It is expected that an individual who is subject to the stock ownership guidelines will not sell any shares unless he or she has satisfied the
ownership guidelines both before the sale and after giving effect to the shares sold. An individual who has initially satisfied the guidelines but as
a result of a subsequent decline in stock prices no longer meets the guidelines is precluded from selling any shares until such time as he or she
again satisfies the guidelines. Surrendering shares to the company in order to pay withholding or other taxes on compensation income or pay the
exercise price of stock options is not considered a sale of shares for purposes of the guidelines. As of December 31, 2017, each of our directors
and officers was in compliance with the stock ownership guideline requirements.

We may facilitate stock ownership by directors and officers through grants of equity-based compensation under our 2014 Equity and Incentive
Plan.
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 TRADING, HEDGING AND PLEDGING RESTRICTIONS

We have a Policy on Insider Trading, which prohibits our directors, officers, and employees from engaging in speculative transactions in our
securities. Specifically, it is against our policy to trade in options, warrants, puts and calls, or similar derivatives on our stock, sell our stock
"short," or hold our stock in margin accounts. In addition, our policy prohibits our directors and executive officers from pledging our stock as
collateral for a loan.

 TAX DEDUCTIBILITY OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code has limited our federal income tax deduction to $1,000,000 per year for compensation paid to our
chief executive officer or certain of the other named executive officers, subject to an exemption for performance-based compensation that meets
certain requirements. The Tax Act signed into law on December 22, 2017, eliminated that exemption. However, the Tax Act also provided for a
transition rule with respect to compensation provided pursuant to a written binding contract that was in effect on November 2, 2017, and not
materially modified after that date. Commencing in 2018, the company's tax deduction with regard to compensation of covered employees
generally will be limited to $1 million per taxable year for each officer. We will generally seek to preserve the deductibility of
performance-based compensation by meeting the requirements of Section 162(m), as amended by the Tax Act, in accordance with the transition
rule applicable to binding contracts in effect on November 2, 2017, to the extent practicable and in the best interests of CF Industries and its
stockholders.

 COMPENSATION CONSULTANT MATTERS

As noted above, the compensation committee has engaged Exequity, an executive compensation consulting firm, to assist the committee in
making recommendations and decisions regarding compensation for our directors and executive officers. Exequity provides no other services to
the company.

The compensation committee has determined, after appropriate inquiry (and taking into account the other fees described above), including
consideration of Exequity's independence in light of the factors set forth under Rule 10C-1 of the Exchange Act, that no conflicts of interest exist
with respect to the firm's engagement as the committee's independent compensation consultant.

 COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS RISK ANALYSIS

As noted above, the compensation committee reviewed the potential effects of the various components of our compensation and benefits
program for 2017 upon individual and collective behavior and, ultimately, upon our risk profile and our overall approach to risk management.
The compensation committee reviewed the following relevant features of:

�
our annual incentive program, including (i) the selection of appropriate performance metrics, (ii) the focus on collective rather than
individual behaviors, (iii) the process by which the compensation committee establishes target bonus opportunities as well as
threshold, target, and ceiling performance levels, (iv) the consistency of our short-term incentive practices with the practices at
comparable companies, (v) the control environment within which business decisions are made, (vi) the periodic reporting to the
compensation committee regarding corporate performance, (vii) the discretion the compensation committee has retained to adjust
annual incentive payments under appropriate circumstances, and (viii) the "clawback" provisions in our policy regarding financial
restatements;

�
our long-term incentive program, including (i) the levels of common stock ownership and equity-based awards held by our executive
officers, (ii) the use of RSUs and PRSUs (as well as stock options through 2017) in making stock-based awards to executive officers,
(iii) the consistency of our
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long-term incentive practices with the practices at comparable companies, and (iv) the limitations on trading imposed by our stock
ownership guidelines and our Policy on Insider Trading;

�
our change in control benefits, including the facts that the change in control agreements with our executive officers are (i) intended to
provide some level of income continuity for an executive officer should his or her employment be terminated by us without cause or
by him or her for good reason in connection with a change in control, (ii) designed to avoid unwanted management turnover in the
event of a potential change in control, and (iii) designed to ensure that the executive officer's personal interests will remain aligned
with the interests of our stockholders in the event of a potential change in control; and

�
our other awards, plans, programs, policies, and practices, including (i) the appropriateness of the incentives created thereby, (ii) the
focus on collective rather than individual behaviors, (iii) the control environment, and (iv) the absence of personal objectives and
direct financial incentives with respect to raw materials procurement and transactions involving natural gas derivatives.

Based on this review, the compensation committee determined that the company's compensation and benefits program balances risk and
potential reward in a manner that is appropriate to the circumstances and in the best interests of the company's stockholders over the long term.
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 COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT
The compensation committee oversees our compensation and employee benefit plans and practices, including our executive compensation plans,
director compensation plans, and other incentive compensation and equity-based plans. The compensation committee is composed of seven
non-employee directors and operates under a written charter adopted by the Board. Each member of the compensation committee is independent
within the meaning of the rules of the corporate governance standards of the NYSE applicable to compensation committee members. The Board
has also determined that all of the members of the committee qualify as "non-employee directors," within the meaning of Rule 16b-3
promulgated under the Exchange Act, and "outside directors," within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.

The compensation committee held seven meetings during the year ended December 31, 2017 and met in executive session at three of the
meetings. The compensation committee also reviewed and discussed with management the compensation discussion and analysis section of this
Proxy Statement.

Based on its review and the foregoing meetings and discussions, the compensation committee recommended to the Board that the compensation
discussion and analysis section be included in this Proxy Statement and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for filing with the SEC.

Stephen J. Hagge (Chair)
Stephen A. Furbacher
John D. Johnson
Anne P. Noonan
Edward A. Schmitt
Michael J. Toelle
Theresa E. Wagler
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 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the total compensation we provided with respect to the years ended December 31, 2015, 2016, and 2017 for (i) our
principal executive officer, (ii) our principal financial officer, and (iii) our three other most highly compensated executive officers (as
determined on the basis of their total compensation for 2017 other than changes in pension value and nonqualified deferred compensation
earnings). We refer to these individuals in this Proxy Statement as our "named executive officers."

Name and Principal Position(1) Year
Salary(2)

($)

Stock
Awards(3)

($)

Option
Awards(3)

($)

Non-equity
Incentive
Plan

Compensation(2)(4)
($)

Change in
Pension
Value
and

Nonqualified
Deferred

Compensation
Earnings(5)(6)

($)

All Other
Compensation(7)

($)
Total
($)

W. Anthony Will 2017 1,150,000 2,919,938 3,180,429 1,956,200 81,041 174,407 9,462,015
President and Chief Executive 2016 1,150,000 2,041,560 3,060,026 � 57,544 128,383 6,437,513
Officer 2015 1,000,000 1,399,819 2,099,995 1,043,800 40,616 97,769 5,681,999

Dennis P. Kelleher 2017 625,000 900,017 900,103 708,800 38,167 70,225 3,242,312
Senior Vice President and Chief 2016 625,000 560,465 840,041 � 31,739 62,393 2,119,637
Financial Officer 2015 575,000 440,114 660,022 350,100 19,062 60,162 2,104,460

Douglas C. Barnard 2017 530,000 625,026 600,094 534,200 38,500 54,292 2,382,112
Senior Vice President, General 2016 530,000 360,121 539,994 � 34,084 49,842 1,514,041
Counsel, and Secretary 2015 500,000 299,919 449,974 304,400 27,432 49,489 1,631,214

Christopher D. Bohn(8) 2017 500,000 539,991 510,076 441,000 30,452 48,282 2,069,801
Senior Vice President, 2016 500,000 299,973 450,025 � 24,305 40,864 1,315,167
Manufacturing and Distribution

Bert A. Frost 2017 575,000 710,061 690,112 579,600 36,570 60,073 2,651,416
Senior Vice President, Sales, 2016 575,000 400,326 600,003 � 30,012 56,078 1,661,419
Market Development and Supply 2015 525,000 339,886 510,008 319,700 21,548 55,588 1,771,730
Chain

(1)
Total compensation for each of the named executive officers increased in 2017 compared to 2016 primarily as a result of the annual
incentive awards earned by the officers based on our 2017 performance and the additional RSUs granted to our named executive
officers as a supplemental performance alignment award in 2017. Additional information with respect to the annual incentive awards
for 2017 is set forth above under the heading "Compensation Discussion and Analysis�2017 Cash Compensation" and the supplemental
performance alignment awards are described above under the heading "Compensation Discussion and Analysis�2017 Long-term
Incentives."

(2)
Amounts in these two columns represent base salary and non-equity incentive plan compensation earned in 2015, 2016, and 2017
regardless of when such amounts are paid in cash.

(3)
Amounts in these two columns represent the grant date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 of the stock
option, RSU and PRSU awards that we granted to the named executive officers pursuant to our Equity and Incentive Plans. Our
assumptions with respect to the FASB ASC Topic 718 valuation of these equity awards are described in the footnotes to our audited
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017. Additional information with respect to the outstanding stock
option, RSU and PRSU awards is set forth below under the headings "Grants of Plan-based Awards" and "Outstanding Equity Awards
at Fiscal Year End." In accordance with SEC rules, the aggregate grant date fair value of the PRSUs is calculated based on the
probable outcome of the performance conditions as of the grant date, which, for the PRSU reflected in this table, was target level
performance. Therefore, values in the table for PRSU awards are computed by multiplying the number of shares of stock to be
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assuming target level performance multiplied by the grant date fair value of each PRSU ($45.37 for the awards granted in 2017). If
maximum level performance were assumed to be achieved, then the grant date fair value of each of the 2017 PRSU awards (computed
by multiplying the number of shares of stock to be delivered assuming maximum level performance multiplied by the closing price for
our stock ($30.95 per share) on the NYSE on the grant date) would have been as follows: $1,590,582 for Mr. Will; $450,075 for
Mr. Kelleher; $300,277 for Mr. Barnard; $255,338 for Mr. Bohn; and $345,216 for Mr. Frost.

(4)
Amounts in this column represent amounts that the named executive officers earned with respect to the years ended December 31,
2015, 2016, and 2017 as the result of annual incentive awards we granted to the named executive officers pursuant to our non-equity
incentive plan. Additional information with respect to these annual incentive awards for 2017 is set forth above under the heading
"Compensation Discussion and Analysis�2017 Cash Compensation" and below under the heading "Grants of Plan-based Awards."

(5)
Amounts in this column represent only the change during the particular year in the actuarial present value of the named executive
officer's accumulated pension benefits under our New Retirement Plan (a tax-qualified defined benefit pension plan) and our
Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan (a nonqualified benefits restoration and deferred compensation plan). Our assumptions with
respect to the determination of this value are described in the footnotes to our audited financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2017. For this purpose, we have also assumed retirement at age 65. Additional information with respect to our defined
benefit pension plans is set forth below under the heading "Pension Benefits."

(6)
This column does not include any above-market or preferential earnings with respect to nonqualified deferred compensation, since all
earnings were determined by a third-party plan administrator and set to equal the published total return on notional capital market
investments selected in advance by the named executive officers. Additional information with respect to the named executive officers'
nonqualified deferred compensation earnings is set forth below under the heading "Nonqualified Deferred Compensation."

(7)
Amounts in this column for 2017 represent (i) employer contributions and credits to the company 401(k) Plan (a tax-qualified defined
contribution retirement plan), which we refer to herein as our 401(k) Plan, and to our Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan,
(ii) employer-paid term life insurance premiums, and (iii) dividend equivalents on RSUs, in each case as set forth in the following
table:

Name

Employer
Contributions
and Credits to

Retirement Plans
($)

Employer-paid
Life Insurance
Premiums

($)

Dividend
Equivalents on

RSUs
($)

Total*
($)

W. Anthony Will 68,704 1,370 104,333 174,407
Dennis P. Kelleher 36,977 857 32,391 70,225
Douglas C. Barnard 31,182 727 22,383 54,292
Christopher D. Bohn 28,892 686 18,704 48,282
Bert A. Frost 33,890 789 25,394 60,073

*
For each named executive officer, excludes perquisites and other personal benefits unless the total value of all perquisites and other
personal benefits for that named executive officer is $10,000 or more.

Mr. Will received no additional compensation for service as a director. None of the named executive officers received additional
compensation for their service as a director or executive officer of TNGP.

(8)
2016 was Mr. Bohn's first year as a named executive officer.
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 Grants of Plan-based Awards

The following table shows all plan-based awards that we granted for the year ended December 31, 2017 to each of the named executive officers.
Additional information regarding these awards is set forth above under the heading "Summary Compensation Table."

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Non-equity Incentive

Plan Awards(2)

Grant
Date
Fair

Value of
Stock
and

Option
Awards(6)

($)

All
Other
Stock

Awards:
Number

of
Shares
of

Stock
or

Units(4)
(#)

All
Other
Option
Awards:
Number

of
Securities
Underlying
Options(5)

(#)

Estimated Future
Payouts

Under Equity Incentive
Plan

Awards(3)
Exercise

or
Base
Price
of

Option
Awards
($/Sh)Name

Type of
Award(1)

Grant
Date

Threshold
($)

Target
($)

Maximum
($)

Threshold
(#)

Target
(#)

Maximum
(#)

W. Anthony
Will STI 12/13/2016 776,250 1,552,500 3,000,000 � � � � � � �

PRSU 3/3/2017 � � � 11,680 23,360 51,392 � � � 1,059,843
RSU 3/3/2017 � � � � � � 60,100 � � 1,860,095
SO 3/3/2017 � � � � � � � 415,140 30.95 3,180,429

Dennis P.
Kelleher STI 12/13/2016 281,250 562,500 1,125,000 � � � � � � �

PRSU 3/3/2017 � � � 3,305 6,610 14,542 � � � 299,896
RSU 3/3/2017 � � � � � � 19,390 � � 600,121
SO 3/3/2017 � � � � � � � 117,490 30.95 900,103

Douglas C.
Barnard STI 12/13/2016 212,000 424,000 848,000 � � � � � � �

PRSU 3/3/2017 � � � 2,205 4,410 9,702 � � � 200,082
RSU 3/3/2017 � � � � � � 13,730 � � 424,944
SO 3/3/2017 � � � � � � � 78,330 30.95 600,094

Christopher
D. Bohn STI 12/13/2016 175,000 350,000 700,000 � � � � � � �

PRSU 3/3/2017 � � � 1,875 3,750 8,250 � � � 170,138
RSU 3/3/2017 � � � � � � 11,950 � � 369,853
SO 3/3/2017 � � � � � � � 66,580 30.95 510,076

Bert A. Frost STI 12/13/2016 230,000 460,000 920,000 � � � � � � �
PRSU 3/3/2017 � � � 2,535 5,070 11,154 � � � 230,026
RSU 3/3/2017 � � � � � � 15,510 � � 480,035
SO 3/3/2017 � � � � � � � 90,080 30.95 690,112

(1)
Type of Award:

STI Short-Term Incentive Plan
PRSU Performance Vesting Restricted Stock Unit
RSU Restricted Stock Unit
SO Stock Option

(2)
Messrs. Will, Kelleher, Barnard, Bohn, and Frost were assigned target award opportunities equal to 135%, 90%, 80%, 70%, and 80%
of their respective base salaries. The terms and conditions of these awards are described above under the heading "Compensation
Discussion and Analysis�2017 Cash Compensation." We recently determined the amounts that each of the named executive officers
had earned with respect to these awards, based on our corporate performance for 2017, as set forth above under the heading
"Compensation Discussion and Analysis�2017 Cash Compensation�Approval of Annual Incentive Payments for 2017" and "Summary
Compensation Table."
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(3)
The amounts in the "Threshold," "Target," and "Maximum" columns reflect the PRSU opportunity awarded during 2017. The terms
and conditions of these awards are described above under the heading "Compensation Discussion and Analysis�2017 Long-term
Incentives." As stated in that section, on the grant date, the compensation committee approved dollar-denominated PRSU awards for
the individual executive officers. After the close of business on the grant date, the dollar-denominated awards were translated into an
actual number of PRSUs using that day's closing price for our stock on the NYSE as the input to valuation formulas recommended by
our outside compensation consultant and approved in advance by the compensation committee and a Monte-Carlo simulation. As
further described in that section, these awards will vest on the third anniversary of the grant date, subject to the attainment of the
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performance goals for the performance period and subject to earlier forfeiture or accelerated vesting. The dollar value of each PRSU at
the time of grant was $45.37. The PRSUs accrue dividend equivalents during the performance and vesting period. Upon vesting,
holders of PRSUs will be paid a cash equivalent of the dividends paid on our common stock during the performance and vesting
period based on the number of shares of stock, if any, delivered upon the settlement of the PRSUs.

(4)
The amounts shown in this column represent the RSUs granted to our named executive officers in connection with setting the officers'
target compensation for 2017 and the additional RSUs granted to our named executive officers as a supplemental performance
alignment award. All of the RSUs granted in 2017 will vest and be settled in shares of common stock on the third anniversary of the
grant date, subject to earlier forfeiture or accelerated vesting. We will pay dividend equivalents in cash on the RSUs to the named
executive officers during the vesting period. The terms and conditions of these RSU awards are described above under the heading
"Compensation Discussion and Analysis�2017 Long-term Incentives."

(5)
Subject to earlier forfeiture or accelerated vesting, the options granted during 2017 will generally become exercisable in three equal
annual installments following the date of grant and will expire ten years from the date of grant. The terms and conditions of these stock
option awards are described above under the heading "Compensation Discussion and Analysis�2017 Long-term Incentives."

(6)
Amounts in this column represent the grant date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 of the stock option,
RSU and PRSU awards that we granted to the named executive officers during 2017. Our assumptions with respect to the FASB ASC
Topic 718 valuation of these equity awards are described in the footnotes to our audited financial statements as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2017.
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 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the outstanding equity awards held as of December 31, 2017 by each of the named
executive officers. Additional information with respect to the equity awards granted during 2017 is set forth above under the heading "Grants of
Plan-based Awards."

Option Awards(1) Stock Awards(2)(3)

Name

Number
of

Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)

Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)

Unexercisable

Option
Exercise
Price
($)

Option
Expiration

Date

Number of
Shares or
Units
of Stock
That

Have Not
Vested
(#)(4)

Market
Value

of Shares or
Units of
Stock

That Have
Not Vested

($)(6)

Equity
Incentive
Plan

Awards:
Number

of
Unearned
Shares,
Units

or Other
Rights
That

Have Not
Vested
(#)(5)

Equity
Incentive
Plan

Awards:
Market or
Payout
Value
of

Unearned
Shares,
Units

or Other
Rights
That

Have Not
Vested
($)(6)

W. Anthony Will 24,850 � 25.07 8/11/2018 � � � �
33,500 � 16.41 8/10/2019 � � � �
34,000 � 13.41 5/25/2020 � � � �
37,000 � 16.26 8/10/2020 � � � �
27,450 � 29.92 8/10/2021 � � � �
30,475 � 41.59 8/10/2022 � � � �
44,400 � 38.02 8/12/2023 � � � �
117,425 � 51.17 3/3/2024 � � � �
100,040 50,025 62.25 3/3/2025 15,085 641,716 � �
113,713 227,427 36.19 3/3/2026 28,180 1,198,777 12,555 534,090

� 415,140 30.95 3/3/2027 60,100 2,556,654 51,392 2,186,216
Dennis P.
Kelleher 53,550 � 34.11 8/22/2021 � � � �

30,475 � 41.59 8/10/2022 � � � �
49,950 � 38.02 8/12/2023 � � � �
56,375 � 51.17 3/3/2024 � � � �
31,440 15,725 62.25 3/3/2025 4,743 201,767 � �
31,216 62,434 36.19 3/3/2026 7,740 329,260 3,445 146,550

� 117,490 30.95 3/3/2027 19,390 824,851 14,542 618,617
Douglas C.
Barnard 23,300 � 25.07 8/11/2018 � � � �

33,500 � 16.41 8/10/2019 � � � �
34,000 � 13.41 5/25/2020 � � � �
33,000 � 16.26 8/10/2020 � � � �
20,600 � 29.92 8/10/2021 � � � �
24,400 � 41.59 8/10/2022 � � � �
36,100 � 38.02 8/12/2023 � � � �
46,975 � 51.17 3/3/2024 � � � �
21,435 10,720 62.25 3/3/2025 3,233 137,532 � �
20,066 40,134 36.19 3/3/2026 4,970 211,424 2,215 94,226

� 78,330 30.95 3/3/2027 13,730 584,074 9,702 412,723
Christopher D.
Bohn 7,500 � 18.56 10/20/2019 � � � �

10,000 � 13.41 5/25/2020 � � � �
14,000 � 16.26 8/10/2020 � � � �
6,850 � 29.92 8/10/2021 � � � �
8,125 � 41.59 8/10/2022 � � � �
13,900 � 38.02 8/12/2023 � � � �
18,800 � 51.17 3/3/2024 � � � �
18,575 9,295 62.25 3/3/2025 2,803 119,240 � �
16,723 33,447 36.19 3/3/2026 4,140 176,116 1,845 78,486
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� 66,580 30.95 3/3/2027 11,950 508,353 8,250 350,955

Bert A. Frost 23,675 � 9.73 12/11/2018 � � � �
29,500 � 16.41 8/10/2019 � � � �
49,500 � 16.26 8/10/2020 � � � �
27,450 � 29.92 8/10/2021 � � � �
30,475 � 41.59 8/10/2022 � � � �
44,400 � 38.02 8/12/2023 � � � �
61,075 � 51.17 3/3/2024 � � � �
24,295 12,150 62.25 3/3/2025 3,663 155,824 � �
22,296 44,594 36.19 3/3/2026 5,530 235,246 2,460 104,648

� 90,080 30.95 3/3/2027 15,510 659,795 11,154 474,491

(1)
The stock options were granted on the dates that are ten years prior to the option expiration dates shown in the same row of the table in
each instance. Subject to earlier forfeiture or accelerated vesting, (i) the options granted on May 25, 2010 became exercisable on the
third anniversary following the date of grant and will expire ten years from the date of grant and (ii) the other
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options shown in the table will generally become exercisable in three equal annual installments following the date of grant and will
expire ten years from the date of grant. The accelerated vesting provisions and the other terms and conditions of the option awards
granted in 2017 are described above under the heading "Compensation Discussion and Analysis�2017 Long-term Incentives."

(2)
Commencing in 2014, RSUs and PRSUs have been granted to our executive officers. The RSUs and PRSUs were granted on the same
dates as the stock options shown in the same row of the table in each instance.

(3)
The RSU and the PRSU awards will vest on the third anniversary of the grant date, subject to earlier forfeiture or accelerated vesting
and subject in the case of the PRSU awards to the attainment of the performance goals for the performance period. Until vested, the
awards may not be sold, assigned, transferred, donated, pledged, or otherwise disposed of (except by will or the laws of descent and
distribution). We will pay dividend equivalents in cash on the RSUs during the vesting period. The PRSUs accrue dividend
equivalents during the performance and vesting period. Upon vesting, holders of PRSUs will be paid a cash equivalent of the
dividends paid on our common stock during the performance and vesting period based on the number of shares of stock, if any,
delivered in settlement of the PRSUs. The accelerated vesting provisions and the other terms and conditions of the stock awards
granted in 2017 are described above under the heading "Compensation Discussion and Analysis�2017 Long-term Incentives."

(4)
Reflects RSUs awarded in 2015, 2016 and 2017 and PRSUs awarded in 2015 (for which the performance period ended at
December 31, 2017). In accordance with SEC rules, the number of PRSUs reported assumes attainment of the performance goals at
the threshold level. The performance goals actually attained were below the threshold level, and therefore no shares were delivered to
the named executive officers in settlement of the units.

(5)
Reflects PRSUs awarded in 2016 (for which the performance period ends at December 31, 2018) and 2017 (for which the performance
period ends at December 31, 2019). With respect to the units awarded in 2016, actual performance through December 31, 2017 was
below the threshold level and, in accordance with SEC rules, the number of 2016 units reported assumes achievement of the threshold
performance level. With respect to the units awarded in 2017, actual performance through December 31, 2017 was at the maximum
level and, in accordance with SEC rules, the number of 2017 units reported assumes achievement of the maximum performance level.

(6)
The value shown is based on the closing price for our stock ($42.54 per share) on the NYSE on December 29, 2017 (the last trading
day of 2017).
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 Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table sets forth certain information concerning stock option exercises by each of the named executive officers and the vesting of
RSUs held by each of the named executive officers during the year ended December 31, 2017.

Name

Number of
Shares

Acquired on
Exercise

(#)

Value
Realized

on Exercise
($)(1)

Number of
Shares

Acquired on
Vesting
(#)

Value
Realized
on Vesting

($)(2)
W. Anthony Will 43,500 899,955 9,775 302,536
Dennis P. Kelleher � � 4,700 145,465
Douglas C. Barnard � � 3,900 120,705
Christopher D. Bohn � � 1,575 48,746
Bert A. Frost 7,500 200,824 5,075 157,071

(1)
The value realized on the exercise of stock options was calculated based on the difference between the exercise price of the stock
options and (i) the sale price of underlying shares of stock that were sold immediately following exercise or (ii) if the underlying
shares of stock were held following exercise, the closing price for our stock on the NYSE on the exercise date.

(2)
The value realized on vesting of stock awards was computed by multiplying the number of shares of stock vesting by the closing price
for our stock on the NYSE on the vesting date.

 Pension Benefits

The following table sets forth certain information concerning accumulated retirement benefits as of December 31, 2017, for each of the named
executive officers.

Name Plan Name(1)

Number
of Years
Credited
Service(2)

(#)

Present
Value of

Accumulated
Benefit(2)(3)

($)

Payments
During
Last
Fiscal
Year
($)

W. Anthony Will New Retirement Plan 10.7 67,712 �
Supplemental Benefit and Deferral
Plan 10.7 170,673 �

Dennis P. Kelleher New Retirement Plan 6.3 57,638 �
Supplemental Benefit and Deferral
Plan 6.3 69,820 �

Douglas C. Barnard New Retirement Plan 14 78,285 �
Supplemental Benefit and Deferral
Plan 14 69,344 �

Christopher D. Bohn New Retirement Plan 8.3 61,697 �
Supplemental Benefit and Deferral
Plan 8.3 31,370 �

Bert A. Frost New Retirement Plan 9.1 65,484 �
Supplemental Benefit and Deferral
Plan 9.1 66,089 �

(1)
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We maintain a defined benefit pension plan named the CF Industries Holdings, Inc. Pension Plan (the "Pension Plan"). Supplement A
of the Pension Plan, which we refer to herein as the New Retirement Plan, is a tax qualified defined benefit pension plan that became
effective on January 1, 2013, under which all domestic employees (including executive officers) became eligible to participate as of
January 1, 2013, except for those employees who participate in Supplement B
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of the Pension Plan. Supplement B of the Pension Plan is our historic defined benefit pension plan, which we refer to herein as the Old
Retirement Plan and which was closed to new participants on December 31, 2003. Our named executive officers are ineligible to
participate in our Old Retirement Plan because their employment commenced after our Old Retirement Plan had been closed to new
participants. Our Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan is a nonqualified benefits restoration and deferred compensation plan.

(2)
The annual pension benefit under our New Retirement Plan assuming retirement at age 65 is equal to the actuarial equivalent of a
participant's cash balance account expressed as a single-life annuity payable monthly. The company provides an annual credit to each
participant's cash balance account equal to a percentage of the participant's eligible compensation determined based on a participant's
years of service (as set forth in the table below). Each participant's cash balance account will earn an annual return based on the greater
of (i) the annual yield on 10-year treasury nominal securities and (ii) 3% annual interest.

Completed Years of Cash Balance Service
as of the Last Day of the Plan Year for
Which the Pay Credit is Credited

Pay Credit as a Percentage of
Compensation for the Plan

Year
Fewer than 5 4%

At least 5 but fewer than 10 5%
At least 10 but fewer than 15 6%

At least 15 7%

Benefits under our New Retirement Plan are paid in a straight life annuity or qualified joint and survivor annuity for unmarried and
married participants, respectively, unless the participant has elected another form of annuity payment permitted under our New
Retirement Plan or a lump sum payment. In the event of a participant's death while an active employee, a benefit is payable to a
participant's beneficiary as a lump sum to the extent the beneficiary is not the participant's spouse and solely with respect to spousal
beneficiaries, either a lump sum or an annuity. A participant who has not reached the age of 65, but has completed three years of
vesting service may be eligible to receive a monthly retirement benefit under the New Retirement Plan.

(3)
Amounts in this column represent the actuarial present value of the named executive officers' accumulated pension benefits under our
New Retirement Plan and our Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan. Our assumptions with respect to the determination of this value
are described in the footnotes to our audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017. For this purpose, we
have also assumed retirement at age 65. Additional information with respect to the aggregate change over the past year in the actuarial
present value of the named executive officers' accumulated pension benefits under these plans is set forth above under the heading
"Summary Compensation Table."
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 Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

The following table sets forth certain information concerning nonqualified deferred compensation arrangements under our Supplemental Benefit
and Deferral Plan for each of the named executive officers with respect to fiscal year 2017.

Name

Executive
Contributions
in Last FY(1)

($)

Registrant
Contributions
in Last FY(2)

($)

Aggregate
Earnings in
Last FY(3)

($)

Aggregate
Withdrawals/
Distributions

($)

Aggregate
Balance at

Last
FYE(4)
($)

W. Anthony Will 52,800 52,800 233,114 � 833,713
Dennis P. Kelleher 21,300 21,300 48,299 � 332,565
Douglas C. Barnard 15,600 15,600 174,944 � 932,983
Christopher D. Bohn 12,692 12,692 47,574 � 338,997
Bert A. Frost 18,300 18,300 68,085 � 448,844

(1)
Under our Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan, each of the named executive officers may elect to defer (i) up to 6% of his base
salary in excess of the annual compensation limit under Section 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code and (ii) up to 100% of his
annual incentive payment. Amounts in this column represent the amounts we credited to the accounts of the named executive officers
during 2017. There is typically an administrative delay between the time when a participant defers income under the plan and the time
when we subsequently credit the participant's account. As a result of this delay, the amounts that we credited to the named executive
officers' accounts during 2017 differ slightly from the amounts that the named executive officers deferred during 2017. All amounts
included under "Executive Contributions" are also included in the "Salary" or "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation" columns of
the Summary Compensation Table on page 64.

(2)
For 2017, for each named executive officer who elects to defer any of his base salary in excess of the annual compensation limit, we
match (through further such credits to his deemed account) the portion (up to 6%) of his excess base salary that he elects to defer.
Amounts in this column represent the amounts we credited to the accounts of the named executive officers during 2017. These credits
are also reported in the "All Other Compensation" column of the Summary Compensation Table on page 64.

(3)
Under our Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan, each of the named executive officers makes notional investments of his account
balance from time to time in shares of (i) our common stock or (ii) the public mutual funds we offer to our employees as investment
alternatives under our 401(k) Plan. In order to make these notional investments, the named executive officer notifies the third-party
plan administrator of his selections. The plan administrator then tracks the published total return on the actual securities underlying the
named executive officer's notional investments, and we credit or debit the named executive officer's deemed account balance
accordingly. Since all such credits and debits are determined by a third-party plan administrator and set to equal the published total
return on notional capital market investments selected in advance by the named executive officers, none of the amounts shown in this
column are reported as above-market or preferential earnings on nonqualified deferred compensation in the Summary Compensation
Table.

(4)
In general, deferred amounts are paid out in a lump sum upon the termination of the named executive officer's employment. The
aggregate balance consists of executive contributions, company matching credits, and credits reflecting returns on the notional
investments. The following amounts of the reported aggregate balance were compensation for 2015 or 2016 and are included in the
"Salary" or "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation" columns (in the case of executive
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contributions) or the "All Other Compensation" column (in the case of company matching credits) of the Summary Compensation
Table on page 64 for those years for the named executive (except that information for Mr. Bohn is only shown for 2016, his first year
as a named executive officer):

Name

Executive
Contributions

in 2015
($)

Registrant
Contributions

in 2015
($)

Executive
Contributions

in 2016
($)

Registrant
Contributions

in 2016
($)

W. Anthony Will 43,408 43,408 52,962 52,962
Dennis P. Kelleher 40,510 18,202 21,554 21,554
Douglas C. Barnard 13,754 13,754 15,872 15,872
Christopher D. Bohn � � 53,125 13,985
Bert A. Frost 42,821 15,237 44,130 18,554
 Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

We have entered into change in control agreements with each of the named executive officers, each of which remains currently in effect. Under
the terms of the change in control agreements, the named executive officer is entitled to receive certain payments and benefits from us upon a
qualifying termination, specifically if we terminate his employment without cause (other than by reason of his death or disability) or if he resigns
because of good reason, in either case within the period of 24 months following (or in certain cases prior to) a change in control (as such terms
are defined in the agreements).

Under the change in control agreements, a named executive officer will be deemed to have good reason if we:

�
fail to pay his specified annual salary or provide certain benefits;

�
assign him duties inconsistent with his current position or substantially and adversely alter his responsibilities;

�
fail to continue any compensation plan that constitutes a material portion of his compensation; or

�
change his primary employment location by more than 35 miles.

Following a qualifying termination, the change in control agreements for each named executive officer provide for (i) a lump sum payment to
the named executive officer equal to two times (or, three times in the case of Mr. Will) the sum of his base salary and target annual incentive
payment; (ii) welfare benefit continuation for a period of two years (or three years, in the case of Mr. Will) and outplacement services for a
period of up to two years; and (iii) a pro-rata annual incentive payment for the year of termination, assuming target levels of performance or, if
higher, actual year-to-date performance.

In addition, if the named executive officer is otherwise eligible to participate in our New Retirement Plan, he will receive a cash payment equal
to the actuarial value of two additional years (or, three additional years in the case of Mr. Will) of age and service credit under the plan and will
be credited with two additional years (or, three additional years in the case of Mr. Will) of age and service credit under our Supplemental Benefit
and Deferral Plan. If the named executive officer is not fully vested in his benefits under these plans, he will also receive a cash payment equal
to his unvested benefits.

The named executive officer will also receive a cash payment equal to the contributions that we would have made on his behalf for a period of
two years (or, three years in the case of Mr. Will) under our 401(k) Plan and the related amounts that we would have credited to his account
balance under our Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan. If the named executive officer is not fully vested in his benefits under these plans, he
will also receive a cash payment equal to his unvested benefits.
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The named executive officer will not be obligated to seek other employment in mitigation of the payments and benefits to be provided, and no
such other employment will reduce our obligation to make such payments and to provide such benefits to him under the agreements.

The change in control agreements of the named executive officers, other than Messrs. Will, Kelleher and Bohn, further provide that, if any of the
payments to the named executive officer become subject to the "golden parachute" excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue
Code, the named executive officer will be entitled to receive an additional gross-up payment such that, after payment by him of all taxes,
including any excise tax imposed upon the gross-up payment, he will receive the net after-tax benefit that he would have received had the excise
tax not been imposed. For Messrs. Will, Kelleher, and Bohn, payments that would be subject to the excise tax will be reduced to the greatest
amount that he may receive without becoming subject to the excise tax, unless he would be better off on an after-tax basis (including following
application of the excise tax) receiving the full amount of such payments, in which case no such reduction will be applied.

Each of the named executive officers will be required to sign a release of claims at the time of the qualifying termination as a condition to
receiving any such payments or benefits from us under his change in control agreement.

In addition, upon a change in control (as defined in our Equity and Incentive Plans) the restrictions, limitations, and conditions applicable to
outstanding RSUs, PRSUs, stock options, and other plan-based awards will lapse, any performance goals will be deemed to be fully achieved,
and the awards will become fully vested and exercisable, which for the annual incentive payment means payment at target-level performance,
pro-rated for the portion of the year the executive officer was employed prior to the change in control, as set forth in the applicable incentive
award letter.

In December 2014, the Board adopted a policy whereby the company will not in the future enter into any new agreements with its named
executive officers that include Internal Revenue Code Section 280G excise tax "gross-up" provisions with respect to payments contingent on a
change in control of the company.

Assuming a change in control had occurred on December 31, 2017, with a transaction price equal to the closing price for our stock ($42.54 per
share) on the NYSE as of December 29, 2017 (the last trading day of 2017), each of the named executive officers would have been entitled to
receive the following estimated severance benefits upon a qualifying termination of his employment on such date:

Name

Severance
Amount(1)

($)

Defined
Benefit
Pension
Plan

Enhancement(2)
($)

Retirement
Savings
Plan

Enhancement(3)
($)

Early
Vesting of
Restricted
Stock
Units(4)

($)

Early
Vesting of
Stock

Options(5)
($)

Other
Change

in
Control
Benefits(6)

($)

Estimated
Excise
Tax
Gross
Up(7)
($)

Total
($)

W. Anthony Will 9,660,000 207,000 207,000 6,622,415 6,255,634 97,316 � 23,049,365
Dennis P.
Kelleher 2,937,500 62,500 75,000 1,981,513 1,758,165 61,812 � 6,876,490
Douglas C.
Barnard 2,332,000 � 63,600 1,344,051 1,162,696 74,742 � 4,977,089
Christopher D.
Bohn 2,050,000 55,000 60,000 1,150,494 984,051 74,852 � 4,374,397
Bert A. Frost 2,530,000 � 69,000 1,515,488 1,327,199 74,866 � 5,516,553

(1)
This amount represents a cash payment to the named executive officer equal to (i) two times (or, in the case of Mr. Will, three times)
the sum of his base salary and target annual incentive payment plus (ii) an annual incentive payment for the year of termination,
assuming target level of performance.

(2)
This amount represents a cash payment to the named executive officer equal to the contributions that we would have made on his
behalf for a period of two years (or, in the case of Mr. Will, three years), assuming each named executive officer contributed the
maximum allowable amount under our New Retirement Plan (a tax-qualified defined benefit pension plan) and the related amounts
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we would have credited to his account balance under our Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan (a nonqualified benefits restoration
and deferred compensation plan).

(3)
This amount represents a cash payment to the named executive officer equal to the contributions that we would have made on his
behalf for a period of two years (or, in the case of Mr. Will, three years), assuming each named executive officer contributed the
maximum allowable amount under our 401(k) Plan and the related amounts we would have credited to his account balance under our
Supplemental Benefit and Deferral Plan.

(4)
This amount represents the value attributable to the accelerated vesting of outstanding awards of RSUs and PRSUs held by the named
executive officer, which is deemed to equal the market value on December 31, 2017 of the RSUs and PRSUs that would otherwise
have been unvested as of such date. Payout value of PRSUs granted during 2015, 2016, and 2017 assumes target performance level.

(5)
This amount represents the value attributable to the accelerated vesting of outstanding stock option awards held by the named
executive officer, which is deemed to equal, for each stock option that would otherwise have been unvested as of such date, the
amount by which (x) the aggregate market value on December 31, 2017 of the underlying stock exceeded (y) the aggregate exercise
price of the stock option.

(6)
This amount represents the present value of the continuation of certain welfare benefits for the named executive officer for a period of
two years (or, in the case of Mr. Will, three years) and the value of outplacement services for the named executive officer for a period
of up to two years.

(7)
This amount represents an excise tax gross-up payment for the named executive officer such that, after payment by him of all taxes,
including any excise tax imposed upon the gross-up payment, he will receive the net after-tax benefit he would have received had the
excise tax not been imposed under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code.

 CEO Pay Ratio

In 2015, pursuant to a mandate of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd�Frank Act"), the SEC adopted a
rule requiring annual disclosure of the ratio of our median employee's annual total compensation to the annual total compensation of our
principal executive officer. The company's principal executive officer is Mr. Will.

Mr. Will had 2017 annual total compensation of $9,462,015, as reflected in the Summary Compensation Table included under the heading
"Executive Compensation." Our median employee's 2017 annual total compensation was $108,533. As a result, we estimate that Mr. Will's 2017
annual total compensation was approximately 87 times that of our median employee.

We identified our median employee by examining the 2017 total cash compensation (base salary and cash bonus) for all individuals, excluding
our chief executive officer, who were employed by us on December 31, 2017. We included all employees, whether employed on a full-time,
temporary or part-time basis. We did not make any assumptions, adjustments (including cost-of-living adjustments) or use any estimates with
respect to determining total cash compensation, except that we annualized the compensation for our full-time and part-time permanent
employees who were not employed by us for all of 2017. After identifying the median employee based on total cash compensation, we
calculated the annual total compensation for such employee using the same methodology we use for our named executive officers as required to
be set forth in the Summary Compensation Table included in this Proxy Statement.
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 PROPOSAL 3: RATIFICATION OF PROVISIONS OF OUR
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS GRANTING
STOCKHOLDERS THE ABILITY TO CALL SPECIAL MEETINGS
OF STOCKHOLDERS
The Board is seeking stockholder ratification of the retention of the provisions of the company's certificate of incorporation and bylaws that give
holders of record of at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the voting power of all outstanding shares of our common stock the ability, subject to
satisfaction of specified procedural requirements and limitations, to require the company to call a special meeting of stockholders (the "Special
Meeting Provisions"). The Board believes that the company's mechanism, described below, for stockholder-initiated special meetings continues
to be appropriate and in the best interests of the company and its stockholders.

Prior to our 2014 annual meeting of stockholders, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provided that a special meeting of stockholders
could be called only by the chairman of the Board, our president or the Board. At our 2014 annual meeting of stockholders, the Board
recommended that stockholders approve, and the stockholders approved, an amendment to our certificate of incorporation to grant holders of not
less than 25% of our outstanding common stock the right to call a special meeting of stockholders subject to applicable procedural requirements
and limitations (the "Special Meeting Charter Provisions"). In connection with the Special Meeting Charter Provisions, the Board approved
corresponding changes to our bylaws, which became effective upon effectiveness of the Special Meeting Charter Provisions, establishing
procedural requirements and limitations applicable to stockholder-initiated special meetings.

 Ratification of Retention of the Special Meeting Provisions

The Special Meeting Provisions comprise (1) the Special Meeting Charter Provisions, which are set forth in Article IX(B) of our certificate of
incorporation, and (2) Section 3 of Article II of our bylaws (the "Special Meeting Bylaw Provisions"), and may be summarized as follows:

�
One or more stockholders of record owning shares representing at least 25% of the outstanding shares of common stock of the
company have the ability to require the company to call a special meeting of the stockholders.

�
Stock ownership is determined under a "net long" standard to provide assurance that stockholders seeking to call a special meeting
possess both (i) full voting and investment rights pertaining to the shares and (ii) the full economic interest in (including the
opportunity for profit and risk of loss on) such shares.

�
Stockholders seeking to call a special meeting are required to submit to the company's secretary a written request in proper form and
provide information similar to the information required under the company's advance notice bylaw provisions for stockholder
proposals or nominations at annual meetings.

�
The right of stockholders to call a special meeting is subject to certain limitations designed to prevent duplicative and unnecessary
meetings by eliminating proposals that, among other things:

�
are not proper subjects for stockholder action under applicable law;

�
are received during the period beginning 90 days prior to the first anniversary of the prior annual meeting of stockholders
and ending on the date of the next annual meeting of stockholders;
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�
are substantially similar to another item, other than the election or removal of directors, that was presented at a meeting of
stockholders held within the prior 12 months;

�
are for the election or removal of directors and the election or removal of directors was presented at a meeting of
stockholders held within the prior 90 days; or

�
are substantially similar to another item that is included in our notice of meeting as an item of business to be brought before
a stockholder meeting that has been called but not yet held or that is called for a date within 120 days of the company's
receipt of the special meeting request.

The foregoing general description of the Special Meeting Provisions is qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the Special Meeting
Charter Provisions, a copy of which is included in Appendix A to this proxy statement, and the Special Meeting Bylaw Provisions, a copy of
which is included in Appendix B to this proxy statement.

 Purpose of the Special Meeting Provisions

Board Consideration of Appropriate Stockholder Special Meeting Rights. The Board has evaluated a number of different factors in adopting
and retaining the existing right of stockholders to call a special meeting, including stockholder interest in having a meaningful right to call a
special meeting, the resources required to convene a special meeting, and the opportunities stockholders otherwise have to engage with the
Board and senior management in between annual meetings.

Existing Right Takes into Account Significant Costs Associated with Special Stockholder Meetings and is Designed to Ensure that
Stockholder-Initiated Special Meeting will be Called only if Significant Portion of Stockholder Base Believes in Urgency of Holding such
Special Meeting. Organizing and preparing for a special meeting involves significant commitment of management time and attention, reducing
management's capacity to focus on other business priorities, and imposes substantial legal, administrative and distribution costs on the company.
The Board believes that special meetings should be called only to consider extraordinary matters that are of interest to a broad base of
stockholders and must be addressed before the next annual meeting. The current 25% ownership threshold is designed to strike a balance
between assuring that stockholders have a meaningful right to call a special meeting and protecting against the risk that a small minority of
stockholders with narrow or special interests could request one or more special meetings that could impose unnecessary costs on the company
and disrupt the company's business.

25% Special Meeting Ownership Threshold is Consistent with Market Practice. The existing 25% ownership threshold for our stockholders to
call special meetings is consistent with market practice among large U.S. public companies that offer stockholders the right to call a special
meeting: Of U.S.-based companies in the S&P 500 the stockholders of which are permitted to call a special meeting, approximately 67% set an
ownership threshold of 25% or greater.

 Corporate Governance Practices

The Board believes that the existing right of stockholders to call special meetings should be considered in the context of the company's overall
corporate governance. The company regularly engages with its stockholders regarding governance matters, obtaining valuable feedback that
contributes to the Board's decision-making with respect to such matters. The company has demonstrated accountability and responsiveness to the
views and concerns of stockholders by:

�
maintaining an independent chairman of the Board and separate chief executive officer;

�
declassifying the Board;

�
implementing majority voting in uncontested elections of directors;
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�
adopting a "proxy access" right for nominating directors;

�
eliminating all supermajority voting provisions from our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws;

�
adopting a policy whereby, if the Board adopts a stockholder rights plan without prior stockholder approval, the Board will submit the
stockholder rights plan to the company's stockholders for ratification, or the stockholder rights plan must expire, within one year of
such adoption; and

�
establishing stockholders' existing right to call special meetings.

The Board has also established a process to receive communications from stockholders, whereby stockholders may contact any member (or all
members) of the Board outside the annual meeting cycle. Consistent with its current practice, the Board will continue to evaluate appropriate
corporate governance measures and changes to the company's governance structure, policies and practices that it believes will serve the best
interests of the company and its stockholders.

Given the company's strong corporate governance practices and the fact that the existing right of stockholders to call special meetings is aligned
with market practices, the Board strongly recommends that stockholders ratify the existing Special Meeting Provisions.

The company has omitted from its proxy materials for the Annual Meeting a stockholder proposal to lower the ownership threshold for our
stockholders to call special meetings from 25% to 10%. As discussed above, the Board believes that the existing Special Meeting Provisions,
including the 25% ownership threshold, strike a reasonable balance between enhancing stockholder rights and protecting against the risk that a
small minority of stockholders could request one or more special meetings that could result in unnecessary financial expense and disruption to
the company's business. The Board believes that the company's existing mechanism for stockholder-initiated special meetings continues to be
appropriate and an important element of CF's strong corporate governance policies. The company believes that a vote in favor of Proposal 3 is
tantamount to a vote against a proposal to lower the ownership threshold for our stockholders to call a special meeting from 25% (as set forth in
the existing Special Meeting Provisions) to 10%.

This Proposal 3 is advisory in nature. If the Special Meeting Provisions are not ratified by our stockholders, no immediate changes will be made
to the existing Special Meeting Provisions, and our management and the Board will conduct additional stockholder engagement to ensure that
the company's corporate governance practices, including the ownership threshold for stockholders' right to call special meetings, remain aligned
with the expectations of our stockholders.

 BOARD RECOMMENDATION

The Board of Directors Unanimously Recommends that Stockholders Vote "FOR" the Proposal to Ratify the Retention of the Special
Meeting Provisions.
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 PROPOSAL 4: RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FOR 2018
The audit committee has selected KPMG as the independent registered public accounting firm to perform the audit of our financial statements
and our internal control over financial reporting for 2018. KPMG was our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended
December 31, 2017.

KPMG representatives are expected to attend the Annual Meeting. They will have an opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so and
will be available to respond to appropriate stockholder questions.

We are asking our stockholders to ratify the selection of KPMG as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2018. Although
ratification is not required by our bylaws or otherwise, the Board is submitting the selection of KPMG to our stockholders for ratification as a
matter of good corporate governance practice. Should the stockholders fail to provide such ratification, the audit committee will reconsider its
approval of KPMG as our independent registered public accountants for 2018. Even if the selection is ratified, the audit committee in its
discretion may select a different registered public accounting firm at any time during the year if it determines that such a change would be in the
best interests of CF Industries and its stockholders.

Unless otherwise instructed, we will vote all proxies we receive FOR ratifying the selection of KPMG as the company's independent registered
public accounting firm for 2018.

 BOARD RECOMMENDATION

The Board unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the proposal to ratify the selection of KPMG as our independent registered
public accounting firm for 2018.

 AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES

On behalf of CF Industries and its affiliates, the audit committee retained KPMG to audit our consolidated financial statements for 2017. In
addition, the audit committee retained KPMG, as well as other accounting firms, to provide other auditing and advisory services in 2017.

The aggregate fees for professional services provided by KPMG with respect to these various services for 2017 and 2016 were:

2017 2016
Audit fees(1) $ 3,965,000 $ 3,879,850
Audit-related fees � �
Tax fees � �
All other fees � �
​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​
Total $ 3,965,000 $ 3,879,850

(1)
Audit fees consisted principally of audit and review work performed on the consolidated financial statements, as well as work
generally only the independent registered public accounting firm can reasonably be expected to provide, such as statutory audits and
review of documents filed with the SEC.
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 PRE-APPROVAL OF AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

Consistent with SEC policies regarding auditor independence, the audit committee has responsibility for appointing, setting the compensation of,
and overseeing the work of the independent registered public accounting firm. In recognition of this responsibility, the audit committee has
established a policy to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm.

Prior to engagement of the independent registered public accounting firm for the next year's audit, management will submit a list of services and
related fees expected to be rendered during that year within each of four categories of services to the audit committee for approval.

�
Audit services include audit and review work performed on the financial statements and audit work related to internal control over
financial reporting, as well as work that generally only the independent registered public accounting firm can reasonably be expected
to provide, including statutory audits and review of documents filed with the SEC.

�
Audit-related services are for assurance and related services that are traditionally performed by the independent registered public
accounting firm, including due diligence related to mergers and acquisitions, employee benefit plan audits, and consultation regarding
financial accounting and reporting standards.

�
Tax services include all services, except those services specifically related to the audit of the financial statements, performed by the
independent registered public accounting firm's tax personnel, including tax compliance, tax planning, and other tax advice.

�
All other services are those services not captured in the audit, audit-related, or tax categories. The company generally doesn't request
such services from the independent registered public accounting firm.

Prior to engagement, the audit committee pre-approves independent registered public accounting firm services within each category. The fees
are budgeted and the audit committee requires the independent registered public accounting firm and management to report actual fees versus
the budget periodically throughout the year by category of service. During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to
engage the independent registered public accounting firm for additional services not contemplated in the original pre-approval categories. In
those instances, the audit committee requires specific pre-approval before engaging the independent registered public accounting firm.

The audit committee has delegated specific pre-approval authority to the chair of the audit committee provided that the estimated fee for any
such engagement does not exceed $100,000. The chair of the audit committee must report, for informational purposes only, any pre-approval
decisions to the audit committee at its next scheduled meeting.

 AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE

We understand the need for KPMG to maintain objectivity and independence in its audit of our financial statements and our internal control over
financial reporting. To minimize relationships that could appear to impair the objectivity of KPMG, our audit committee has restricted the
non-audit services that KPMG may provide to us primarily to audit-related services and tax services. The committee also has determined that we
will only obtain these non-audit services from KPMG when the services offered by KPMG are more effective or economical than services
available from other service providers, and, to the extent possible, only after competitive bidding. It is the audit committee's goal that the fees we
pay KPMG for non-audit services should not exceed the audit fees paid to KPMG.

Our audit committee has adopted restrictions on our hiring of any KPMG partner, director, manager, staff, advising member of the department of
professional practice, reviewing actuary, reviewing tax professional, and any other persons having responsibility for providing audit assurance
on any aspect of their certification of our financial statements.
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 AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
The audit committee is responsible for monitoring the integrity of our consolidated financial statements, our system of internal controls, and the
independence and performance of our internal and independent auditors. The audit committee is also responsible for the selection, evaluation,
and oversight of our independent auditors. The audit committee is composed of six non-employee directors and operates under a written charter
adopted by the Board. Each member of the audit committee is independent within the meaning of the rules of the corporate governance
standards of the NYSE applicable to audit committee members.

Management is responsible for the financial reporting process, including establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, and for the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. KPMG, our
independent auditor, is responsible for auditing the financial statements. The audit committee's responsibility is to monitor and review these
processes. The audit committee relies on the accuracy and completeness of the information provided to it and on the representations made by
management and KPMG.

During 2017, the audit committee held nine meetings and met in executive session at each of the five meetings that were held in person and at
one of the telephonic meetings. The audit committee reviewed and discussed with management and KPMG the audited consolidated financial
statements of CF Industries for the year ended December 31, 2017 and KPMG's evaluation of the company's internal control over financial
reporting. The audit committee also discussed with KPMG the matters that are required to be discussed by Auditing Standard No. 1301,
"Communications with Audit Committees," issued by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and Rule 2-07 of Regulation S-X under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. In addition, the audit committee received the written disclosures and the letter from KPMG required by
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent auditor's communications with the audit committee concerning
independence, and the audit committee discussed with KPMG that firm's independence. The audit committee also considered whether the
provision of non-audit services by KPMG was compatible with maintaining its independence.

Based on its review and the foregoing meetings, discussions, and reports, and subject to the limitations on its role and responsibilities referred to
above and in the audit committee charter, the audit committee recommended to the Board that the audited consolidated financial statements of
CF Industries for the year ended December 31, 2017, as audited by KPMG, be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for filing with the
SEC. The audit committee selected KPMG as our independent auditor for 2018 and recommended to the Board that the Board seek stockholder
ratification of the selection of KPMG.

Theresa E. Wagler (Chair)
Robert C. Arzbaecher
William Davisson
John W. Eaves
Stephen J. Hagge
Robert G. Kuhbach
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 ANNUAL MEETING INFORMATION
 QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING

 Why did I receive these proxy materials?

We are providing these proxy materials in connection with the solicitation by the board of directors of CF Industries Holdings, Inc. of proxies to
be voted at our 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and at any adjournment or postponement of such meeting.

You are invited to attend the Annual Meeting on Thursday, May 10, 2018, commencing at 10:00 a.m., local time. The Annual Meeting will be
held adjacent to our corporate headquarters at 3 Parkway North, Deerfield, Illinois 60015.

 Why did I receive a one-page notice in the mail regarding the Internet availability of proxy materials instead of a full set of proxy
materials?

Pursuant to rules adopted by the SEC, the company has elected to provide access to its proxy materials via the Internet. Accordingly, the
company is sending a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials to the company's stockholders. All stockholders will have the ability to
access the proxy materials on the website referred to in the notice or request a printed set of the proxy materials. Instructions on how to access
the proxy materials over the Internet or to request a printed copy may be found in the notice. In addition, stockholders may request proxy
materials in printed form by mail or electronically by email on an ongoing basis. The company encourages stockholders to take advantage of the
availability of the proxy materials on the Internet to help reduce the expenses incurred by the company with respect to its annual meetings.

 How can I get electronic access to the proxy materials?

The Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials will provide you with instructions regarding how to:

�
view on the Internet the company's proxy materials for the Annual Meeting; and

�
instruct the company to send future proxy materials to you by email.

Choosing to receive future proxy materials by email will save the company the cost of printing and mailing documents to you. If you choose to
receive future proxy materials by email, you will receive an email message next year with instructions containing a link to those materials and a
link to the proxy voting website. Your election to receive proxy materials by email will remain in effect until you terminate it.

 What will be voted on at the Annual Meeting?

At the Annual Meeting, stockholders will be asked to:

�
elect as directors the ten nominees named in this Proxy Statement;

�
consider and approve an advisory resolution regarding the compensation of our named executive officers;

�
ratify provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws granting stockholders the ability to call special meetings of
stockholders;

�
ratify the selection of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2018; and
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�
consider any other business properly brought before the Annual Meeting.

 How many votes do I have?

You will have one vote for every share of CF Industries common stock you owned on March 19, 2018 (the record date). If you were a
stockholder of record as of the record date, you will retain your right to vote, even if you sell your shares after the record date.

 How many votes can be cast by all stockholders?

The total number of votes that can be cast by all stockholders is 233,358,918, consisting of one vote for each share of common stock that was
outstanding on the record date. There is no cumulative voting.

 How many votes must be present to hold the Annual Meeting?

A majority of the votes that can be cast must be present for us to hold the Annual Meeting. We urge you to vote by proxy even if you plan to
attend the Annual Meeting, so that we will know as soon as possible that enough votes will be present.

 How do I vote?

You can vote either in person at the Annual Meeting or by proxy, whether or not you attend the Annual Meeting.

To vote by proxy, you must either:

�
if you request printed copies of the proxy materials, fill out the proxy card, date and sign it, and return it in the postage-paid envelope
included with the printed materials;

�
use the Internet site listed on the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials and proxy card; or

�
call the toll-free telephone number listed on the proxy card.

The telephone and Internet voting procedures set forth on the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials and proxy card are designed to
authenticate stockholders' identities, to allow stockholders to provide their voting instructions, and to confirm that their instructions have been
properly recorded. If you vote by telephone or through the Internet, you should not return your proxy card.

To ensure that your vote is counted, please remember to submit your vote so that we receive it at least one business day prior to the Thursday,
May 10, 2018 Annual Meeting.

If you hold your CF Industries common stock in "street name" with a bank, brokerage firm, dealer, trust company, or other nominee, only they
can exercise your right to vote with respect to your shares. Please follow the instructions provided to you by your bank, brokerage firm, dealer,
trust company, or other nominee to authorize a proxy to vote your shares. If you want to vote in person at the Annual Meeting and you hold your
stock in street name, you must obtain a "legal" proxy from your broker and bring that proxy to the Annual Meeting.

 Can I change my vote?

Yes. You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at the annual meeting by either:

�
sending a new proxy card with a later date;

�
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sending a written notice of revocation to our corporate secretary at the address on the Notice of Annual Meeting accompanying this
Proxy Statement;
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�
voting by telephone or through the Internet at a later date; or

�
attending the Annual Meeting, requesting that your previously submitted proxy not be used, and voting in person.

 What if I don't specify how my shares are to be voted?

Whether you vote by mail, telephone, or the Internet, your shares will be voted in accordance with your instructions. If you return a signed proxy
card without indicating your vote or when voting on the Internet or by telephone you indicate that you wish to vote as recommended by the
Board, your shares will be voted:

�
FOR the election of the ten director nominees named in this Proxy Statement,

�
FOR the advisory resolution on the compensation of our named executive officers,

�
FOR ratification of the provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws granting stockholders the ability to call special
meetings of stockholders, and

�
FOR ratification of the selection of KPMG as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2018.

 How many votes are required to elect directors and to adopt the other proposals?

With respect to Proposal 1, directors receiving a majority of votes cast (number of shares voted "for" a director must exceed the number of
shares voted "against" that director) will be elected as a director.

For each of Proposals 2, 3, and 4 and any other matter (other than Proposal 1) properly brought before the meeting, an affirmative vote of a
majority of shares present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote thereon is required in order to approve
such proposal.

 Can my shares be voted if I don't vote by proxy and don't attend the Annual Meeting?

If you are a stockholder of record, you can vote by proxy or by attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person. If you don't vote your shares
held in street name, your broker can vote your shares on the ratification of the selection of KPMG as our independent registered public
accounting firm. Your broker is not permitted to vote your shares on the election of the director nominees or any other matter on the agenda,
other than the ratification of the selection of KPMG as our independent registered public accounting firm, without receiving instructions from
you. This is referred to as a "broker non-vote." If you hold your shares in your own name, you must vote such shares in person or by proxy or
they will not be voted.

 How are my votes counted?

With respect to Proposal 1, you may either vote for or against or you may abstain with respect to the election of each nominee for the Board. If
you abstain with respect to any nominee, your shares will be counted for purposes of establishing a quorum, but will not be counted as votes cast
with respect to the election of such nominee and, accordingly, will have no effect on the election of that nominee.

For each of Proposals 2, 3, and 4, you may vote for or against or you may abstain on the approval of the applicable proposal. If you abstain from
voting on any of these proposals, your shares will be counted as present for purposes of establishing a quorum, and the abstention will have the
same effect as a vote against that proposal.

Broker non-votes on any matter will be counted for purposes of establishing a quorum. Broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of
the voting on Proposals 1, 2, 3, and 4.
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 Could other matters be decided at the Annual Meeting?

We don't know of any other matters that will be considered at the Annual Meeting. If any other matters arise at the Annual Meeting, the proxies
will be voted at the discretion of the persons named in the proxy.

 What happens if the Annual Meeting is postponed, adjourned, or delayed?

Your proxy will still be good and may be voted at the postponed, adjourned or delayed meeting. You will still be able to change or revoke your
proxy until it is voted.

 What procedures must I follow to attend the Annual Meeting?

You will need proof of ownership of CF Industries stock to enter the Annual Meeting. When you arrive at the Annual Meeting, you may be
asked to present photo identification, such as a driver's license. This will suffice if you hold your shares in your own name. If you hold your
stock through a securities broker (that is, in street name), a recent brokerage statement or letter from your broker is an example of proof that you
are the beneficial owner of such shares. No large bags, briefcases, or packages will be permitted in the Annual Meeting and stockholders will not
be permitted to use any cameras (including cell phones with photographic capabilities), recording equipment or electronic devices at the
meeting.

 IMPORTANT ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

 Cost of Annual Meeting and Proxy Solicitation

We pay the cost of the Annual Meeting and the cost of soliciting proxies. In addition to soliciting proxies by mail, we may solicit proxies by
personal interview, telephone, and similar means. None of our directors, officers, and employees will be specially compensated for these
activities. We also intend to request that brokers, banks, and other nominees solicit proxies from their principals, and we will reimburse the
brokers, banks, and other nominees for certain expenses they incur for such activities.

We have also retained Innisfree M&A Incorporated ("Innisfree") for consulting and solicitation services in connection with the Annual Meeting,
for which Innisfree is anticipated to receive a fee of approximately $25,000. We have also agreed to reimburse Innisfree for out-of-pocket
expenses and to indemnify Innisfree against certain liabilities and expenses, including legal fees and related charges.

 Available Information

CF Industries makes available free of charge on or through the Investor Relations section of its website, www.cfindustries.com, its Annual
Reports to Shareholders, Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Proxy Statements and
forms of proxy and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is filed electronically with, or furnished
to, the SEC. The SEC also maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information
regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

CF Industries will provide, without charge to any stockholder upon written request to our corporate secretary at the address on the Notice of
Annual Meeting accompanying this Proxy Statement, a copy of its Annual Reports to Shareholders, Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Proxy Statements and forms of proxy and all amendments to those reports.
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 DEADLINES FOR SUBMISSION OF FUTURE STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS, STOCKHOLDER NOMINATED DIRECTOR
CANDIDATES AND OTHER BUSINESS OF STOCKHOLDERS

 Proposals to be Considered for Inclusion in CF Industries' Proxy Materials

Under SEC rules, a stockholder who intends to present a proposal at the 2019 annual meeting of stockholders and who wishes the proposal to be
included in our proxy statement for that meeting pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act must submit the proposal in writing to our
corporate secretary at the address on the Notice of Annual Meeting accompanying this Proxy Statement. The proposal must be received no later
than November 29, 2018 (120 days before March 29, 2019, the one year anniversary of the anticipated mailing date of this Proxy Statement).

 Director Nominations for Inclusion in CF Industries' Proxy Materials (Proxy Access)

Under the proxy access provisions of our bylaws, certain stockholders and/or stockholder groups will be permitted to include stockholder
nominated director candidates in our proxy materials for the 2019 annual meeting of stockholders. Requests pursuant to such proxy access
provisions to include stockholder nominated director candidates in our proxy materials for an annual meeting in 2019 must be delivered to, or
mailed to and received by, our corporate secretary at the address on the Notice of Annual Meeting accompanying this Proxy Statement no earlier
than October 30, 2018 (150 days before March 29, 2019, the one year anniversary of the anticipated mailing date of this Proxy Statement) and
no later than November 29, 2018 (120 days before March 29, 2019, the one year anniversary of the anticipated mailing date of this Proxy
Statement). See the discussion in Proposal 1 under the heading "Proxy Access" and refer to our bylaws for details about the process to include
stockholder nominated director candidates in our proxy materials.

 Other Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations (Advance Notice Provisions)

Our bylaws require that written notice of (i) proposals intended to be presented by a stockholder at the next annual meeting, but that are not
intended for inclusion in our proxy statement for that meeting pursuant to Rule 14a-8, and (ii) nominees for the election of directors intended to
be made by a stockholder at the next annual meeting be delivered to our corporate secretary at the address on the Notice of Annual Meeting
accompanying this Proxy Statement no earlier than January 10, 2019 and no later than February 9, 2019. Such advance notice deadline will also
be the deadline for "timely" proposals made in accordance with Rule 14a-4(c) under the Exchange Act. To be in proper written form, such a
notice must set forth the information prescribed in our bylaws. You can obtain a copy of our bylaws by writing our corporate secretary at the
address on the Notice of Annual Meeting accompanying this Proxy Statement.
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 OTHER MATTERS
The Board of Directors knows of no other business to be presented at the 2018 Annual Meeting. If, however, any other business should properly
come before the meeting, or any adjournment thereof, the proxies will be voted at the discretion of the persons named in the proxy.

By order of the board of directors,

Douglas C. Barnard
Senior Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary
March 29, 2018
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 Appendix A

 CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

NON-GAAP DISCLOSURE ITEMS

Reconciliation of cost of sales and cost of sales per ton (GAAP measures) to controllable cost of sales and controllable cost of sales per
ton (non-GAAP measures), as applicable:

Controllable cost of sales is defined as cost of sales adjusted for natural gas costs, realized and unrealized losses (gains) on natural gas
derivatives, and depreciation and amortization. The company has presented controllable cost of sales and controllable cost of sales per ton
because management uses these measures, and believes they are useful to investors, as supplemental financial measures in the comparison of
year-over-year performance.

Year ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
(in millions)

Cost of sales $ 3,700 $ 2,845 $ 2,761
Natural gas costs(1) 1,194 761 746
Realized net losses on natural gas derivatives(2) 26 133 70
Unrealized net mark-to-market loss (gain) on natural gas derivatives 61 (260) 176
Depreciation and amortization 836 597 433
Expansion project start-up costs � 52 �
​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​​​ ​ ​
Total adjustments 2,117 1,283 1,425
​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​​​ ​ ​
Controllable cost of sales $ 1,583 $ 1,562 $ 1,336
​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​
​ ​ ​ ​​​ ​​​ ​​
​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​
Tons of product sold (000s) 19,952 16,957 13,718

Cost of sales per ton $ 185.45 $ 167.78 $ 201.27
Decrease in cost of sales per ton (8)%
Controllable cost of sales per ton $ 79.34 $ 92.12 $ 97.39
Decrease in controllable cost of sales per ton (19)%

(1)
Includes the cost of natural gas that is included in cost of sales during the period under the first-in, first-out inventory cost method.

(2)
Includes realized gains and losses on natural gas derivatives settled during the period. Excludes unrealized mark-to-market gains and
losses on natural gas derivatives.

A-1
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Reconciliation of capital expenditures and capital expenditures per ton (GAAP measures) to on-going capital expenditures and on-going
capital expenditures per ton (non-GAAP measures), as applicable:

On-going maintenance capital expenditures are defined as capital expenditures adjusted for amounts related to capacity expansion projects, our
disposed phosphate business, and improvement projects. The company has presented on-going maintenance capital expenditures and on-going
maintenance capital expenditures per ton because management uses these measures, and believes they are useful to investors, as supplemental
financial measures in the comparison of year-over-year performance.

Year ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
(in millions)

Capital Expenditures $ 473 $ 2,211 $ 2,469 $ 1,809 $ 824
Capacity expansion project 110 1,599 1,796 1,317 356
Phosphate segment capital expenditures � � � 15 59
Improvement projects 50 60 101 49 93
​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​​​ ​ ​​ ​​
On-going maintenance capital expenditures $ 313 $ 552 $ 572 $ 428 $ 316
​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​​​ ​ ​​ ​​
​ ​ ​ ​​​ ​​​ ​​​ ​​​ ​​
​ ​ ​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​​ ​ ​
Tons of nitrogen products sold (000s) 19,952 16,957 13,718 13,276 12,945
Tons of phosphate products sold (000s) � � � 487 1,857

Capital expenditures per nitrogen sales ton $ 23.71 $ 130.39 $ 179.98 $ 136.26 $ 63.65
Increase (decrease) in capital expenditures per nitrogen sales ton (63)%
On-going maintenance capital expenditures per nitrogen sales ton $ 15.69 $ 32.55 $ 41.70 $ 32.24 $ 24.41
Increase (decrease) in on-going maintenance capital expenditures
per nitrogen sales ton (36)%

A-2
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VOTE BY INTERNET - www.proxyvote.com Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information up until 11:59 p.m.
Eastern Time on May 9, 2018. Have your proxy card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an
electronic voting instruction form. CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC. 4 PARKWAY NORTH, SUITE 400 DEERFIELD, IL 60015-2590 ELECTRONIC

DELIVERY OF FUTURE PROXY MATERIALS If you would like to reduce the costs incurred by our company in mailing proxy materials, you can consent to
receiving all future proxy statements, proxy cards and annual reports electronically via e-mail or the Internet. To sign up for electronic delivery, please follow the
instructions above to vote using the Internet and, when prompted, indicate that you agree to receive or access proxy materials electronically in future years. VOTE
BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903 Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting instructions up until 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on May 9, 2018. Have your
proxy card in hand when you call and then follow the instructions. VOTE BY MAIL Mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid

envelope we have provided or return it to Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY 11717. TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN
BLUE OR BLACK INK AS FOLLOWS: E41615-P04246 KEEP THIS PORTION FOR YOUR RECORDS DETACH AND RETURN THIS PORTION ONLY
THIS PROXY CARD IS VALID ONLY WHEN SIGNED AND DATED. CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC. The Board of Directors recommends you vote
FOR the following: 1. Election of Directors Nominees: For Against Abstain ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! 1a. Robert C. Arzbaecher The Board of
Directors recommends you vote FOR proposals 2, 3 and 4. For Against Abstain 1b. William Davisson ! ! ! 2. Approval of an advisory resolution regarding the
compensation of CF Industries Holdings, Inc.'s named executive officers. 1c. John W. Eaves 1d. Stephen A. Furbacher 3. Ratification of the provisions of CF
Industries Holdings, Inc.'s certificate of incorporation and bylaws granting stockholders the ability to call special meetings of stockholders. ! ! ! 1e. Stephen J.
Hagge 1f. John D. Johnson ! ! ! 1g. Anne P. Noonan 4. R at i f i c at i o n o f t h e s e l ec t i o n o f K P MG L L P a s CF Industries Holdings, Inc.'s independent
registered public accounting firm for 2018. 1h. Michael J. Toelle NOTE: Such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment

thereof. 1i. Theresa E. Wagler 1j. W. Anthony Will ! For address changes and/or comments, please check this box and write them on the back where indicated.
Please sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s) hereon. When signing as attorney, executor, administrator, or other fiduciary, please give full title as such. Joint

owners should each sign personally. All holders must sign. If a corporation or partnership, please sign in full corporate or partnership name by authorized officer.
Signature [PLEASE SIGN WITHIN BOX] Date Signature (Joint Owners) Date
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Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting: The Notice and Proxy Statement and Annual Report with Form 10-K are
available at www.proxyvote.com. E41616-P04246 CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC. Annual Meeting of Stockholders May 10, 2018 10:00 a.m. This proxy is
solicited by the Board of Directors The undersigned hereby constitutes and appoints Douglas C. Barnard and Dennis P. Kelleher, and each of them, as proxies,

each with the power of substitution, and hereby authorizes each of them to represent and vote, as designated on the reverse side of this proxy card, all the shares of
common stock of CF Industries Holdings, Inc., registered in the name of the undersigned, as of March 19, 2018, at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of CF
Industries Holdings, Inc., to be held May 10, 2018, at 10:00 a.m., local time, adjacent to CF Industries Corporate Headquarters at 3 Parkway North, Deerfield,
Illinois 60015, and any and all adjournments or postponements of that meeting. Receipt of the Notice of 2018 Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement is hereby
acknowledged. This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner directed herein. If no such direction is made, this proxy will be voted FOR all
nominees listed in proposal 1 and FOR proposals 2, 3 and 4. (If you noted any Address Changes/Comments above, please mark corresponding box on the reverse

side.) Continued and to be signed on reverse side Address Changes/Comments:
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